A TRANSCENDENTAL PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY OF THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF EDUCATORS AND SERVICE PROVIDERS IN THE IDENTIFICATION PROCESS OF MINORITY STUDENTS FOR SPECIAL EDUCATION IN EAST TENNESSEE ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS

by

Paula Lovegrove Jones

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfilment
of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA
2024

APPROVED BY:

Vonda Beavers, Ed.D., Dissertation Chair Rebecca Dilling, Committee Member

Abstract

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of educators and service providers in identifying minority students in special education in Tennessee elementary schools. The theory guiding this study was Vygotsky's sociocultural theory. This theory emphasizes cultural tools and their functions in understanding a different culture. It also provides a framework for researchers to investigate how education links individuals to their culture. The study's sample consisted of ten participants, including general education teachers of core content areas, school psychologists, speech-language pathologists, and ELL teachers from three elementary schools in Tennessee. I used the triangulated research strategy to collect data through interviews, focus group interviews, and letter writing. I used content analysis to interpret participants' lived experiences of the unique education process for minority students and the transcendental phenomenological design to study data. I used the techniques of epoché, coding, horizonalization, clustering data into themes, textural description, and synthesis to ensure that every statement had equal value. Composite descriptions were derived from the textural and structural descriptions from the analysis to synthesize data. The results of this research study increased understanding of educators' experiences with referral and assessment of minority students for special education. The two primary findings of this study revealed that educators want special education referrals, assessments, and eligibility decisions to be unbiased, and they desire additional training on making special education decisions for minority students. This research study supported existing literature claiming inconsistency in the referral and assessment practices for minority students considered for special education.

Keywords: Disproportionality, Overrepresentation, Misidentification, Assessment Specialists, Sociocultural Theory

Copyright Page

Copyright 2024, Paula Jones

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation in memory of my father, Roger Lovegrove. He was the first to teach me how to set and pursue goals. This journey was always with him in mind. To my husband, who sacrificed time and energy to ensure I always had what I needed throughout this process and always showed me unconditional love and support. To my daughter Ella, who has been a constant cheerleader and who has always been understanding when I had to give my time to write. To my mother, who has shared my excitement for completing this degree and has prayed many prayers on my behalf. Finally, to my circle of friends, who are my extended family, thank you for always cheering me on and encouraging me.

Acknowledgments

I want to thank my dissertation chairperson, Dr. Vonda S. Beavers, for her guidance, encouragement, and kindness throughout the dissertation process. I also want to thank my dissertation committee member, Dr. Rebecca Dilling, for her advice and support.

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Copyright Page	3
Dedication	4
Acknowledgments	5
List of Tables	9
List of Abbreviations	10
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	11
Background	11
Historical Context	12
Social Context	13
Theoretical Context	
Problem Statement	16
Purpose Statement	17
Significance of the Study	17
Research Questions	18
Central Research Question One	19
Sub-Question One	19
Sub-Question Two	19
Sub-Question Three	19
Definitions	19
Summary	20
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	22

Overview	22
Theoretical Framework	22
Chapter Three: Methods	59
Overview	59
Research Design	59
Central Research Question	60
Sub-Question One	60
Sub-Question Two	60
Sub-Question Three	60
Setting and Participants	61
Site	61
Participants	61
Researcher Positionality	62
Interpretive Framework	62
Philosophical Assumptions	62
Procedures	65
Data Synthesis	74
Trustworthiness	75
Ethical Considerations	77
Summary	78
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS	79
Overview	79
Participants	79

Results	85
Overview	
Discussion	
Summary of Thematic Findings	
Interpretation of Findings	
Implications for Policy or Practice	
Implications for Practice	
Theoretical Implications	116
Limitations and Delimitations	
Recommendations for Future Research	
Conclusion	
References	
Appendices: Appendix A	
Appendix B: Permission Request Letter	
Appendix C: Response Template	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Appendix D: Recruitment Letter	
Appendix E: Information Sheet	
Appendix F: Individual Interview Questions	
Appendix G: Focus Group Questions	179
Appendix H: Letter Writing Prompt	
Appendix I: Audit Trail Form	

List of Tables

Table 1. Open-Ended Interview Questions	70
Table 2. Open-Ended Focus Group Questions	73
Table 3. Participant Demographics	85
Table 4. Theme Development	94

List of Abbreviations

Center of Minority Research in Special Education (COMPRISE)

Culturally and Linguistically Responsive (CLR)

English Learners (ELs)

Individuals with Disabilities Act (IDEA)

Linking Academic Scholars to Educational Resources (LASER)

National Center for Education Statistics (NCES)

National Center for Culturally Responsive Educational Systems (NCCRES)

National Institute for Urban School Improvement (NIUSU)

Nonword Repetition Tasks (NWRT)

Speech-Language Pathologist (SLP)

Special Education (SPED)

Student Support Team (S-Team)

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Overview

Teacher perceptions of students with disabilities and statistical discrepancies among teacher-student demographics influence classroom instruction and special education referrals (Green & Stormont, (2018). Research has not identified the exact factors that have led to minority overrepresentation, but it has revealed some of the most frequently identified reasons (Green et al., 2020). For example, the overrepresentation of black students receiving special education may be due to a lack of cultural understanding and biased perceptions of teachers, inadequate instructional practices, unequal access to educational opportunities, and discriminatory policies influenced by socioeconomic status (Green et al., 2020). The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of educators and related staff in the identification processes of minority students to special education in Tennessee elementary schools. This chapter includes background information, an explanation of the research problem, the purpose statement, the significance of the study, research questions, definitions, and a summary.

Background

Demographic shifts in U.S. schools continue to occur each year, impacting the number of racial minorities in special education for the past 40 years (Kramarczuk et al., 2017). Evidence supports Hispanic and Black students, for example, are particularly overrepresented in special education, and students coming from lower socioeconomic backgrounds make up 60-80% of students with eligibility for special education (Farkas et al., 2020; Guiberson, 2009).

The issue of minority overrepresentation in special education has led to attempts to identify why these disparities are occurring. Efforts by the U.S. Department of Education (DOE),

the Office of Special Education and Rehabilitation Services, and the Office of Special Education are programs that help determine the cause of overrepresentation (Morgan et al., 2023). Some conclude that minority overrepresentation results from misidentification based on race or ethnicity (Morgan et al., 2023). Racial and cultural-based decisions have the potential to impact not only students but also communities (Cruze et al., 2018).

Teachers and assessment specialists accommodate students from diverse backgrounds in their respective roles with the instruction and assessment processes. However, it remains unclear how prepared educators are when considering minority students for special education. In addition, educators struggle to ensure the curriculum is culturally and linguistically responsive (Goodwin, 2017). Minority overrepresentation in special education examines historical, social, and theoretical contexts.

Historical Context

Racial segregation traces back many decades, but the pinnacle of debate over educational inequality occurred in the 1960s (Isenberg et al., 2022). In 1968, a report produced by the National Advisory Commission on Civil Disorders created ideas to adopt a binary American model dividing Black and White citizens, which eventually resulted in minority students not having the same access to education as their non-minority peers (Anderson, 2017; National Advisory Commission on Civil Disorders, 1968).

Although U.S. schools no longer segregate, integrating immigrant students and representing multicultural and ethnic groups in schools brings about new equality concerns. The Immigration Act of 1924, which limited the number of immigrants from specific ethnic groups, was later eradicated by the 1965 Immigration and Nationality Act (Goodwin, 2017). Unlimited immigration led to an increase in diversity represented in U.S. communities and schools.

The most significant immigration in U.S. history occurred at the beginning of the 20th century, bringing immigrants from various countries with many cultural and linguistic backgrounds (Goodwin, 2017). The Hispanic population is reported to be the most significant and fastest-growing group in the U.S., according to data from the 2007 U.S. Census Bureau (Guiberson, 2009). The increasing diversity represented in schools is particularly interesting to special education. According to Dunn's (1968) study, minorities represented 60-80% of students in a unique education program. Although the U.S. Department of Education, as well as the Office of Civil Rights, have made efforts to correct the issue, representation discrepancies persist in the form of disproportionality, overrepresentation, and misidentification (Gage et al., 2021; U.S. Department of Education, 2016; Guiberson, 2009).

Social Context

The past three decades show demographic shifts in the U.S., with significant changes within the White, Black, and Hispanic populations, particularly between 1980 and 2008, resulting in social and educational attempts to improve policy and practice (Voulgarides et al., 2017). However, despite current courses designed to address the diverse needs of minority students, research continues to reveal inadequate representations (Elder, Figlio, Imberman, & Persico, 2021; Sinclair et al., 2018). In addition, a lack of training exists in placing diverse students in special education despite teacher preparation programs, including special education and culturally diverse issues (Hutchison, 2018).

To address the disproportionality of minority students in special education, the U.S.

Department of Education's "Equity" rule within the Individuals with Disabilities Act (IDEA)

details federal monitoring requirements, including the use of a standard formula (Morgan et al.,

2018). While these measures aim to decrease disproportionality, there is a continued

overrepresentation of minority students in special education. Despite the need for culturally supportive classrooms that support diverse students with various backgrounds, research shows that educators may be relying on an evidence base that is not relevant to the populations they are serving (Barrio, 2021; Horton & Munoz, 2021; Sinclair et al., 2018). In addition, while preservice teacher programs are beginning to address teachers' responsibilities in instructing English Language Learners (ELLs), this does not address concerns regarding in-service teachers' confidence and comfort levels or those responsible for eligibility determination (Wissink & Starks, 2019).

Several factors in research identify possible causes of the overrepresentation of minority students, including variables related to social demographics, general education, related resource inequity, and unique education processes (Kirksey, 2022; Yammine & Lowenhaupt, 2021; Othman, 2018). Other factors that influence attitudes toward minority students in education include race, gender, language status (Voulgarides, 2017), inappropriate identification procedures, explicit or implicit bias toward English learners, and limited assessment resources for language minority students (Unmansky et al., 2017).

Literature reveals that negative attitudes or unfamiliarity with minority cultures from community leaders, teachers, and peers can cause lasting effects on students (Jaffe-Walter & Miranda, 2020). Negative attitude is of particular concern in special education, given that a student's cultural background and linguistic identity are often misunderstood and interrupted as a problem requiring individual interventions (students (Jaffe-Walter & Miranda, 2020).

Misconceptions from teachers, service providers, and assessment specialists not only cause potential disparity among minorities but can also impact how students view themselves (Unmansky et al., 2017). For example, understanding teachers' attitudes toward minority

students, identifying measures taken to ensure classrooms are culturally inclusive, and researching criteria assessment specialists use to distinguish disability from cultural or linguistic differences can contribute to the disruption in minority overrepresentation.

Theoretical Context

Vygotsky's (1936) sociocultural theory provides a framework for researchers to investigate how education links individuals to their culture (Alkhudiry, 2022; Panhwar et al., 2016). Sociocultural theory emphasizes cultural tools and their functions in understanding different cultures. It states that children learn through the connections between their culture and environment (Azadi et al., 2018; Subero et al., 2018). Second language learners rely on scaffolding, where an educator or peer facilitates new experiences for a new learner to help them internalize further information (Alkhudiry, 2022; Castrillon, 2017). This theory guides educators in instructing, referring, and assessing diverse students by emphasizing their specific cultural interactions (Kim et al., 2015). The concepts of sociocultural theory, when put into practice, have guided educators for several years, leading to the success of many EL students (Alkhudiry, 2022; Azadi et al., 2018; Castrillon, 2017). Scaffolding, building on previous knowledge, creating non-threatening environments, and providing practice opportunities are successful classroom techniques for EL students (Eun, 2019; Castrillon, 2017; Beverly & Michele, 2015; Jarvis & Krashen, 2014).

Through the sociocultural theory framework, this study explained educators' experiences in teaching and assessing students from diverse languages and cultures by asking teachers to explain how they use cultural tools to accommodate minority students. In addition, this study described how educators have experienced differentiating instruction and assessments to accommodate diverse language and cultural differences, which are key concepts of the

sociocultural frameworks (Kozulin, 2018). The results of this research study contributed to the understanding of how minority students might access learning opportunities using Vygotsky's sociocultural framework to prevent overrepresentation in special education.

Problem Statement

The problem is a lack of knowledge of the lived experiences of educators and related service providers in identifying minority students to special education. Minority overrepresentation is a problem for Hispanic and Black students served in specific disability categories (Farkas, Morgan, Hillemeier, Mitchell, & Woods, (2020); de Brey, Musu, McFarland, Wilkinson-Flicker, Diliberti, Zhang, Branstetter, and Wang, (2019). According to data reported from the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) in 2019, "the percentage of students who received services for a specific learning disability was higher for those who were Pacific Islander (43 percent), Hispanic (42 percent), American Indian/Alaska Native (40 percent), and Black (37 percent) than for those of the other races/ ethnicities" (de Brey et al., p. 63, 2019).

Elementary schools in the United States continuously gain a more diverse community of students each year. Demographic changes have impacted minority groups in how they view both general and special education teachers and how they are assessed when being considered for special education services (Sinclair et al., (2018). In addition, referring students for special education because of their race, ethnicity, or spoken language impacts students and communities (Cruze et al., 2018; Morgan et al., 2018). The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of educators and related service providers in the unique education identification processes for minority students, including referral and assessment.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of educators and related service providers in the identification process of minority students to special education in Tennessee elementary schools. At this stage, research defines disproportionality in special education as having a higher or lower likelihood of being identified in a particular education category or specific disability category than those given that subgroup's representation in the overall (student) population (Unmansky et al., 2017).

Significance of the Study

Demographic shifts occurring in the United States have increased diversity within school populations, leading to the overrepresentation of minorities in special education (Farkas et al., 2020; Voulgarides et al., 2017). Teacher perceptions of students with disabilities and teacher-student demographics influence the disproportionality problem in classroom instruction and referrals made to special education (Green & Stormont, 2018). Lack of cultural understanding by educators and unequal access to educational opportunities by minority students contribute to the problem of overrepresentation (Green et al., 2020). The sociocultural theory served as the theoretical framework for this study, which focused on the experiences of educators regarding how a student's culture and environment relate to how they learn.

Research indicates a need to explore contributing factors of racial and cultural disparities in special education, specifically with minority overrepresentation. Social, socio-demographic, and environmental factors, along with classroom practices, have previously been identified as contributors to the overrepresentation of minorities in special education (Chow et al., 2021; Hoover et al., 2018; Skiba et al., 2006; Donovan, Cross, & National Academy of Sciences-National Research Council, 2002; Coutinho & Oswald, 2000). For example, English language

learners often lack support in the classroom with their native language and receive inappropriate interventions for their culture (Hoffman, 2018; Ramu, 2017; Harris et al., 2015). Additionally, standardized assessment criteria are not always culturally sensitive to the differences among minority students (Newkirk-Turner & Green, 2021; Hoover et al., 2018; Hutchison, 2018; Spinelli, 2008). Although the research identifies the problem of minority overrepresentation, there is a lack of information on educators' experiences in accommodating their students' diverse needs (Cavendish et al., 2020; Park, 2020; Unmasky et al., 2017). This transcendental phenomenological design allowed educators to describe how they have experienced language, culture, and racial differences among their students through special education identification, including referral and assessment.

Educators' perceptions and practices contribute to the disproportionate representation of culturally and linguistically diverse students in special education. Minority students report having experienced discrimination in some form through both teachers and peers and state it is typically based on their spoken language and immigration status (Brown & Chu, 2012).

Describing educators' decisions to refer students for special education, assessment decisions, and eligibility determinations could prevent practices that over-identify minority students as having a disability. The findings of this study highlighted ways referral and assessment practices account for cultural and linguistic differences. The data from this transcendental phenomenological study may help institutions and policymakers to develop strategies for solving the overrepresentation of minority students in elementary special education.

Research Questions

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of educators and related service providers in the identification process of minority

students to special education in Tennessee elementary schools. The research questions consisted of one central question and three sub-questions. The first main research question will enable me to explore educators' overall experiences in assessing students from diverse cultural and linguistic backgrounds for special education. The four guiding questions will provide insightful information about the experiences of educators in the special education referral and assessment process for minority students.

Central Research Question

What are educators' experiences identifying minority students referred to special education in Tennessee Elementary Schools?

Sub-Question One

How do K-5 educators identify minority students for referral to special education?

Sub-Question Two

What information do K-5 educators consider besides academic performance and standardized assessment scores when determining special education eligibility for minority students?

Sub-Question Three

How do K-5 educators incorporate minority students' culture or language into referral and assessment for special education?

Definitions

1. *Disproportionality* – An individual from a given subgroup (e.g., Els) having a higher or lower likelihood of being identified in a category (e.g., special education or a specific disability category) than what would be expected given that subgroup's representation in the overall (student) population (Unmansky et al., 2017, p. 76).

- 2. Overrepresentation occurs when the percentage of minority students in special education programs is higher than that in the school population (Guiberson, 2009, p. 167).
- 3. *Misidentification* occurs when students with disabilities have an identified disability that they do not have (Guiberson, 2009, p. 167).
- 4. Assessment Specialist- Individuals with a distinctive role in the assessment process. Also referred to as educational diagnosticians who "share an ability to assess and diagnose the learning problems of students" (National Clearinghouse for Professions in Special Education [NCPSE], 2000, p. 1)
- 5. *Multiculturalism* A theory used to identify and critically analyze educational practices considered discriminatory in schools (Adiguzel & karagol, 2020).
- 6. Sociocultural Theory- A theoretical framework that links education to individuals' culture (Panhwar et al., 2016).

Summary

Consistent demographic shifts in U.S. schools have made it challenging for general and special educators to accommodate minority students in both instruction and assessment—the issue of minority overrepresentation in special education views historical, social, and theoretical contexts. Disparities among minority groups in education have existed since the 1960s, as evidenced by disproportionality, overrepresentation, and misidentification (Guiberson, 2009).

Minority overrepresentation in special education links various social constructs, including race, gender, and language status (Voulgarides, 2017), and inappropriate identification procedures, including bias toward English learners and limited assessment resources for language minority students (Unmansky et al., 2017). Given the responsibility of schools to ensure respect for all spiritual and cultural differences, identifying discriminatory practices can

be accomplished through the lens of multicultural theory (Adiguzel & karagol, 2020). Multiculturalism can influence minority students' educational experiences and impact their cultural identity (Brown & Chu, 2012). The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of educators and related service providers in the identification process of minority students to special education in Tennessee elementary schools. Additionally, the study sought to describe if and to what extent the assessment process is sensitive to cultural and language differences.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview

A systematic literature review explored the problem of disproportionality among minority students in elementary special education. This chapter will present a review of the current literature related to the topic of study. It will review Vygotsky's (1978) sociocultural theory relevant to intellectual development, communication, and environmental influences on learning. In addition, this chapter synthesizes recent literature regarding the disproportionality of minorities in elementary special education, disparities in the assessment and identification of minority students for special education, and factors leading to the referral and eligibility determination of minority students for special education. Finally, the literature addresses district-level achievement gaps related to minority students.

Theoretical Framework

The concept that learning occurs between an individual student and the student's culture is grounded in Vygotsky's (1978) sociocultural theory states that intellectual development occurs in two separate stages. The first stage is inter-psychological, when students communicate with other people, and the second stage is intra-psychological, which occurs when students use new ways to strengthen the learning they have acquired from others and their society (Bodrova, 2003). Vygotsky also distinguished two types of development, derived from knowledge gained through everyday life and personal experiences (Lantolf, Jiao, and Minakova, 2021). According to Vygotsky, during everyday experiences, children typically develop an understanding of new concepts through personal experiences that occur in their reality, which are often guided by the adults surrounding them (Lantolf et al., 2021).

These personal, everyday experiences are concrete concepts observed in their culture and are primarily language-based. Unfortunately, minority students are not always allowed to experience these concepts in the context of their culture or primary language (Lantolf et al., 2021). What a child observes may differ from their experience; however, both can impact their educational development (Lantolf et al., 2021). Vygotsky (1987) stated that while academic learning should be distinct from personal, observational learning, instruction should generalize information from human experiences and combine natural and social sciences (Lantolf et al., 2021). The theoretical framework of this study consists of the sociocultural theory, which emphasizes the link between a child's education and environment with their culture (Vygotsky, 1936).

Sociocultural theory proposes that learners acquire knowledge from peers who assist them in more complex learning in their environment (Bodrov, 2003). Vygotsky stressed the importance of identifying and building on a child's strengths or competencies, including their natural language, rather than focusing on their limitations (Karimi & Nazari, 2021). According to Vygotsky, educational instruction should utilize language matching a child's ability level, guiding instruction, and assessment (Ellis, 2004). The principles of the sociocultural theory guide this study by describing the experiences of educators in instructing, referring, and assessing minority students with specific cultural differences.

The sociocultural theory prevents the misinterpretation of a student's ability or possible disability based on their cultural background (Othman, 2018). However, if teachers cannot distinguish between language differences and language impairment, minority students may be misrepresented in high-incident disability categories (Othman, 2018; Kim et al., 2015).

Therefore, this study will include general education teachers, school psychologists, speech-

language pathologists, and ESL teachers involved with the referral and assessment of students for special education. In addition, the researcher will collect data through individual interviews, focus group interviews, and letter writing to allow educators to describe how they have experienced cultural differences in their own words.

Investigating educators' experiences teaching and assessing students with cultural and language differences through the socio-cognitive lens could impact the disproportionality rate in special education. Therefore, this study describes the experiences of educators and related staff in identifying minority students, including the referral and assessment to special education in Tennessee elementary schools.

Related Literature

School leaders attempt to find ways to decrease the gaps in achievement between poor and wealthy schools and those with high percentages of students with a disability. Although schools have demonstrated consistent demographic changes over the past several years, including race, culture, and language, current teacher education programs continue to utilize pedagogy that is decades old (Farkas et al., 2020; Sinclair et al., 2018; Prezas & Ahyea, 2017; Sobel et al., 2007). Many school districts place English language learners (ELLs) in classrooms with teachers who are only English-speaking and who have limited preparation for teaching Els through evidence-based practices (Portes et al., 2018). In addition, IDEA (2004) requires educators to address the "exclusionary clause" to eliminate inappropriate identification of EL students, requiring educators to provide evidence that learning deficits do not result from language, culture, environment, or economic factors or improper instruction (Ortiz et al., 2018). Given that these measures through IDEA are in place, it remains unclear how educators are

accommodating minority students in their instruction, referral, and assessment methods for special education.

Efforts to Correct the Issue of Minority Overrepresentation

The issue of minority overrepresentation in special education has been identified as one of the most significant challenges in public education over the past 30 years and has led to various research approaches on the subject (Chow et al., 2021; Cavendish et al., 2020; Hoover et al., 2018; Skiba et al., 2006; Coutinho & Oswald, 2000). However, traditionally, researchers have approached the issue of overrepresentation from a learning, behavioral, and intellectual angle rather than a social, cultural, and historical focus (Cavendish et al., 2020; Thomas, 2016). In addition, some scholars note that while research focuses on race and disability, racial issues are typically a lesser focus (Cavendish et al., 2020).

According to Farkas et al. (2020), the US Department of Education (2016) created regulations that require school districts to calculate risk ratios, which report measures of significant disproportionality and provide the probability that minority students might receive special education services compared to students who are White. Despite efforts from the Office of Civil Rights and the Department of Education to resolve racial disparities, most students represented in special education continue to be minorities. The National Center for Education Statistics (2021) reported that for the 2019-2020 school year, 18% of students represented in special education were American Indian/Alaska Native students, followed by Black students who represented 17%., and racial and ethnic minorities accounted for 43% of students served under IDEA under either a specific learning disability or a speech/language impairment during the 2019-2020 school year (NCES, 2021). Additional efforts by various organizations, including the Center of Minority Research in Special Education (COMPRISE), the Linking Academic

Scholars to Educational Resources (LASER) Project, the National Center for Culturally Responsive Educational Systems (NCCRES), and the National Institute for Urban School Improvement (NIUSU) address the issue of minority overrepresentation (Park, 2020; Artiles, Rueda, Salazar, & Higareda, 2005). However, there is an evident gap in the literature explaining how educators have experienced the identification process of minority students for special education.

Special Education Referral

Minority students are commonly referred to special education under high-incident or "judgment categories," including specific learning disability, speech-language impairment, emotional and behavioral disorders, and mild cognitive disabilities (Othman, 2018, p.172). Between 2013-2014, more than half of students receiving special education services were identified as having either a specific learning disability or a speech-language impairment (NCES, 2016).

Although the literature documenting minority overrepresentation in special education is extensive, limited information exists regarding how educators address this issue (Skiba et al., 2006). Patterns of minority disproportionality identify possible causes of continued minority overrepresentation, including social, socio-demographic, and environmental factors, along with general education contributions to the referral process (Skiba et al., 2006; Donovan, Cross, & National Academy of Sciences - National Research Council, 2002; Coutinho & Oswald, 2000). General education teachers play an essential role in educating students with diverse cultural and linguistic backgrounds by providing differentiated instruction. When teaching literacy, for example, ELL students should demonstrate grade-level proficiency in listening, speaking, reading, and writing (Genese et al., 2005; Ramu, 2017).

Emphasizing oral language development is critical to proficiency in other language areas (Genesee et al., 2005). Building solid oral language and literacy skills, specifically among linguistically diverse students, includes explicit instruction in phonemic awareness, phonics, vocabulary, comprehension, and fluency (Ramu, 2017). Unfortunately, the delivery of instruction often does not address cultural and linguistic differences, particularly within the classroom curriculum and referral procedures, which are primarily for fluent English speakers. General education teachers usually deliver generic teaching methods due to a lack of understanding of the second language acquisition process, which often results in misjudgments about the need for a referral for special education (Hoover et al., 2018). EL students are often separated from their general education peers, resulting in a lack of instruction in these content areas and leading to oral language deficits (Hoffman, 2018). For example, academic achievement for Latino ELs has been linked to teacher warmth and being in a well-managed classroom (Song, Luo, & Zhan, 2022; Banse & Palacios, 2018; Hoffman, 2018).

Although research indicates that some teaching methods that neglect to address cultural differences influence the success of cultural and linguistic minorities, educators continue to refer these students for special education (Park, 2020). Some researchers have proposed that disproportionality is due to the sociopolitical and historical context in which the referrals are occurring, inappropriate diagnostic tools, and discrimination (Artiles & Klingner, 2006; Klingner, Artiles, Kozleski, Harry, Zion, Tate, Duran, & Riley, 2005; and Shifrer, Juller, & Callahan, 2011). In addition, inadequate classroom support and general education teachers' inability to determine the cause of low academic achievement among EL students may also result in disproportionality (Park, 2020).

Additionally, educators often cannot identify the protocol for when or how to refer these students (Park, 2020). Cultural behavior differences also lead to special education (SPED) referrals when behaviors do not align with non-minority student behavior expectations (Woodson & Harris, 2018; Wilkinson, Ortiz, Robertson, & Kushner, 2006). Finally, in some cases, school referral policies created to avoid overrepresentation have resulted in either delayed or avoided referrals by teachers (Unmasky et al., 2017).

There is an evident problem with inconsistent practices among general educators and the many factors contributing to the disproportionate representation of EL students in special education. Among the inconsistencies in referring EL students for SPED are the "wait to be sure" and "the sooner, the better" approaches (Park, 2020, p.1). Some educators hesitate to refer ELs until they have tried to justify the referral. In contrast, other educators feel they should guide students when they notice the student struggling (Park, 2020). Previous research has identified several factors to consider when referring diverse students for special education to represent better current cultural and linguistic changes in schools (Hoover & deBettencourt, 2018).

Sufficient data, for example, should be collected on students considered for special education referral, including understanding and applying appropriate developmental milestones of English language learning, applying multi-tiered interventions that consider cultural and linguistic differences, providing an instructional environment that allows the use of native and English languages, and the use of research-based methods in the instruction of EL students (Hoover & deBettencourt, 2018).

Decisions on when to refer students to special education appear to vary among general and special educators and often depend on the teachers' attitudes (Green & Stormont, 2018).

Teacher Attitude

The US Census Bureau (2011) reported that 20% of students in grades K-12 spoke a language other than English at home. Additionally, US elementary school teachers reported that 45% of students whose first language is Spanish are in their classrooms (Wood, Wofford & Hassinger, 2018). According to the National Clearinghouse for English Language Acquisition, there are 5.1 million ELs in US schools, with more than 80% of students speaking Spanish as a first language (Wood et al., 2018). With the consistent increase in culturally diverse learners, the issue of racial disparity in special education has become an issue in need of remediation, specifically the overrepresentation of minorities (Othman, 2018).

Students whose primary language is not English are often unsuccessful due to a lack of educational support, including high-quality instruction, aid in their native language, and academic interventions appropriate for a student's culture (Harris et al., (2015). Students from minority and low socioeconomic backgrounds encounter more barriers in school than higher socioeconomic, majority students due to unequal opportunities (Bodvin, Verschueren, De Haene, & Struyf, 2018). ELs are often not given the same educational opportunities as their English-speaking peers, which leads to poorer academic performance (Hoover et al., 2018; Harris et al., 2015).

There is evidence that teacher attitude is linked to student motivation and shows how a teacher's perspective heavily supports a student's overall push to learn (Ali & Masroor, 2017). Teacher attitudes toward students with disabilities and those with linguistic differences impact how successful these students will be academically, socially, and emotionally (Chu, 2011; Hoang & Dalimonte, 2007). Teachers' attitudes reveal their feelings about having diverse students in their classrooms. Walker, Shafer, & Liams (2004) showed that out of 422 teachers interviewed,

70% did not want ELs in their classrooms. Negativity and resentment are two common factors contributing to negative feelings toward Els, with teachers feeling it was the learner's responsibility to adapt to American school culture (Song et al., 2022; Mellom et al., 2018; Walker et al., 2004).

The lack of teacher education for multilingual students is one identified factor in negative attitudes (Wood et al., 2018). Unfortunately, many educators in small, rural areas have minimal multicultural experience, which is becoming an increasing problem, considering many of these areas consistently show more demographic changes (Mellom et al., 2018). Multilingual differences have typically not been a priority in education curricula (Costley et al., 2020; I & de Araujo, 2019; Lan & de Oliveira, 2019; Garcia, 2008). Teachers' familiar with the principles of English-Language learning and willing to modify their classrooms to accommodate diverse students have shown to be more effective with their EL students (Woods et al., 2018). Teachers are more successful when implementing EL learning principles and understanding individual student differences.

How a student feels personally about learning a second language and how prepared they feel to engage in communication with another person determines each learning difference (Li, 2022). Students learning a second language may also struggle with personal identity due to how others perceive them (Hendy & Cuevas, 2020). These students may be more motivated to learn a second language in an environment that allows social and cultural opportunities (Hendy & Cuevas, 2020). Educators focusing on individual differences can better support linguistically diverse students (Guler, 2022).

While individual differences are essential to second language acquisition, a student's learning strategies are critical to second language development (Sukying, 2021). Students

learning a second language utilize language learning strategies (LLS), which are behaviors chosen to complete specific tasks, including memorization, processing, storing, and retrieving new information, which help students with self-confidence and self-regulation skills (Sukying, 2021). Unfortunately, teacher education programs vary in how they train educators to teach culturally diverse students (Clark and Andreasen, 2021). For example, one study revealed that preservice teachers rated their capability for teaching diverse students as adequate. Still, self-rating scores significantly dropped after one full year of teaching (Clark and Andreasen, 2021).

Teachers are faced with instructing EL students and other diverse students with disabilities. Diversity in classrooms has resulted in a strong need for culturally responsive teaching; however, teachers' negative biases, attitudes, and personal beliefs impact the instruction of culturally diverse students (Glock et al., 2019). How teachers approach minority students with disabilities depends on several factors, including behavior management strategies, cultural differences among teachers and students, and their cultural competence (Green & Stormont, 2018). Racial differences often result in behavior and special education referrals due to a lack of evidence-based practices used to interpret behavior differences, inconsistent practices among educators, and failure to address students' home culture (Green & Stormont, 2018; Othman, 2018; Banse & Palacios, 2018). Multiple researchers have found that improving instruction for diverse students depends on teachers' beliefs and perspectives regarding diverse learners (Glock et al., 2019).

An educator's willingness to develop and implement diverse instructional strategies that reflect a multicultural student population greatly benefits diverse learners (Kumar and Hamer, 2013). Creating more cultural sensitivity among educators begins with preservice programs, which can shape personal beliefs on multicultural learning (Kumar and Hamer, 2013). Negative

attitudes from teachers regarding diverse students often originate with a lack of self-confidence in their ability to develop and implement curriculum, instructional strategies, and interventions for multicultural learners (Clark and Andreasen, 2021; Barrio, 2021).

Several school systems have implemented pre-referral practices to provide an opportunity for in-class intervention before a special education referral. Unfortunately, many teachers are unprepared to implement effective interventions for students from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds (Barrio, 2021). Pre-referral models include Response to Intervention (RTI) and Multi-tiered Systems of Support (MTSS), which assist teachers in implementing instructional practices for struggling students (Carta et al., 2015). These practices include instruction for students from diverse cultural backgrounds; however, there is little evidence that educators provide culturally responsive teaching methods for these students during the prereferral process (Barrio, 2021; Artiles et al., 2010). To get a better idea of the phenomenon of minority disproportionality in special education, understanding the level of training general education teachers have had in providing culturally responsive practices is very important (Artiles et al., 2010; Hosp & Madyun, 2007).

Education programs do not always offer instruction on the principles of RTI to preservice teachers, leaving the responsibility up to school districts and professional development.

Unfortunately, many teachers need to implement RTI practices before receiving adequate training. Educators should be proficient in delivering multi-tiered support utilizing evidence-based practices, progress monitoring, and data collection (Vollmer et al., 2019).

While some education programs address RTI for preservice teachers, there is a lack of consistency among others that offer specific curricula on the topic. Therefore, many new teachers are unprepared to implement the components of RTI in their classrooms (Vollmer et al.,

2019; Hurlbut & Tunks, 2016). Special education teachers have reported feeling more prepared with the RTI system than general education teachers referring students for assessment (Hurlbut & Tunks, 2016). Unfortunately, there is a lack of literature regarding the amount of preservice teacher training on RTI and prereferral practices, which is a problem, given teachers are finding more diversity in their classrooms. (Vollmer et al., 2019).

Teachers have students representing many cultures and languages in their classrooms, initiating many special education and behavior referrals (Zakszeski et al., 2021; Woodson and Harris, 2018). Like RTI, schools have implemented behavior programs such as school-wide positive interventions and supports (SWPBIS) to reduce negative behavior (Zakszeski et al., 2021). Behavioral concerns are the leading cause of teacher referral to special education, which subjective behavioral assessments confirm (Woodson and Harris, 2018; Anyon et al., 2014; Skiba et al., 2011). Unfortunately, many educators do not feel adequately equipped to handle behavior issues in the classroom and think that a referral to special education is their only choice (Unal & Unal, 2009; Skip et al., 2006). Teachers have often viewed classroom behavior of African American/Black males as disruptive, which has led to higher rates of disciplinary referrals for these students than other racial groups, which often results in a referral for special education (Woodson & Harris, 2018; Bradshaw, Mitchell, O'Brian, Brennan, & Leaf, 2010).

Special education referrals are primarily based on the classroom teacher's reasons, attitudes, and core beliefs for the referral, suggesting that the overrepresentation of minorities correlates to teachers not distinguishing between cultural diversity and disability (Chu, 2011; Green & Stormont, 2018; Unmansky et al., 2018). Additional factors, including gender, race, teaching experience, teacher attitude toward inclusion practices, and teachers' inexperience working with African American/Black students, have led to more frequent referrals to special

education (Woodson & Harris, 2018). Teachers' attitudes toward inclusion have been directly linked to special education referral, suggesting teachers do not believe inclusive interventions are beneficial (Anderson et al., 2012; Dallas, Sprong, & Upton, 2014; Swain, Nordness, & Leader-Janssen, 2012). Attitudes toward a specific group of students or behaviors have also led to more referrals to special education because of stereotypical and symbolic beliefs (Anderson, Watt, & Noble, 2012). Stereotypical views refer to thoughts about people's characteristics, and suggestive ideas refer to speculations about a group's values, customs, and traditions (Anderson et al., 2012).

In several cases, teachers view minority students more negatively than non-minority students (Glock, Kovacs, & Pit-ten Cate, 2019; Guler, 2020). Teachers have indicated their attitudes are more favorable toward students with disabilities when they have adequate support such as workshops, seminars, and lectures (Hoang & Dalimonte, 2007). Preservice teacher programs are beginning to address teachers' responsibilities in instructing English-Language Learners (ELLs) by mandating college coursework called Structured English Immersion (SEI) which focuses on instructional strategies (Wissink & Starks, 2019). Although teacher preparation programs include special education and culturally diverse issues, there appears to be a lack of training in placing diverse students in special education (Hutchison, 2018).

While classroom teachers are not responsible for assessing or determining special education eligibility, they are the first professionals to determine if a child needs extra support. It is particularly challenging for teachers working with bilingual learners and those from culturally diverse backgrounds (Prezas and Jo, 2017). In addition, most ELL students with disabilities consist of those with specific learning disabilities and speech-language impairments, which

create challenges for educators in distinguishing between language impairments and lack of language acquisition (Liu, Thurlow, & Christensen, 2017; Liu et al., 2017).

Issues occur when teachers cannot distinguish between a disability and a cultural or language difference. Teachers have reported not understanding bilingual development and not having adequate support to assist them with bilingual students (Prezas and Jo, 2017). Teachers' lack of self-efficacy, personal biases, and lack of training lead to inconsistent referral practices. These practices impact the referral process and influence assessment and eligibility decisions (Othman, 2018).

Classroom Accommodations

Students with cultural and language differences often are in environments insensitive to their background (Yamasaki & Luk, 2018). Classroom accommodations given to minority students are often inconsistent among teachers due to their judgment rather than a structured protocol (Koran & Kopriva, 2017). Most minority students referred for special education are Hispanic students referred for a specific learning disorder (SLD) (Sepúlveda-Miranda., Otero, & Moreno-Torres, 2018). Among statements from the NASP, the manifestation of SLD is partly due to the types of instruction, support, and accommodations provided to students and their learning expectations (Christo & Ponzuric, 2017).

Providing appropriate accommodations to students with cultural and language differences can influence the student's overall success and can either positively or negatively impact the assessment process (Christo & Ponzuric, 2017; Koran & Kopriva, 2017). EL students with no appropriate classroom accommodations may appear to have academic deficits. Therefore, it becomes difficult to determine if an actual disability is present (Christo & Ponzuric, 2017).

Classroom accommodations and interventions are seldom research-based, lack fidelity, and are not administered appropriately (Barrio, 2017; Russo-Campisi, 2017).

Education has moved toward a perspective that allows students' culture to influence instruction (Karimi & Nazari, 2021). Some school systems currently instruct educators to provide differentiated instruction (DI) to accommodate each student's differences (Karimi & Nazari, 2021). DI includes differentiated curriculum and instruction using three categories: student readiness, student interest, and student learning profile (Tomlinson et al., 2002). Implementing DI requires educators to consider a student's social, cultural, and psychological background, which helps them better meet their needs (Karimi & Nazari, 2021).

Assessment Practices in the Identification of Minority Students

Minority overrepresentation among high-incidence categories appears to be a continual problem, as evidenced by a 1996 study showing a much higher percentage of African American students receiving special education under either a learning disability, emotional disturbance, or mental retardation than those students with orthopedic, vision, or hearing impairments (Morgan et al., 2023; Cavendish et al., 2020; Coutinho & Oswald, 2000). Other reports indicate that the majority of minority students represent disability categories with the most social stigma, which results in the most segregation from their peers (Kramarczuk et al., 2021; US Department of Education, 2020); Blanchett, 2010; US Department of Education et al., 2016). Some disability categories result in either higher or lower social status which is due to the amount of access to the general education curriculum and social interaction with peers (Kramarczuk et al., 2021; Blanchett, 2010; Ong-Dean, 2009; Harry & Anderson, 1994). High-status disability categories, for example, include Other Health Impairments, Speech-Language Impairment, and autism

spectrum disorder and carry less social stigma, while lower-status categories such as emotional disturbance and intellectual disability have a higher social stigma (Fish, 2019; Blanchett, 2010).

School psychologists and speech-language pathologists' professional judgment determine these high-incident disability categories (Sinclair et al., 2018). Unfortunately, eligibility determination is subjective and often influenced by social and racial factors (Fish, 2017; Harry & Klingner, 2007). In addition, federal mandates through IDEA provide specific guidance on the referral and assessment process of ELL students for special education (Park, 2020). For example, IDEA (2004) states that ELL students should receive prompt assessment and identification; however, students should not be made eligible for special education based on limited English proficiency or lack of appropriate instruction (IDEA, 20 USC •614, 2004).

As the sociocultural theory, 1978) states, children learn through the connections made between their culture and environment; however, if students do not have this opportunity, it may be negatively reflected in assessment results. Assessing students from diverse cultural and linguistic backgrounds for special education is one of the most prominent challenges assessment specialists face (Stutzman & Lowenhaupt, 2022; McFarland et al., 2018; Overton, Fielding, & Simonsson, 2004). Assessment protocol through IDEA (2014) assists with identifying a specific learning disability. It uses multiple data sources, including responses to intervention, informal observations, parent and teacher interviews, record reviews, and standardized assessments (Christo & Ponzuric, 2017). However, standardized assessment criteria have not always considered the cultural differences of minority students who may experience up to a 30% point loss on a given assessment (Cormier et al., 2022; Hutchison, 2018).

Although culturally and linguistically responsive (CLR) assessments value cultural and linguistic features, there is a lack of consistency among particular education intervention,

referral, and assessment processes (Hoover et al., 2018). EL students identified as having a disability continue to increase in K-12 schools within the US (Stutzman & Lowenhaupt, 2022; McFarland et al., 2018; Watkins and Liu, 2013). Although assessment bias is always a concern, it is a particular issue for students with diverse backgrounds when the influence of culture and language is not considered (Hoover et al., 2018).

Most standardized assessment tools used in the determination of eligibility are not available in languages other than English, and there is a lack of understanding of how to administer and interpret cultural and linguistic differences among assessment specialists (Cormier et al., 2022; Stutzman & Lowenhaupt, 2022; Spinelli, 2008). IDEA (2004) regulations state that EL students must not have an identified disability due to their lack of English proficiency (Park, 2020). Minority students often lack support and connections with their teacher in both classroom instruction and the assessment process, which may be due to a lack of communication between the student and teacher or assessments not addressing diverse cultures (Goktas & Kaya, 2023; Longobardi et al., 2021; Harris et al., 2015). Connections also exist between a student's disability and their proficiency in second-language acquisition (Liu et al., 2017).

In recent years, there has been a focus on the acquisition of academic language and its influence on reading comprehension and literacy (Wood, Schatschneider, & VelDink, 2021; Ogle, Blachowicz, Fisher, & Lang, 2016; Nagy & Townsend, 2012). While there is a correlation between academic success and academic language, research reveals that students develop academic language at variable rates (Wood et al., 2021; O'Hara et al., 2020). Students exposed to academic vocabulary regularly in their communicative exchanges are more likely to comprehend academic language (August et al., 2021). While some students have daily exposure to academic

vocabulary, others have limited exposure, which suggests a connection to socioeconomic/cultural background, English proficiency, and language-based disorders (Lipping, 2021).

Students who experience gaps in their academic language acquisition could be experiencing a lack of exposure due to a disadvantaged background or a cultural difference in the emphasis placed on academic language use (Lipping, 2021; Blachowicz & Fisher, 2000). English learners may struggle to acquire academic language at the same rate as non-English learners, and their limited English proficiency may influence how they meet grade-level expectations (O'Hara et al., 2020; Ogle et al., 2016; Townsend, Filippini, Collins, & Biancarosa, 2012). In addition to those students with diverse cultural and linguistic backgrounds, students with language-based disabilities also struggle with acquiring higher-level academic vocabulary (Wood et al., 2021). Language-based impairments impact how students develop new words using context, establish foundational language, and understand abstract concepts (Aguilar, Plante, & Sandoval, 2018; Steele & Watkins, 2010; Kan & Windsor, 2010).

Regarding assessment, a child's language development and the nature of their disability must be considered together (Newkirk-Turner & Green, 2021; Poehner & Wang, 2021; Liu & Barrera, 2013). For example, for a bilingual student to meet the criteria for a learning disability, the student must be assessed in their first language and English and must show deficits in both (Orellana, Wade, & Gillam, 2019; Overton et al., 2004). Unfortunately, eligibility criteria for disability categories vary from state to state, resulting in inconsistencies (Robinson & Norton, 2019; McNicholas et al., 2018; Bocian, Beebe, MacMillan, & Gresham, 1999). These inconsistencies make it difficult for assessment specialists such as school psychologists to decide when considering a student for special education eligibility. Another factor that has contributed to inconsistent eligibility determination has been the ongoing pressure felt by the assessment

team to provide educational support for struggling students through special education without adequate consideration of diverse cultures or languages (Gamble, 2021; Sullivan, Sadeh, & Houri, 2019; Overton et al. 2004).

Cultural disconnection on assessments accounts for up to 5-8% loss on tests, and a lack of cultural connection to the student may result in poor performance that otherwise would not have occurred (Hutchison, 2018). Assessments used to determine an educational disability typically address students who are native English speakers (Pichardo, 2014). At the same time, these assessments can use translators, and grammatical structures such as syntax and word meaning often become altered (Aguilar et al., 2018; Pichardo, 2014). English learners are commonly referred for a special education assessment to either a school psychologist or a speech-language pathologist (SLP) when students demonstrate a lack of progress in the classroom or exhibit language barriers (Roseberry-McKibbin, 2021).

School psychologists and speech-language pathologists follow specific guidelines for the assessment practices of EL students. Federal policy, the National Association of School Psychologists (NASP), and the American Psychological Association (APA) provide specific guidelines for the assessment of EL students and SLPs following the American Speech and Hearing Association (ASHA) in the evaluation of ELL students in school settings (ASHA, 2021; Harris et al., 2015)

The Role of School Psychologists in the Assessment Process

The continued increase in student diversity has brought about new challenges for school psychologists and their role within the educational setting. School psychologists are becoming involved in culturally and racially related issues, including academic achievement gaps between white students and those of color, discipline gaps, culturally responsive teaching, appropriate

social/emotional support, and equity of educational services (Parker, Castillo, Sabnis, Daye, & Hanson, 2020). The responsibility of school psychologists is not only to evaluate students for disabilities but to support them in numerous ways before special education referral (Parker et al., 2020). One way they provide such support is through consultative services. Consultation is a service delivery model in which specialists work with classroom teachers to help them provide appropriate support for students within the classroom (Parker et al., 2020). School psychologists offer Consultative services to ensure students' overall well-being and promote evidence-based practices in the classroom (National Association of School Psychologists, 2010).

Within the consultation delivery model, school psychologists assist classroom teachers with becoming aware of cultural differences, understanding cultural differences, helping them improve their relationships with culturally diverse students, and assisting parents with school expectations for their children (Behring, Cabello, Kushida, & Murguia, 2000; Ingraham, 2003; Ramirez & Smith, 2007; O'Bryon & Rogers, 2016). Scholars in school psychology have developed a specific framework for consultative services specifically to address cultural differences (Parker et al., 2020). These scholars refer to this framework as Multicultural School Consultation (MSC) and provide guidelines for understanding diverse cultural dynamics in the school setting (Ingraham, 2000). The specific set of guidelines assists school psychologists in working with culturally and linguistically diverse students before and during the referral process (Ingraham, 2000; Harris et al., 2015).

Although there are guidelines for assessment specialists to follow, school psychologists appear to have deficits in assessment practices, especially for EL students (Harris et al., 2015). According to the Standards for Educational and Psychological Testing (1999), assessments should be based on the examinee's language proficiency and preference and should be

considered comprehensive, multifaceted, fair, practical, and demonstrate reliability and validity with the student population (APA, 2002; NASP, 2010). However, a significant problem with standardized testing is that assessment items with complex linguistic concepts, such as mathematics, can potentially negatively impact assessment outcomes for ELLs (Abedi, Zhang, Rowe, & Lee, 2020).

The American Educational Research Association (AERA), APA, and the National Council on Measurement in Education (1999) state that the first step in assessing an ELL student is to determine the student's language proficiency in both languages. Determination of language proficiency should include both formal and informal measures (O'Bryon & Rogers, 2010). Unfortunately, formal assessments often do not account for variations in the use of language (Aston et al., 2022; Cormier et al., 2022; Costa et al., 2022; Graves et al., 2020; Ortiz, 2019; Hoover & deBettencourt, 2018; O'Bryon & Rogers, 2010). Informal measures are not normed for a specific population of students and rely on information received from direct observations, questionnaires, teacher rating scales, and language samples (Rhodes et al., 2005).

Screening and Assessment Measures

Assessing acculturation is essential, allowing the administrator to understand a student's cultural experiences, which may influence test responses, school behavior, and overall test performance (Rhodes et al., 2005). There is typically less consideration of second language development and acculturation as standardized measures when assessing for a disability (National Education Association, 2007). Unfortunately, guidance is often lacking in assessing EL students, and assessment mainly relies on the personal judgment of school psychologists who are testing (Harris et al., 2015). Some reports have shown that 80% or more of school psychologists

feel inadequate in administering and interpreting bilingual assessments (Ysseldyke, Algozzine, & Thurlow, 2000).

Although standardized assessments that determine whether a disability exists should be objective and unbiased, research has shown that school psychologists often choose assessments that are most likely to yield their desired results, fail to consider a test's cultural and linguistic differences, and usually do not determine a student's actual abilities (Skiba et al., 2006; Hoover & Baretta, 2016; Ortiz et al., 2011). IDEA (2004) requires school districts to monitor racial disproportionality in special education and offers schools incentives to ensure students placed in special education are appropriate. However, standardized assessments used in determining eligibility do not consider cultural and linguistic differences, and many EL students are unfamiliar with the assessment language (Abedi, Zhang, Rowe, & Lee, 2020; Harris et al., 2015).

The Role of Speech-Language Pathologists in the Assessment Process

English-language learners are often referred to Speech-language pathologists (SLPs) when they are underperforming in the classroom (Roseberry-McKibbin, 2021). SLPs are responsible for the assessment and intervention of students with speech or language impairment through evidence-based and culturally competent practices (ASHA, 2020). Diagnostic criteria for a language impairment include standardized scores, which are more than one standard deviation from the mean from same-age peers (Selin, Rice, Girolamo & Wang, 2019). Like other disability categories, a lack of understanding of diverse cultures and languages often leads to over-referrals of minority students for special education (Przymus & Alvarado, 2019). Most standardized assessment norms are appropriate for monolingual students (Przymus & Alvarado, 2019). Students suspected of a language impairment should be assessed in both their native and second language (Prezas & Jo, 2017; Abbot-Smith, Morawska-Patera, Luniewska, Spruce, & Haman,

2018). Typically, bilingual students with assessments in both languages can distinguish bilingual students with communication delays (Abbot-Smith et al., 2018). Unfortunately, many school systems only have monolingual SLPs available to assess bilingual students without an interpreter, which often results in both the over and under-representation of bilingual students in SPED (Prezas & Jo, 2017; Santhanam, Gilbert & Parveen, 2019).

Given the increase in students who are non-English speakers, research has sought to determine the level of competence among SLPs in working with ELLs. As part of a formal assessment, SLPs collect background information and family history from students they are evaluating. However, it is difficult to administer an assessment in English to non-English speaking students and obtain adequate information from families (McNeilly, 2019). SLP guidelines state that in these scenarios, they should utilize interpreters and alternative assessment procedures (McNeilly, 2019). The question is how SLPs are meeting these guidelines. Some SLPs have reported a lack of assessment tools for specific languages and have admitted to forming their informal assessment system in these cases (Núñez, Buren, Diaz-Vazquez, & Bailey, 2021). SLPs also lack understanding of bilingual development (Centeno & Eng, 2006). This lack of knowledge often hinders the choice of appropriate assessment tools for CLD students (Centeno & Eng, 2006).

SLPs working with bilingual students should consider the language acquisition history of the student when choosing an appropriate assessment (Centeno & Eng, 2006). Acquisition history includes the context in which a student experiences a second language, the level of mastery in both languages and the age of exposure to the second language (Centeno, 2003; Centeno, 2005; Roseberry-McKibbin, 2001). Considering a student's acquisition history can aid in differentiating language differences and language disability (Centeno & Eng, 2006). In

addition, students can be misdiagnosed or misplaced in an intervention or special education program when background language is not considered in the assessment choice (Centeno & Eng, 2006).

Before choosing an appropriate language assessment for bilingual students, educators determine whether there is a need for a referral. Unfortunately, most educators are not bilingual, unfamiliar with a student's heritage language, and cannot determine if the student is proficient in their native language (Aston et al., 2022; Cormier et al., 2022; Abbot-Smith et al., 2018). Parent questionnaires and checklists may aid educators in deciding if a referral for a communication disorder is warranted (Abbot-Smith et al., 2018).

Several factors can impact how bilingual students perform on a single language evaluation, including sociolinguistic interactions and sociocultural and societal characteristics (Centeno & Eng, 2006; Centeno, 2005). These factors result from language patterns used in the home, school, and community and the frequency and intensity of their exposure to each language (Hoffman, 1985; Pearson, Fernandez, Lewedge, & Oller, 1997; Oller & Pearson, 2002). How students use their native and second languages impacts their performance on standardized assessments (Centeno & Eng, 2006).

Social and cultural differences and socioeconomic factors impact bilingual students' language development (Roseberry-McKibbin, 2001). For example, students from low socioeconomic backgrounds may have limited opportunities for learning or less exposure to language and literacy in their home environment (Roseberry-McKibbin, 2001). Considering these factors when conducting a formal language assessment for CLD students helps avoid misinterpreting a language difference for language impairment (Centeno & Eng, 2006).

The decision to serve a student with a speech or language impairment under special education depends on what assessment the SLP chooses, how they administer the assessment, and how they interpret the results (Arias & Friberg, 2017). Interpreting assessment results depends on how well the SLP understands that bilingual language development differs from monolingual (Arias & Friberg, 2017). A bilingual student does not acquire two languages separately but interdependently (Grosjean, 1989). Therefore, SLPS must distinguish between language patterns that are developmental, cultural, or delayed (Grosjean, 1989). IDEA requires that all school-based SLPs choose assessments that do not discriminate based on race or culture, are in the child's native language, or have alternative modes that will most likely yield valid and reliable results (IDEA, 2004).

Most SLPs choose to administer standardized assessments for monolingual and bilingual students (Girolamo et al., 2022; Castilla-Earls et al., 2020). Standardized assessments are typically selected out of convenience but are not always appropriate for bilingual students (Daub et al., 2021; Selin et al., 2019). Standardized assessments yield standard scores that are based on a normative sample of same-age peers but do not always represent all cultural groups in their normative sample (Girolamo et al., 2022; Selin et al., 2019; Friberg, 2010; Padilla, 2007). SLPs are responsible for assuring that the student's demographic profile is represented in the assessments they choose through reviewing test manuals (Daub et al., 2021).

Some standardized assessments have versions of the same test to accommodate different languages but are not always reliable measures (Daub et al., 2021; Selin et al., 2019). Spanish language assessments, for example, based on a test's English version, do not always account for differences in language structure (Cowan et al., 2022; Bedore and Peña, 2008). Cultural and linguistic biases may also exist in standardized assessments, which an SLP is responsible for

determining (White & Jin, 2011). Therefore, choosing assessments that yield valid and reliable results is essential for bilingual students and those with dialectal differences or whose language differs from mainstream English (Overton, Baron, Pearson, & Ratner, 2021).

Speech-language pathologists can modify evaluation scoring for students who do not speak mainstream English, such as African American English (AAE) or Southern White English (SWE), and who exhibit various grammatical differences as related to culture (Oetting, Berry, Gregory, Rivière, & McDonald, 2019). In the case of both AAE and SWE, grammatical variations are typical in those cultural dialects (Beyer & Hudson-Kam, 2011; Charity, Scarborough, & Griffin, 2004; Terry, Jackson, Evangelou, & Smith, 2010). These dialectal differences include syntactic, morphosyntactic, phonological, semantic, pragmatic, and lexical differences, which can be scored as correct responses, although they vary from mainstream English (Oetting et al., 2019; Newkirk-Turner & Green, 2021). Although modified scoring helps close gaps between mainstream and non-mainstream English speakers, it does not always yield valid results and should be used cautiously (Hendricks & Adlof, 2017). Language assessments should go beyond standardized scores and consider the child's strengths, weaknesses, and spontaneous language outside of test items (Newkirk-Turner & Green, 2021; Arias & Friberg, 2017).

Alternatives to Standardized Assessment

In addition to using standardized assessment and scoring to determine eligibility for the language impaired, alternative forms of language evaluation can provide more information for language minority students (Newkirk-Turner & Green, 2021). Alternatives to standardized assessment, such as language sampling, nonword repetition tasks (NWRT), and dynamic assessment, provide clinicians with information about a student's language use that is both

elicited and spontaneous and can often be the only measure that captures a student's functional language (Newkirk-Turner & Green, 2021; Arias & Friberg, 2017; Miller, Andriacchi, & Nockerts, 2015). Distinguishing between language impairment and a language difference is substantially increased when therapists incorporate language sampling in the evaluation process for culturally and linguistically diverse students (Horton-Ikard, 2010). Language samples provide more information than standardized scores and are a requirement of all comprehensive language assessments according to ASHA guidelines (ASHA, 2004).

Language samples can be collected in both English and the student's native language but are only successful if the therapist adequately understands language differences between the two (Gutierrez-Clellen, Restrepo, Bedore, Peña, & Anderson, 2000). Some tools assist with analyzing language samples, such as the Systematic Analysis of Language Transcripts (SALT), computer software that examines differences in language structure (Hudry et al., 2023). SALT assists therapists in analyzing grammatical, semantic, pragmatic, and dialectal differences between two languages comprising 15 databases with language samples representing 7,000 languages, an age range between two years, eight months, and eighteen years, nine months, and a variety of sampling tasks including narrative, expository, and conversation tasks (Hudry et al., 2023; Miller & Iglesias, 2016).

Additional assessment techniques include examining how students process language, which is evaluated through nonword repetition tasks (NWRT) (Arias and Friberg, 2017).

NWRTs are especially beneficial for distinguishing between language differences and language impairment by analyzing students' ability to understand, store, recall, and reproduce phonologically based processes (Summers, Bohman, Gillam, Peña, & Bedore, 2010). This process involves giving students nonwords that involve the phonotactic characteristics of the

language assessed (Arias & Friberg, 2017). Students must rely on their experiences and knowledge of specific sound patterns to perform NWRTs (Arias & Friberg, 2017). A student's ability to repeat nonwords reveals how successful they are at manipulating phonemes, which is an additional process to avoid cultural and linguistic bias on language assessments (Guiberson & Rodriguez, 2013; Gutiérrez-Clellen & Simon-Cereijido, 2010).

Dynamic assessment (DA) is used with linguistically and culturally diverse students when assessing for language impairment and is another example of an alternative to standardized testing (Zhang, 2023; Hoover et al., 2018). In addition, it is an alternative to norm-referenced, monolingual tests given to bilingual students (Farangi & Kheradmand-Saadi, 2017). The dynamic assessment model eliminates testing bias and evaluates what a student can learn rather than their exposure to standardized testing content (Arias & Friberg, 2017). Furthermore, DA includes instruction of a specific skill within the actual assessment, which helps SLPs evaluate a student's potential (Zhang, 2023; Farangi & Kheradmand-Saadi, 2017).

Norm-referenced language evaluations produce scores that determine whether a student meets the specified criteria for a disability, such as vocabulary assessments (Petersen, Tonn, Spencer & Foster, 2020). However, this approach does not accurately assess a child's knowledge if they have limited language exposure or speak a different language (Petersen et al., 2020). Standardized assessment measures what a child already knows rather than what they can learn. It is a more interactive approach involving evaluation, teaching, and subsequent assessment to distinguish between language differences and disability (Hussain & Woods, 2019). According to ASHA guidelines, various formal and informal instruments should assess bilingual students using standardized testing, dynamic assessment, parent interviews, and a case history (Petersen et al., 2017; Arias & Friberg, 2007). Case history and parent input are essential to any language

evaluation and provide information about the child's cultural, linguistic, and familial differences (Caesar & Kohler, 2007).

Parent Involvement in the Referral and Assessment Process

Parent participation in educational placement decisions is vital to the special education process and is mandated by IDEA (Lim & Cheatham, 2021). IDEA states that parents should be involved in the special education process's referral, evaluation, and placement stages (Lim & Cheatham, 2021). Unfortunately, family participation is much lower among culturally and linguistically diverse (CLD) families (Aceves, 2014

When communication between educators and families is poor, it may result in the neglect of important information, such as the child's developmental and medical history, which is often a result of educators not providing all essential information to families in their native language or through the utilization of interpreters (Aceves 2014). In addition, families not supplied with crucial information, including the referral and assessment process details, could be viewed as uninterested or uninvolved, leading to unfair bias against parents (Aceves, 2014). Differences in cultural perspective and communication styles are two critical factors impacting poor interaction between school professionals and families (Lim & Cheatham, 2021).

A culture-centered approach to communication has been suggested to improve interactions between CLD families and educators, and a specific communication style for a given cultural group has been used (Rosetti et al., 2017; Hall, 1981). Communication styles involve high-context cultures (e.g., Asian, African, Middle Eastern, Central European, and Latin American) and low-context cultures (e.g., Western European, Northern American) and differ in how information is shared (Voulgarides & Barrio, 2021; Webb et al., 2019). In addition, differences can involve direct and indirect communication methods such as direct, explicit

language and rules versus implicit language (Williams-Duncan, 2020). The consideration of cultural differences show to improve communication between minority families and educators and specific communication needs throughout the special education process (Voulgarides & Barrio, 2021; Hart, Cheatham, & Jimenez-Silva, 2012).

Monolingual ideology has influenced bias toward culturally and linguistically diverse families and its impact on special education services (Rowe, 2022; Ortega, 2014; Ellis, 2006; Edwards, 2003). The monolingual ideology impacts how parents feel toward their ability to understand English when it is not their native language. Some parents feel guilty for not fully understanding the dominant language and, therefore, do not challenge any decisions made by school professionals (Lim & Cheatham, 2021). Families often feel insecure about their English-speaking abilities and are discouraged by the English-dominant language used in their child's eligibility and individualized education plan (IEP) meetings (Rosetti et al., 2017; Cummings & Hardin, 2017; Toribio, 2000; Macaulay, 1997).

Amendments to the IDEA in 1997 increased parental involvement in developing Individualized Family Service Plans (IFSPs) and IEPs (Jung, 2011). Increased parental involvement made parents members of the IEP team by allowing them to provide information about the student, have input on eligibility decisions, and participate in the development of the IEP (Rosetti et al., 2017; Kalyananpur, Harry & Skrtic, 2000). Although these mandates are through IDEA, studies consistently show that parent participation in eligibility determination and annual review of IEPs are not as noticeable, influential, or equal as those professional members of the IEP team, which is especially true for minority parents and those from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds (Landmark et al. 2020; Song, Zhang, & Landmark, 2018; Jung, 201; Spann, Kohler, & Soenksen, 2003).

These minority parents and caregivers show less involvement in the evaluation process and the development of IEP goals and services (Song, Zhang, & Landmark, 2018).

Factors that Impact Family Participation

Parent participation in the special education identification process is required through IDEA but is also necessary for strengthening the student's overall achievement (Burke et al., 2021). Compared to CLD families, White, upper-and middle-class families often have advantages in the comprehensive assessment process, eligibility determination, and the development of IEP goals and services (Gerzel-Short et al., 2019). However, some factors identify low participation from minority families. For example, language barriers and bias against families who exhibit differences in cultural perspectives are factors that impact low parent involvement with diverse cultural and linguistic backgrounds (Cioe-Pena, 2020; Landmark et al., 2020; Song et al., 2018; Blanchette, Klingner, & Harry, 2009; Harry, 1992).

Since parents typically know their children better than their educators, their input could contribute significantly to determining eligibility for special education services. Unfortunately, these parents' input does not seem to have the same value as professionals (Rosetti et al., 2018). Educators may stereotype cultural groups, ignore cultural traditions or customs, assume parents do not have a complete understanding of the evaluation process, and use language that parents are unfamiliar with, which hinders parent participation in the evaluation process and places less value on the input they do provide (Chang et al., 2022; Kalyanpar et al., 2000). In addition, professional expertise is often assumed in the assessment and decision-making process when considering the need for special education services. Professional expertise adopted Western attitudes and behaviors toward CLD parents (Landmark et al., 2022; Song et al., 2018).

Language Barriers. Linguistic differences and language barriers account for a significant decrease in parent involvement throughout the special education process. Ethnic and cultural differences also impact parental perspectives on school services (Zionts et al., 2003). English-speaking parents have often felt uncomfortable during special education identification meetings due to unfamiliarity with the educators' jargon (Zeitlin & Curcic, 2014). Families whose dominant language is not English face many more challenges during identification due to language barriers (Cavendish & Connor, 2018). Families from diverse cultural and linguistic backgrounds report issues with not having documents given to them in their native language and not being provided with interpreters to communicate with teachers (Francis et al., 2018). Poor communication between teachers and parents often leads to parents not learning that their child is struggling until the referral is made by their teacher or receiving information that is not in their primary language (Cavendish & Connor, 2018).

Parents report exclusion from their child's prereferral and referral process. Before formal meetings, educators involved in the referral process have had time to discuss concerns with the student; however, the parent is typically unaware of the problems (Buren et al., 2020). Spanish-speaking parents have experienced a complete lack of communication with their child's teacher, and the teacher does not have adequate knowledge of the special education process (Burke et al., 2021; Lim & Cheatham, 2021). Many non-English-speaking families report giving consent for a special education evaluation without fully understanding the process and feeling pressure from the school system (Urtubey, 2020). Non-English-speaking parents indicate that even if a translator provides services during meetings, the review of the documentation they sign is not in their native language (Rosetti et al., 2020). School collaboration with CLD families can assist in the referral and assessment process by providing appropriate translation opportunities and by

giving families adequate opportunities to share their child's abilities and interests based on their cultural perspective (Gerzel-Short, Kiru, Hsiao, Hovey, Wei, & Miller, 2019).

Impact of Cultural Differences in Parental Involvement.

Language barriers commonly cause low parent involvement; however, educators' lack of cultural beliefs and traditions discourages parent participation throughout the assessment and IEP process (Zionts, Harrison, and Bellinger (2000). Parents can offer insight into their cultural practices with their child's teacher, promote classroom engagement and participation, and improve academic performance. Unfortunately, this parent insight is not always considered (Gerzel-Short et al., 2019). African Americans report frustration with the cultural misunderstandings by their child's predominately Caucasian teachers. As a result, they tend to offer fewer suggestions during their IEP meetings and understand less about the services they receive (Zionts, Harrison, and Bellinger (200; Wolfe & Durán, 2013). African American parents have also reported feeling disrespected by school personnel for themselves and their child, feeling a lack of assistance and support for their child, having a desire for a better understanding of their culture by school personnel, and feeling stereotyped (Zionts et al., 2003; Kiramba, Kumi-Yeboah, Smith, & Sallar, 2021).

Several minority groups struggle academically from various cultural and linguistic differences, such as varying family values, teacher perspectives and expectations, lack of parental and student guidance on educational choices, and racial/ethnic discrimination (Walker, 2008). The consequences of poor engagement by the family during the special education referral process include lesser quality of services, more segregated educational placements, and unreliable diagnostic practices, which occur due to parents being unable to share valuable information about their children by either not having an opportunity or not feeling comfortable

about sharing that information (Cioe-Pena, 2020; Rossetti, Sauer, Bui, & Ou, 2017; Wolfe & Duran, 2013).

All members of an IEP team, including general education teachers and evaluation specialists, are tasked with the initial decision to make a student eligible or non-eligible to receive special education services (Rossetti, Redash, Sauer, Bui, Wen, & Regensburger, 2020). Parents must have equal participation and input in initial eligibility decisions (Rossetti et al., 2020). Unfortunately, parents do not feel they have equity in eligibility decisions or the development of their child's IEP (Rossetti et al., 2020).

Summary

A review of the literature reveals the issue of disproportionality among minority students in special education. The theoretical framework of Vygotsky's sociocultural theory states that children's intellectual development occurs when they communicate with others, and instruction includes their natural language (Ellis, 2004; Bodrova, 2003). Schools in the US have consistently experienced demographic changes in students' race, culture, and language, which has led to disparities among minority students in special education. These disparities link cultural and language differences, which influence teacher referrals, teachers' personal beliefs and attitudes toward students with disabilities, the self-efficacy of school psychologists and speech-language pathologists' self-efficacy, and various cultural and linguistic assessment tools. Patterns occur specifically with the overrepresentation of EL students in special education who are language impaired or have a specific language disorder (NCES, 2021; Othman, 2018; Sinclair et al., 2018; Sepúlveda-Miranda., Otero & Moreno-Torres, 2018).

The sociocultural theory states that learning occurs between an individual student and their culture (Vygotsky, 1977). The theory proposes that learners acquire knowledge from each other

and peers who assist them in more complex learning through individuals in their environment (Bodrova, 2003). This theory is a way to guide educators and assessment specialists in educating, referring, and assessing diverse students by emphasizing their specific cultural interactions. Unfortunately, there is a lack of literature showing evidence that culturally diverse students are being allowed to have these interactions.

The literature is unclear on how general education teachers and assessment specialists account for cultural diversity and how comfortable they are with the referral and assessment process of minority students to special education. There is also an evident gap in the literature explaining why the issue of overrepresentation continues to occur despite evidence of disproportionality in special education, federal mandates, and numerous efforts made by various CRE organizations (Park, 2020).

General education teachers are essential in educating students with diverse cultural and linguistic backgrounds by building strong oral-language and literacy skills, providing differentiated instruction, and creating warm and well-managed classrooms (Ramu, 2017; Banse & Palacios, 2018). On the other hand, special education referrals are primarily based on the teacher's reasons for the referral, suggesting that the overrepresentation of minorities correlates to teachers not distinguishing between cultural diversity and disability (Chu, 2011; Green & Stormont, 2018; Unmasky et al., 2018).

Teacher attitude and extent of training impact how students are taught and evaluated. Still, there is a lack of evidence identifying ways in which educators are controlling for cultural and linguistic differences in their classrooms. There are also discrepancies in how general education teachers approach culturally diverse students and their attitudes toward making special education referrals. Teachers' attitudes toward students with disabilities impact how successful these

students will be academically, socially, and emotionally (Chu, 2011; Hoang & Dalimonte, 2007). Although numerous contributing factors have been identified in research resulting in the disproportionality of EL students in special education, literature has not identified educators' beliefs regarding the referral process (Park, 2020).

In addition to classroom teachers, assessment specialists such as school psychologists and speech-language pathologists can impact the disproportionality of minority students in special education. Research shows that evaluations may not accurately reflect what a student knows, but what they do to avoid disparities is unclear. A significant problem with standardized testing is that assessment items with complex linguistic concepts can potentially negatively impact assessment outcomes for ELLs (Abedi, Zhang, Rowe, & Lee, 2020). Additionally, standardized assessments often do not consider cultural and linguistic differences, and many EL students are unfamiliar with the assessment language (Abedi, Zhang, Rowe, & Lee, 2020; Harris et al., 2015). Although there are guidelines for assessment specialists to follow, there appear to be deficits among school psychologists and SLPs regarding assessment practices for EL students (Harris et al., 2015). School psychologists and speech-language pathologists often lack training in cultural issues such as second language acquisition (Harris et al., 2015).

Using culturally and linguistically responsive (CLR) assessments, such as dynamic assessment, ensures that cultural and linguistic features are valued in the evaluation process (Hoover et al., 2018). Unfortunately, SLPs have reported having inadequate access to culturally responsive assessments, low confidence levels, and limited knowledge and skills (Guiberson & Atkins, 2010; Hammer et al., 2004; Williams & McLeod, 2012). Educators involved with the referral, assessment, and identification of disability provide multiple sources of information regarding culturally and linguistically diverse students. Further research is needed to address the

gap in the literature regarding the personal beliefs of general educators, parents of culturally and linguistically diverse students, school psychologists, and SLPs on when and how to best support minority students in special education through processes of identification through referral and assessment.

Chapter Three: Methods

Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of educators in the identification process of minority students to special education in Tennessee elementary schools. Through the socio-cultural framework, this study examined educators' experiences with providing differentiated instruction and accommodations for minority students in the classroom before special education referral. This chapter outlines and provides a rationale for choosing the phenomenological design, setting, and participant criteria. Next, the study outlines procedures and the researcher's role. Data collection methods are detailed, including in-person interviews, focus group interviews, and letter writing. Detailed descriptions of the transcendental phenomenological model for data analysis are in the following sections. The chapter ends with the considerations to ensure the study is trustworthy and ethical.

Research Design

A qualitative research design guided this study, which is research that is interpretive and involves a naturalistic approach to the world (Glesne, 2006). A qualitative research approach examines societal phenomena occurring in natural settings, collects data in natural environments, and uses inductive and deductive data analysis to identify themes or patterns (Balmer & Richards, 2022). Qualitative research gives participants a voice by identifying and interpreting a societal problem. The qualitative research approach enabled data collection from educators within a school setting and identified themes provided by participants.

Phenomenology is an approach to comprehensively describing individuals' lived experiences and describing their ordinary meaning (Williams, 2021; Van Manen, 1990; Moustakas, 1994). A phenomenological study allows the researcher to analyze the essence of an

individual's experience based on how they describe, interpret, and feel about a phenomenon (Patton, 2002; Moustakas, 1994).

The transcendental phenomenological design allowed the researcher to set aside any presuppositions or biases before researching educators' experiences, known as epoche (Moustakas, 1994). Epoche requires the researcher to view a particular phenomenon in a new way and to look at things to distinguish and describe details of the phenomenon (Moustakas, 1994). The transcendental phenomenological approach informs readers about what was involved in the experiences of elementary school educators involved in the referral and assessment process.

Research Questions

Central Research Question

What are educators' experiences identifying minority students referred to special education in Tennessee Elementary Schools?

Sub-Question One

How do K-5 educators identify minority students for referral to special education?

Sub-Question Two

What information do K-5 educators consider besides academic performance and standardized assessment scores when determining special education eligibility for minority students?

Sub-Question Three

How do K-5 educators incorporate cultural and language differences in eligibility determination?

Setting and Participants

The study selected sites based on location, socioeconomic community, and school population diversity. Participants included teachers, school psychologists, speech-language pathologists, and English as a second language (ESL) teachers involved in referring and assessing students for special education.

Site

The sites chosen for the focus of this study were three elementary schools in East Tennessee. CBES, LES, and WES schools house grades K -5 and contain a principal, assistant principal, school psychologist, speech-language pathologist, and ESL teacher. In addition, the selected sites for this study employ educators with experience in the referral and assessment of students for special education.

Participants

Phenomenological research seeks to interpret individuals' lived experiences; therefore, this study aimed to describe educators' experiences in the referral and assessment process for special education. There are no sample size restrictions in qualitative research; however, it suggests that the sample size for qualitative studies should be small enough to manage collected data but large enough to provide an adequate understanding of the phenomenon (Sandelowski, 1995). This study included ten participants consisting of a combination of K-fifth grade general education teachers of core content areas, school psychologists, speech-language pathologists, and ESL teachers with at least three years of experience, ranging in age, ethnicity, gender, and years of experience.

Researcher Positionality

As a speech-language pathologist, I need clarification from educators and specialists on when to assess and qualify students with cultural and language differences. Therefore, I was interested in identifying factors related to the overrepresentation of minority students referred for special education. Through the social constructivism framework, I studied whether minority groups are over-identified for special education. Social constructivism is a learning theory based on the ideas of Vygotsky (1978) that development occurs socially, and students acquire knowledge through interactions (McKinley, 2015). This framework helps analyze how people's ideas relate to individual experiences (Creswell, 2009).

Interpretive Framework

The social constructivism framework guided this study through understanding the world and developing meanings based on their experiences and interactions (Creswell, 2013). This research described educators' personal experiences in the referral and assessment process of minority students. Additionally, this study inquired if and how educators ensure that minority students are referred and assessed for special education in ways that consider cultural differences. The research goal was to describe the experiences of educators in the referral and assessment processes of minority students to special education in Tennessee elementary schools.

Philosophical Assumptions

Philosophical assumptions reflecting the researcher's values and belief systems were the basis of this study. These assumptions enabled readers of this study to understand the researcher's worldview and the approach of this research. The researcher addressed the study's approach through ontological, epistemological, and axiological assumptions.

Ontological Assumption

The ontological assumption asks what the nature of reality is and characterizes multiple views of reality where the researcher reports on numerous perspectives (Hoijer, 2008). While I believe there is only one actual reality, I recognize that multiple perspectives exist among individuals about a specific phenomenon. I hold worldviews based on family culture and background. My beliefs result from my upbringing, cultural practices, and life experiences. When studying other cultures, I realize that others come from cultures that differ significantly from mine. This research examined the experiences of educators involved with the referral and assessment process for special education in K-5 schools.

Epistemological Assumption

The knowledge individuals obtain to help them understand the world and share it with others involves how they receive knowledge and what is true or false defines epistemological assumptions (Golden & Wendel, 2020). Through this research, I gained understanding by speaking with participants and listening to them describe their firsthand experiences, which is how I believe individuals obtain knowledge. I learned this from participants through interviews, focus groups, and letter writing. I relied on answers, quotes, and discussions to understand the perspective of the participants. To gain an understanding of the participants' views, gathering information in the field in which they work was conducted in the home schools of each participant (Mitchell & Demir, 2021). I collected data from participants to gain insight into their experiences of educators working with minority students referred to special education and identified differences in the participants' points of view, allowing me to gain insight into the background of educators. This study included gathering data from and spending time with participants, a characteristic of the epistemological assumption (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Axiological Assumption

The axiological assumption describes the researcher's values and how they bring them to the study (Creswell & Poth, 2018). I have 17 years of experience working as a speech-language pathologist involving the referral and assessment process of children with various backgrounds. I have worked in an elementary school with a 60% Hispanic population where many students referred for a speech or language assessment were English language learners. Teachers are often uncertain about when a referral is necessary for these students compared to non-English learners. An example I have encountered is teachers needing to understand the differences between language acquisition and language disorder. Throughout this study, I identified my assumptions to the reader. There is an overrepresentation of minority students in special education due to a lack of consideration of language, culture, and racial factors in the referral and assessment processes. I bracketed my assumptions through self-reflection and set them aside to make my findings accurate (Tufford & Newman, 2010).

Researcher's Role

The phrase *researcher-as-instrument* references researchers who are active respondents in the research process; therefore, in conducting qualitative research, I became the instrument (Pezalla, Pettigrew, & Miller-Day, 2012). In addition, throughout my experience working as an SLP, I have gained an interest in other areas of special education, which led me to pursue my doctoral degree. Therefore, I chose this study to increase my knowledge of special education issues, contribute more insight into special education teams and administration in my schools, and pursue a career in higher education.

I currently have no affiliation with the three elementary schools in which I conducted my research. Although I am an employee in the same school system, I do not have any professional

responsibilities at my selected schools, nor do I have any professional or personal relationship with any of the school's employees. As the researcher, I used my prior knowledge and expertise to establish rapport with participants and gain a deeper understanding of their experiences.

In this research study, I provided participants with interview questions. I asked each of them in person and recorded their answers. I also conducted focus group interviews, separating participants into small, mixed groups comprised of educators, general education teachers, ELL teachers, and school psychologists/SLPs. In addition to individual and focus group interviews, I asked each participant to write a letter addressing it to themselves before beginning their educational career. Finally, I acknowledged that I have personal views, experiences, and biases toward the assessment of minority students for speech and language deficits based on my work history, and I disclosed those biases, reflected on those throughout the study, and set them aside to remain neutral during data collection and analysis.

Procedures

I began by submitting my application to the Institutional Review Board at Liberty University. See Appendix A. Along with my application, I included the permission request letter (Appendix B), response template for the school superintendent (Appendix C), recruitment materials (Appendix D), consent materials (Appendix E), interview questions (Appendix F), focus group questions (Appendix G), and letter writing prompt (Appendix H). Once I obtained IRB and site approval, I used purposeful sampling to find participants, allowing for the intentional selection of participants with similar and knowledgeable experiences (Palinkas, 2015; Patton, 2002).

Permissions

I began my research by conversing with administrators from each potential school site. I informed principles and assistant principles that I am a doctoral student seeking a school setting to conduct research. I also explained to administrators my dissertation topic and how approval to conduct my research at their school would benefit my study. Next, I obtained permission from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Liberty University. See Appendix A for the IRB approval form. Once I received approval from the IRB, I sent a formal letter to the superintendent of schools. I explained the details of my study, the participants I would be seeking, and the activities I would be doing while at their school to obtain permission to conduct research in the selected school system and contact educators. See Appendix B for the school superintendent's letter. Finally, I gave the superintendent a permission response letter to the researcher with their decision to allow the study. See Appendix C for the response letter.

Recruitment Plan

After obtaining approval from the Institutional Review Board at Liberty University and permission from the superintendent of schools, I began the participant recruitment process. I started by sending a recruitment letter (Appendix D) via email to the sample pool consisting of 125 K-5 general education teachers, 10 school psychologists, 6 SLPs, and 8 ELL teachers within the school district, stating the purpose of the study and steps to take if interested in participation. In addition, the letter described the topic of the study, participation criteria, tentative interview and focus group questions, and an explanation of the letter writing prompt. I also provided my personal contact information so that any potential participant could ask questions about their involvement in the study and attached the educator participant consent letter. See Appendix E for the educator participant consent form.

I used purposeful sampling to begin gathering participants for my study. Purposeful sampling deliberately selects participants for a study based on the researcher's knowledge of them (Polkinghorne, 2005). This qualitative study aimed to describe the lived experiences of educators working in the special education referral and assessment process for minority students. Therefore, to be selected for this study, I purposively sought 10-15 educators who met one of the following criteria: general education teacher in grades K-5th, school psychologist, speech-language pathologist, or ESL teacher. I selected each qualifying respondent interested in participating based on their professional role and interest. There are no explicit guidelines for the number of participants in qualitative research. However, smaller sample sizes allow the researcher to gain more in-depth information than larger sample sizes (Subedi, 2021; Patton, 2015). This study's sample consisted of participants from the four educator groups with a minimum sample size of 12 participants. I chose a maximum of fifteen to keep the sample size relatively small.

Data Collection Approach

I achieved triangulation through in-person interviews, focus group interviews, and letter writing. I began with in-person, semi-structured interviews to establish a relationship and trust with participants and to allow them to ask questions about the study if needed (Glesne, 2006). Establishing a relationship enabled participants to understand the purpose of the research and be familiar with the researcher. Interview questions also allowed participants to elaborate on answers. See Appendix F for individual interview questions. After completing the in-person interviews, I scheduled small, mixed, focus group interviews with each group of participants from the four educator groups. Finally, I collected letters that I asked educators to write addressed to their younger selves before beginning their careers in education.

Individual Interviews

I began each interview with a formal introduction. I thanked the participants for agreeing to participate in the study, allowing them to become comfortable with the research before starting the interview questions. Qualitative interviews should encourage participation through natural conversations (Bolderston, 2012). I began each discussion by asking the participants to tell me about themselves to establish a rapport. Once participants felt comfortable, I started asking questions and guiding them to explain their lived experiences in the referral, assessment, and identification process of minority students considered for special education. I conducted semi-structured interviews to allow unanticipated answers to structured questions (Frances, Patricia, & Coughlan, 2009). I informed participants of the date and time that interviews would occur at the selected elementary school. I explained how the face-to-face interview process would proceed by giving them the total number of questions and informing them that I would record the interview but would not share it with anyone. I asked interview questions and audio-recorded through an iPhone and voice recorder. Once each interview was complete, I transcribed the audio recording to text only.

Table 1

Individual Live Interview Questions

- 1. How did you become interested in working in the educational field? CRQ
- 2. What is your educational background? CRQ
- 3. What is your current position, including your title and responsibilities? CRQ
- 4. What are your experiences in the referral/assessment/identification process of EL students considered for special education in grades k-5 in East Tennessee Elementary Schools? SQ1

- 5. What is your experience in the referral/assessment/identification process working with racial minorities considered for special education in grades k-5 in East Tennessee Elementary Schools? SQ1
- 6. What is your role in assessing students for special education (SPED) services? SQ2
- 7. How would you describe your comfort level with referring/assessing minority students for special education services? SQ1
- 8. How do language differences affect your special education referral/assessment/identification process? SQ3
- How do racial differences affect your special education referral/assessment/identification process? SQ3
- 10. How do cultural differences affect your special education referral/assessment/identification process? SQ3
- 11. What experiences have you had with providing learning opportunities in students' native language? SQ2
- 12. How do you describe your understanding of developmental differences among various cultures? SQ3
- 13. What experiences have you had working with students in grades K-12 from diverse cultural backgrounds? SQ2
- 14. What experiences have you had with accommodating students from diverse cultures in grades K-12? SQ2
- 15. What professional development experiences have you had related to accommodating minority students in grades K-12? SQ2

- 16. What experiences have you had distinguishing between academic underachievement and cultural/linguistic differences in K-12 students? SQ3
- 17. What professional development would you benefit most regarding distinguishing between academic underachievement and cultural/linguistic differences in K-12 students? SQ1
- 18. What professional development would you benefit most regarding referring and assessing minority students in grades K-12 for special education? SQ1

Interview questions one and two focused on the participants' overall experiences. Questions 3 through 6 focused on the experiences of educators in the special education referral and assessment process of minority students. Questions 7-13 addressed the experiences of educators in accommodating students with diverse language and cultural backgrounds. Questions 14-17 asked educators about their experiences with professional development addressing minority students in referral and assessment for special education.

Individual Interview Data Analysis Plan

Data analysis began with epochē, or bracketing, to identify my personal bias about the study. My previous knowledge and experience relating to the study topic and my personal beliefs about the subject were recorded in a bracketing journal. This process continued during data collection, analysis, and reporting findings. Once I completed bracketing personal biases, I began data analysis of in-person interviews. After I collected in-person interview data, I used Moustakas' (1994) transcendental phenomenological model for data analysis. Through this analysis model, phenomenological reduction assisted with managing large chunks of data (Jacobs, 2013). I achieved phenomenological reduction by thoroughly reviewing all transcribed interviews, generating codes, and organizing codes into themes. Researchers code data by

assigning symbols to meaningful data attributes that help with concluding (Saldana, 2013). The phenomenological reduction process began by bracketing keywords and phrases related to how educators have experienced working with minority students in special education.

I read the transcription line by line and assigned symbols and descriptive terms to meaningful data segments while utilizing the memoing process (Nieuwenhuis, 2007). I placed components of coded data into categories and added them to a log for constant comparisons, interpretation, and conceptualization (Birks et al., 2008; Glaser, 1978). I used Computer Assisted Qualitative Data Analysis Software (CAQDAS) to store, organize, manage, and reconfigure data using ATLAS.ti software.

After each coding cycle, I created themes relating to my research questions and labeled them. First, I gave textural and structural descriptions of the themes to obtain the essence of all reported experiences. Next, I used the process of horizonalization (Moustakas, 1994) to assign equal value to statements relating to the overrepresentation of minority students in special education to cluster the horizons into themes. Finally, I created sub-themes by removing any statements unsupported by the primary responses and assigning textural descriptions from all sub-themes about each research question. (Van Manen, 1990).

Focus Group Interviews

Focus groups are individuals selected by a researcher to discuss firsthand experiences of a selected topic. They usually involve between six and twelve participants with similar characteristics relevant to the researcher (Sagoe, 2012). Focus group interviews offer a more natural environment for participants and facilitate discussions among the group, providing more information than formal interviews (Dilshad & Latif, 2013).

I grouped participants into two groups consisting of general education teachers, ELL teachers, school psychologists, and SLPs for focus group discussions, allowing each participant to participate in a small group environment. Each focus group met in person at an agreed-upon location, and I recorded conversations using an iPhone and voice recorder. In addition, I gave participants in each group a set of guiding questions that I organized, facilitated, and controlled to promote discussion (Dilshad & Latif, 2013). Each participant could answer, comment, and expound upon each question.

Table 2

Focus Group Questions

- In what ways have you ever disagreed with minority students receiving a referral for a special education assessment? SQ1
- 2. How do you feel about the appropriateness of the special education referral process for minority students? SQ1
- 3. How do you feel about the appropriateness of the special education assessment process for minority students? SQ1
- 4. How would you describe your communication with other general education teachers and related staff during the referral and assessment process for minority students? SQ1
- 5. How do you feel about minority students with a referral to special education being equal to non-minority students with referrals for special education? SQ2
- 6. How have you modified classroom instruction or assessment practices for students from diverse backgrounds? SQ3

Question one asked participants to explain if they have ever disagreed with special education referrals of minority students. Questions two and three asked the participants to describe their

feelings on the appropriateness of special education referral and assessment for minority students. Question four asked about the participant's experiences communicating with other educators related to minority students during the referral and assessment process. Question five asked educators to explain how they felt about the equality of special education referrals among minority and non-minority students. Finally, question six asked educators to describe ways they have modified classroom instruction or assessment practices for minority students referred for special education.

Focus Group Data Analysis Plan

After the focus group interviews, I transcribed the recording in its entirety immediately after the conclusion of the discussion. Following the transcription of the recording, I read the transcripts from the focus group discussions multiple times to understand the phenomenon (Moustakas, 1994). First, I reviewed the transcription data, used memoing to assign symbols and descriptive terms to meaningful segments, and used coding to identify the main ideas (Anderson, 1990). Next, I grouped data into codes based on group discussion and labeled each code (Birks, Chapman, & Francis, 2008). Next, I used the process of horizonalization to assign equal value to statements made about the research topic to cluster horizons into themes for interpretation and organize themes into textural and structural descriptions (Moustakas, 1994).

Letter-Writing

Letter writing is a data collection method used in personal experience research to establish meaning from experiences (Clandinin & Connelly, 1998). Letter writing allows participants to express what they wish they had learned earlier in life or in their educational experiences. I asked each participant to write a letter to their younger self using the following prompt: "As an elementary educator, what would you tell your younger self to be better prepared

for referring and assessing minority students from different cultural backgrounds to special education?" I asked participants to complete the letter and return it to the researcher within two weeks of receiving the prompt.

Letter Writing Data Analysis Plan

Once I received all the letters, I began reading each letter. First, I used memoing while reviewing the notes using coding to assign symbols and descriptive terms to meaningful segments and to identify main ideas (Anderson, 1990). Next, I grouped data into codes based on participants' information and assigned a label to each code (Birks et al., 2008). The final step was to identify themes that were interpreted and organized into textural and structural descriptions (Moustakas, 1994).

Data Synthesis

I began synthesizing data with epoché or bracketing to identify my personal bias about the study. I continued to record previous knowledge and experience relating to the survey topic, along with my personal beliefs about the subject, in a bracketing journal. After collecting and analyzing data from individual live interviews, focus group interviews, and observations, I synthesized data through phenomenological reduction. Phenomenological reduction allows the researcher to describe a phenomenon's lived experiences and features by eliminating repetitive or overlapping elements (Moustakas, 1994). Through horizonalization, I reduced the data collected from individual live interviews, focus group interviews, and observations into units of meaning or horizons.

Horizonalization allowed me to apply textural meaning to the studied phenomenon (Moustakas, 1994). Following the process of phenomenological reduction, I continued to synthesize data through imaginative variation. This process relies on the researcher's imagination

to compose data descriptions through various perspectives, positions, and roles (Moustakas, 1994). Finally, I reported the essential, invariant structure or essence of the phenomenon by synthesizing the experiences of different participants in the various contexts in which their experiences occurred. I reported participants' experiences and how they were experienced and related the evidence to the study's research questions.

Once I completed horizonalization and identified and clustered core themes, I compared data from all sources and constructed textural and structural descriptions of participants. The textural descriptions comprised a narrative describing the participants' experiences with referral and assessment of minority students for special education. The structural report consisted of a narrative based on how I imagined the incidents occurring through imaginative variation (Moustakas, 1994).

Trustworthiness

Researchers determine the accuracy or credibility of the study's findings to establish the study's trustworthiness (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Lincoln and Guba (1985) showed four ways to find reliability in qualitative research: credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability, which I used for this study (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Additionally, I established trustworthiness by explaining the procedures chosen for the research and the justification for those procedures (Adler, 2022).

Credibility

Credibility refers to the extent to which the study's findings accurately describe reality according to participants' perceptions as a proximation of the truth of the phenomenon in question (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). I established credibility through triangulation, peer debriefing, and member-checking. Method triangulation is achieved by using multiple data sources to

develop an understanding of phenomena (Carter, 2014; Patton, 1999). Data collection methods included live in-person interviews, focus group interviews, and letter writing. In addition, I achieved data source triangulation by collecting data from several types of participants, including general education teachers, school psychologists, SLPs, and ELL teachers, to gain multiple perspectives (Carter, 2014).

I also used the peer-debriefing technique frequently throughout my study to further support the credibility of data and establish the trustworthiness of my findings. The debriefing allowed me to consult colleagues familiar with my research to discuss data collection, data analysis, and perspectives on findings (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). My third approach to establishing credibility was through member checking. Member checking is a method to ensure the data collected accurately represents the participant's perspective (Candela, 2019; Gliner, 1994). After I interpreted the data, I completed member checking with each participant to confirm and clarify the information provided to ensure I interpreted their responses accurately.

Transferability

Transferability reveals how a study may be applicable in other contexts by giving a detailed description of the findings (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). I described the experiences of educators involved in various roles in the referral and assessment process for special education in elementary schools varying in location and socioeconomic status. While I created conditions to ensure transferability, the reader determined if the study met the criteria.

Dependability

Dependability refers to how stable a study's data is over time and different conditions, and recognizing how conditions can change throughout the setting and design is a reason for establishing dependability (Janis, 2022). Achieving dependability comes by providing precise

and comprehensive descriptions of a study's procedures, supporting evidence from literature, and establishing consistent alignment between the study's title, purpose, and research questions, allowing for replication (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). In addition, researchers can achieve consistency by tracking changes throughout the study. I used an inquiry audit through a committee and qualitative director review at Liberty University to establish the study's dependability.

Confirmability

Confirmability is "the extent to which participants shape the study's findings and not by the researcher's bias, motivation, or interest" (Hagood & Skinner, 2015, p. 432). I utilized three techniques to ensure the confirmability of this study. The first technique was the use of a detailed audit trail. See Appendix I. An audit trail in qualitative research consists of data generated by the researcher that is consistently organized throughout the research process (Rodgers & Cowles, 1993). An audit trail tracked the study's procedures and raw data and analyzed and synthesized data. Second, I used method triangulation by collecting data from individual interviews, focus group interviews, and letter writing (Polit & Beck, 2012). Finally, I incorporated reflexivity throughout the study by recording potentially sensitive or ethical issues that may affect data analysis (Forero et al., 2018).

Ethical Considerations

I followed ethical guidelines to safeguard the rights of educators participating in this study. I obtained the approval of the Liberty University institutional review board (See Appendix A) and sought permission from the school system's superintendent (See Appendix B). After obtaining informed consent from participants (See Appendix D), I explained the purpose of my research to participants. I explained that their participation was strictly voluntary and they had

the right to withdraw from the study at any time. I treated participants fairly and equitably and informed participants that the collected data was confidential. Physical and electronic data will be secured for three years after the completion of the study per LU IRB. I secured physical data in a locked filing cabinet and secured electronic data through password-protected files. I will shred physical data and delete electronic data after three years. I reported all data honestly and used appropriate language for the research audiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018). I have made my report available to participants in the study.

Summary

Chapter three outlines how the transcendental phenomenological research design described the experiences of educators in the referral and assessment processes of minority students to special education in Tennessee elementary schools. I used purposeful sampling to select participants with expertise and knowledge of working with minority students in various special education roles. I collected data by conducting in-person interviews, focus group interviews, and letter writing. I completed data analysis using Moustakas' transcendental phenomenological model. Finally, I used phenomenological reduction to synthesize all the data.

CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS

Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of educators in the referral and assessment processes of minority students to special education in Tennessee elementary schools. The phenomenological approach allows the researcher to explore the lived experiences of a specific group and reduce their individual experiences into a common shared experience (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The central research question allows the researcher to examine the experiences of ten educators in identifying minority students referred to special education in Tennessee Elementary Schools. This chapter provides background information for each participant in a narrative form of the data, including themes, subthemes, and codes. Themes in tables organize the data. The responses to the central research question and sub-questions concluded this chapter.

Participants

The population of this research study was ten educators, including K-12 general education teachers, ESL teachers, school psychologists, and speech-language pathologists who work at East Tennessee elementary schools (see Table 1). The eligibility criteria included being a current educator within an East Tennessee school system with at least three years of experience. This study solicited participants via email (see Appendix D). Educators received an information sheet (see Appendix E) with an in-depth explanation of the study once they responded with an agreement to participate. The research tasks began with scheduled individual interviews with each educator. The interactive parts of the research tasks (individual interviews and focus group sessions) took place in person. After completing the focus group interview, the participants received the journal writing prompt and completed the prompt within two weeks of receiving it

(See Appendix H). Each educator who participated received a pseudonym.

Table 3 *Teacher Participants*

Teacher Participant	Years of Experience	Title
Abby	5	SLP
Beth	15	ESL Teacher
Cathy	28	ESL Teacher
Donna	10	School Psychologist
Renee	22	SLP
Sarah	8	School Psychologist
Meagan	8	Kindergarten Teacher
Tom	30	School Psychologist
Katrina	6	3 rd Grade Teacher
Kim	12	ESL Teacher

Educator 01- Abby

Abby currently works as a full-time speech-language pathologist at an elementary school. She serves children in grades K-5th with various communication delays. Abby has a bachelor's and master's degree in speech-language pathology. She became interested in the field because she felt she should work in education. "I always wanted to be in education, I think that's just kind of what girls are taught as one of their options." As a school-based SLP, Abby's responsibilities include case management, reporting diagnostic evaluations to general education teachers, administrators, and families, IEP paperwork, updating progress reports, implementing IEPs, speech and language screenings, providing classroom interventions to teachers, and carrying out

therapy. Abby stated that her experiences with referral and assessment of minority students to special education have been positive. She said, "I haven't noticed any disparities in how our teachers refer. It seems to be across the board and is more data-driven rather than an opinion."

Educator 02- Beth

Beth currently works full-time as an ESL teacher for grades K-5. Beth began her career in higher education, having previously worked at two universities before her current position. Her degrees include a bachelor's degree in cross-cultural sociology and a master's in teaching English as a second language. She became interested in teaching English as a second language due to her childhood. She is a second-generation American and feels like her mother did not teach her as much as she could have, which led her to become an ESL teacher. Overall, Beth reported experiences with the referral of minority students to special education as difficult. "It is extremely difficult to get students with another language listed on their home language survey into special education services."

Educator 03-Donna

Donna is currently a school psychologist who works with students in grades K-5. She began her career as a social worker before moving into school psychology. She has a bachelor's degree in applied behavioral science and a master's in educational psychology. Donna's responsibilities include attending 504 and support team meetings where disability is suspected, completing psychological testing to determine eligibility, reviewing eligibility for special education students, and completing evaluations to determine if any programming changes may need to occur. According to Donna, she considers cultural differences each time she assesses a student for special education. "We have to consider that there may be cultural differences in the

evaluations that we use. Some of the behaviors that we in the Western world would consider atypical would be completely typical in the culture that they're being raised in."

Educator 04- Cathy

Cathy currently works as an ESL teacher for students in grades K-5. She has been an ESL teacher for 28 years, and her current responsibilities include creating and implementing lesson plans that adhere to the state standards and the ELL curriculum. Cathy stated that as an ESL teacher, it is often difficult to have an ESL student assessed for special education. She stated that the referral process is often lengthy. "We have to make sure that it's not a language barrier, and it depends on how long the student has been in the country. My experience is that they really look at those factors and a lot of other factors first. It's not just a quick process." Cathy also stated that she would like her school district to provide more training and professional development on the current laws and regulations for referrals, specifically for ESL teachers.

Educator 05- Meagan

Meagan works as a Kindergarten teacher with approximately 18 students in her classroom. Meagan holds a bachelor's degree in elementary education. Meagan reports that her responsibilities in the referral process for a minority student to special education are completing a referral form and completing support team paperwork. She stated that she does not always know when to refer students for special education if they come from diverse linguistic or cultural backgrounds. "When they come in kindergarten, depending on where they are in the English learning process, sometimes we're not sure if it's just a language barrier." Meagan stated that when she is unsure whether a special education referral is necessary, she attempts to gain as as much information from the parents as possible.

Educator 06- Renee

Renee is a full-time speech-language pathologist and a member of the Centralized Assessment Team (CAT). Her primary responsibility is administering formal speech and language assessments to students referred by school-based speech therapists and providing a written report for sharing with the IEP team. Renee has a bachelor's degree in health record administration and a master's in speech-language pathology. Renee expressed needing help with the assessment of minority students at times. She stated that she uses interpreters when available but needs help when they are not. Renee also stated that she does not consider test results valid even when using an interpreter. "We try to obtain an interpreter in the child's primary language. We realize these tests are not valid, but at least it gives us an idea of whether there is a difference between how much a child performs in their home language versus how they perform in English."

Educator 07-Sarah

Sarah is a full-time school psychologist responsible for completing evaluations for students considered for special education. Sarah has a bachelor's degree in psychology, a master's in applied educational psychology, and a PhD in school psychology. Sarah said she always tries to be mindful of the student's background and culture. She also stated that she does her best to choose the most appropriate assessment instrument when considering making a student eligible for special education. Sarah reports that several assessments contain "culturally loaded" questions that may not be appropriate for a specific student and their cultural background. In those cases, Sarah says she relies more heavily on non-verbal testing.

Educator 08-Tom

Tom is a school psychologist with 30 years of experience in school psychology and who grew up as a bilingual student. Tom's responsibilities include gathering background information from referred students, administering assessments, providing written reports to the IEP team, and recommending students' primary disability. Tom stated that collecting information from families who do not speak English can be very difficult. He stated that often, the school does not provide families with all the necessary documents translated into English. Therefore, they only sometimes understand what the process is. Tom also reported that it is challenging to distinguish between an educational disability and a language difference when the student is learning two languages. Tom relies on alternative assessment practices for students with diverse language backgrounds. "I would not give those kids a typical IQ test. I'll give them what they call a culture free-language free IQ test, so it would be a nonverbal type of test to obtain an appropriate IQ."

Educator 09-Katrina

Katrina is a self-contained 3rd-grade teacher with a bachelor's degree in childhood family studies and a master's in early childhood education. Katrina has been a 3rd-grade teacher for six years and is responsible for teaching ELA, math, science, and social studies to her students. There are currently over 25 languages represented at Katrina's elementary school. Katrina reported that she has rarely been a part of the referral process for a minority student. She stated that she primarily provides information for students already referred for special education. "In the past, I have filled out some assessment screeners. Most of the questions ask how they're interacting with peers and how they are performing on certain tasks based on their peers in their classroom." Katrina expressed frustration with the overall referral and assessment process for students considered for special education because of the time it takes to complete.

Educator 10-Kim

Kim is an ELL teacher in an elementary school who works primarily with 3rd-grade students. She has a bachelor's degree in interdisciplinary studies and Bible and a master's in holistic education. Kim stated that most students she works with are Hispanic, which requires her to find ways to provide learning opportunities in their native language. "I don't know all the languages of my students, but if I can find words that translate directly when I'm teaching new vocabulary, I'll make connections that way." Kim also reported that although she would feel comfortable initiating a conversation about concerns for a student, she would like more professional development opportunities to help distinguish between academic delays and language differences.

Results

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the lived experiences of educators in the referral and assessment of minority students for special education in East Tennessee elementary schools. Collected data came from ten participating educators through individual interviews, focus groups, and open-letter writing prompts. The individual interviews and focus group sessions were in person and semi-structured to establish a relationship and trust with participants and to allow them to ask questions about the study if needed. Each participant also completed a written response to a letter-writing prompt delivered to them in person. The Microsoft Word speech-to-text feature transcribed interview and focus group data. The participants responded openly about their experiences, thoughts, and feelings. Data analysis revealed similarities among the participants' responses. In analyzing the data, I began bracketing out my preconceptions through epoché and dividing the data into essential statements with their respective meanings to develop codes and themes.

Code and Theme Development

After data collection was completed, code and theme development was the next step completed. Coding connects collected data with their explanation of meaning (Saldana, 2013). Through descriptive coding, I analyzed keywords from all collected data and determined themes and sub-themes aligned with the study's research questions. Major themes developed once I categorized coded data based on comparisons, interpretation, and conceptualization of participant responses (Birks et al., 2008; Glaser, 1978). The analysis process continued by identifying codes from the letter-writing prompts to contribute to the development of themes. Three significant themes developed through data analysis, which answered the central research question, "What are educators' experiences in identifying minority students referred to special education in Tennessee Elementary Schools?" The following three themes were identified: the use of data, the importance of communication, and frustration among educators. Table 2 displays the three themes, subthemes, and core codes.

Table 4 *Themes and Subthemes*

Major Theme	Subthemes	Core Codes
Use of Data	intervention data,	RTI, WIDA, benchmark
	standardized assessment,	testing, progress monitoring,
	background information	bilingual assessments,
		nonverbal assessments, rating
		forms, home language
		cultural background, exposure

Major Theme	Subthemes	Core Codes
Importance of Communication	communication with	parent concerns, relationship
	parents/families,	with parents, families being
	communication with other	part of the assessment team,
	educators, use of interpreters	educating parents on the
		assessment process,
		collaboration,
		accommodations, use of
		interpreters, and lack of
		interpreters.
Frustration Among Educators	delay of services, inconsistency, lack of training	time constraints, professional development, school training, signs, characteristics

Use of Data

Participating educators in the research study mentioned reviewing various data sources when determining the need to refer or assess minority students for special education. Subthemes developed based on participant responses, including intervention data, standardized assessments, and use of background information. Abby stated, "In this school, I haven't noticed any disparities in how our teachers refer; it's more data-driven and less of an opinion." Additionally, all ten participants shared experiences using various data sources from interventions as part of their referral and assessment decisions. During her interview, Donna mentioned that language

differences are something to consider, but her school primarily focuses on scores. "There's protocol that we have to follow, hoops we have to jump through, and different steps we have to meet, it just depends on a certain score."

Each participating classroom teacher mentioned that they often contribute classroom data to share with members responsible for completing formal evaluations. When asked about her role in the assessment process, Meagan stated, "I am responsible for completing the initial S-team paperwork and the teacher survey, and then I share that information with the school psychologist." Every participant stated they had all been part of an S-team responsible for providing or reviewing data. Katrina, a third-grade teacher, shared, "I am involved in filling out assessment screeners and reporting how a student is performing in the classroom on specific tasks, and then I participate in the S-team meetings."

Each participating school psychologist and speech-language pathologist expressed the importance of collecting adequate information about the student referred for an assessment. Tom, a school psychologist, expressed negative experiences with teachers who have yet to use data before making a SPED referral. "Sometimes the teacher just wants to get rid of them, so I always do a pre-assessment evaluation and complete observations because the child may not need to be tested." Another participating school psychologist stated that she experienced teachers making referrals based on comparing ELL students rather than looking at data. Cathy stated, "We have a student who just hit the second anniversary, and the teachers are pushing for testing and comparing her to another student who has already been here for two years." During her focus group, Sarah shared that she feels teachers are coming from wanting to do what is best for students, but there is confusion about the process. "I run into a lot of teachers who are unfamiliar with special education eligibility and the criteria we are looking at."

Intervention Data

All ten participants mentioned using data from multiple interventions with minority students considered for special education. The most common intervention data used by participants came from RTI data, WIDA scores, and progress monitoring. When asked about their experience with referring racial minorities for special education, Donna stated, "There's not to my knowledge any racial factors that are considered; it is just their ability based on the data points from RTI." Kim, an ELL teacher, shared that she has never had to make a referral to special education, but she has been a part of the team by providing the necessary data. "I've been a part of the process and conversation about RTI; I contribute by bringing data about their background and progress." Additionally, all ten participants mentioned WIDA scores regarding the referral and assessment of ELL students.

When asked how language differences factor into SPED referrals, Donna stated, "It depends on how long they have been in the country, how long they have been in the ELL program, and their grade on the WIDA; it depends on a certain score." Each participating school psychologist shared experiences using WIDA scores to help with formal evaluations when ruling out language barriers. Tom mentioned, "Can we rule out the language issue as the primary cause of their learning disability? That's sometimes very hard to do, but we go with the WIDA scores." During their focus group, Katrina shared how she has experienced strict guidelines for referrals. "I think both of my schools are very strict where they are on the WIDA; at least they're not going to refer them if they are still scoring ones and twos on the WIDA."

Progress monitoring was another form of data shared among most participants. Kim stated, "I have had conversations with other teachers about placing students in interventions first based on their benchmark testing and progress monitoring." Donna shared that as an ELL

teacher, state standards require her to adhere to the ELL curriculum, which she uses to monitor her student's progress. "We use the benchmark advance for language learners and the advancing language learners' portion of the benchmark advance program." Beth shared that she has not always agreed with decisions not to evaluate students, even when there has not been significant data available. "We had an S-team for a student where they said there wasn't enough evidence to support a SPED evaluation solely because another language was listed, so it's really frustrating."

Standardized Assessment

Each of the ten participants stated that standardized assessment is integral to determining eligibility for special education. Classroom teachers and ELL teachers contribute to formal evaluations by providing data on performance, while school psychologists and speech-language pathologists administer and interpret the assessments and provide written reports on the findings. Sarah, Abby, Tom, Donna, and Renee stated that they have experienced challenges with assessing culturally diverse students. Each shared that they try to use standardized assessments for minority students when appropriate; however, those standardized scores are typically invalid. Each assessment specialist in this study shared similar experiences with nonverbal and bilingual assessments.

In their interviews, Tom and Sarah expressed that they are trying to choose assessment tools that are culturally sensitive but have experienced not always having that option. Tom stated, "We must take language and dialect into consideration when testing; for instance, I would not give those kids a typical IQ test. I'll give them what they call a culture-free, language-free IQ test, so it would be a nonverbal test to obtain an appropriate IQ." Sarah also shared experiences with using nonverbal assessments. "A lot of times we'll use nonverbal assessments, especially to look at cognitive skills, but we still have a lot of questions." During the focus group, Sarah

shared, "Some assessments are more culturally loaded than others." Donna also stated, "We have to be careful when looking at things like emotional disturbance or autism because some of the behaviors considered atypical in the Western world would be completely typical in the culture they are being raised in."

Participants shared additional concerns regarding the need for bilingual assessments. They shared that some assessments have Spanish versions, but many are only available in English. During her interview, Sarah stated, "best practice would be to use a bilingual assessment, but it comes down to access." Renee, an SLP responsible for evaluating students referred for a speech and language delay, mentioned she would like to help assess ELL students. When asked about her experience with the assessment process of ELL students, she said, "That is a work in progress, and I could certainly use some help with that." Renee also shared her experiences with using interpreters as part of her evaluations. "I try to obtain an interpreter in the child's primary language, but we realize these scores are not valid." Six of the ten participants shared that with a diverse school district, it is impossible to find interpreters who speak all the languages represented in their schools. Abby stated, "I've already tested a student this year whose primary language is Mandingo, and we couldn't find an interpreter for him, so it was difficult."

Use of background information

All ten participants highlighted using background information as part of their referral or assessment process for minority students. Participants mentioned the length of time spent in the country, exposure to English, and previous school experience as the most common background information collected for culturally diverse students. When asked if they had experienced differences between referral of minority students versus non-minority students, Tom shared,

"The only difference would be that there's more conversations with minority students, and asking if they're from a different country, or newer to the country, and if they speak English at home." When asked about her experiences in the referral process for minority students, Donna shared that she considers specific factors about a student before making a referral. "I ask how long they've been in the country and how long they've been in the ELL program; my experience is that we have to really look at those factors first."

Importance of communication

The participants in this research study described the importance of communication during referral and assessment decisions for minority students. Ten participants expressed the need for effective communication with parents and families, other educators, and interpreters.

Participating school psychologists and speech-language pathologists stated that in addition to standardized assessment scores, they use parent input forms, parent interviews, teacher rating scales, and classroom performance data to determine eligibility for SPED services. Eight of the ten participants also mentioned using interpreters to aid in communication with ELL students and their families. When asked to describe communication with other educators, eight of the ten participants shared positive experiences. Katrina mentioned that she had only had positive experiences referring students and collaborating with other educators in her building. "I would say I feel comfortable doing that because we have a good team of people who work together; there is a big collaboration with ESL teachers."

During the focus group discussion, when asked in what ways the participants had ever disagreed with a minority student referred for a SPED assessment, Sarah shared that she has not experienced disagreeing with a decision to refer because she has always been able to communicate with teachers. She stated, "I really make sure we talk about the disability criteria

and that I get information from teachers about previous schooling; I also get the ELL teacher involved." Tom also shared that he has mostly had positive experiences with communication as a school psychologist. "Actually, 90% of the time, it's pretty good for me, I think, because I try to get my report to the team at least a week ahead of the meeting so that we can discuss what I have found."

A common experience shared among most participants was the need for interpreters to facilitate communication with parents and families. Participants mentioned using interpreters for parent meetings and during evaluations; however, several shared having limited availability of interpreters. During her focus group, Katrina mentioned, "Parents are sometimes reluctant to have somebody call or talk to them, and they have all these questions, but what we're finding is that it's very hard to get interpreters." Renee, a speech-language pathologist, said she tries using interpreters as much as possible during her evaluations. She stated, "I try to get interpreters to help with testing and to ask questions in their native language, but we don't always get interpreters."

Only one of the ten participants shared having negative experiences with communication. Beth, an ELL teacher, explained that she has only occasionally communicated positively with her colleagues. She explained that she has experienced not being heard when trying to communicate concerns about her students. She stated, "I would like everyone involved in the process to take a little more responsibility and reach out to those where the communication has broken down and find ways to remedy situations." During her focus group, she also shared, "I have had at least one time where I thought a kid needed some more help and had someone absolutely bite my head off." Each participant mentioned the importance of communicating with parents and families of minority students, especially those with language differences. Meagan

mentioned the importance of communicating the process to parents with children referred for a SPED assessment. "The parents of some of my students do not know what their rights are, don't know what RTI is, what kind of support they can get, or what their options are." Two participating school psychologists mentioned the importance of communication with parents as part of their evaluation process. Sara stated, "I want to have a parent conference and get the ELL teacher involved to discuss the student and to get their background information."

Communication with parents

Of the ten participating educators, eight mentioned parent communication as an element of working with minority students. Participants commonly shared the importance of understanding parent concerns, gaining parents' trust, and educating parents on the assessment process. When asked about the comfort level of referring a minority student for SPED, Abby stated, "I feel like we generally confer with the parent, especially if it's an ESL student, and if the parent has no language concerns, then we generally will wait." A participating kindergarten teacher explained that she struggles with understanding developmental differences among diverse cultures, so she consults with parents before making a formal referral. When asked during her interview to describe her understanding of developmental differences among various cultures, Meagan stated, "I'm not really sure, but I have a couple of kids in kindergarten where I've had to have conversations with parents about understanding what they may need." Renee, a speech-language pathologist, shared that gathering parent information for an ESL student is one of the first steps in her assessment process, "I try to interview the parent about the concerns they have and about their communication concerns."

Additionally, participants mentioned trust when speaking to parents and families about the SPED referral and assessment process. During the focus group, Katrina mentioned parents'

comfort level and how that may impact conversations about their child. She stated, "Talking to parents about what a referral means can depend on parents' previous experiences with the school if they are less trusting of the school, and how comfortable they are talking about these things with the school." When asked how cultural differences affect a decision to refer a minority student, Katrina shared, "I just think about the families and getting them on board and using an interpreter to explain what is going on." Meagan shared that it can sometimes be challenging to discuss concerns about a student with their families, especially if they are not comfortable with the teachers. When asked what her comfort level was with referring a minority student from her classroom, she stated, "I think it depends on the relationship I have with the parents and explaining to them we are trying to do what is best for their child."

Parents' need for more understanding of SPED referrals and evaluations was mentioned by 8 out of the 10 participants. According to the participating educators, parents often need clarification about why the school requests a SPED assessment and what that process involves. When asked how educators felt about the equality between minority student referrals versus non-minority student referrals, Beth shared, "The parents of my students don't know what their rights are, don't necessarily know what RTI is, what kind of support they can get, or what their options are." When asked how cultural differences affected her decision to refer a minority student, Katrina responded, "Some minority families either do not know what special education is, or they might have a bad idea of it, so we just try to get parents on board." Each participating school psychologist mentioned a need for more communication regarding available resources to parents. Sarah stated, "I feel like a lot of times we're doing more education about the special education process and sort of just school in general; talking about some of those diagnostic labels can have some really different meanings culturally."

Communication with other educators

Various educators participate in evaluation decisions for students referred for special education. These decisions often require communication and collaboration among all educators involved. During the focus group, Cathy stated, "We have good communication between general education and ELL, and that's definitely very helpful." Two participants explained having negative experiences regarding communication and collaboration with other educators. Beth shared, "There have been years where I have walked into meetings, and I had just found out about it that morning because nobody realized I should have been included." Tom also stated there is miscommunication, and members get left out of meetings. Tom stated, "Occasionally, I have meetings where there is miscommunication, where they should have included the speech and language pathologists, but there was never an SLP in that report." Renee mentioned in her letter writing prompt addressed to her younger self that "classroom teachers, related arts teachers, school psychologists, and ELL teachers are good sources of information to help you piece parts of the puzzle together."

Nine of the ten participants mentioned accommodations as something often communicated between educators. Each stated they have experienced collaboration with their colleagues on ways to accommodate students through classroom instruction or alternative forms of assessment. When asked about her experience with accommodating ESL students, Cathy answered, "I have recommended accommodations to classroom teachers for my ESL students." During her interview, Meagan shared, "I have given them modified work or shortened assignments after working with their ESL teacher to make sure we are on the same page.

Use of Interpreters

Interpreters are a valuable resource for educators when working with culturally diverse students and families. Most participants mentioned the use of interpreters when discussing various communication needs. Through individual interviews and focus groups, 8 out of 10 participants discussed the use of interpreters for communicating SPED procedures with families, assisting in evaluations, and the issues that arise from a lack of interpreters. During her interview, Sarah explained that she uses multiple sources of information when assessing an ESL student for special education. She stated, "When looking at cognitive skills, there are times when I try to use interpreters for parent interviews to gain parent input and to get a picture of where the child is."

When asked how she feel about the appropriateness of assessment tools used for minority students, Cathy explained, "We don't really have anything as far as interpreters for the psychology department; we could do better with assessments." A participating SLP explained that she uses interpreters for communication and as a resource to gather student input. Renee shared, "When I use an interpreter, I like to get their feedback on the child and ask them if some things are typical for their culture." Seven out of ten participants stated they had experienced a lack of interpreters for languages other than Spanish. Cathy shared during her focus group, "I've had several children this year that I can't find interpreters for, like Igala is one language, Mandingo is another, and there's just not enough interpreters available, so that's becoming a real struggle."

Frustration among educators

Frustration was the third major theme expressed by participants in this research study.

Although most participants' experiences with referral and assessment were positive, they did

mention experiencing delays or denial of services for ESL students, inconsistency with the overall assessment process, and feeling they lacked training on guidelines for referring minority students. Each participant described at least one of the previously mentioned factors as a cause of frustration. Separate groups of educators have varying responsibilities in identifying students who may require SPED services. General education teachers are responsible for identifying students struggling in the classroom with academic expectations and referring them to other designated educators. ESL teachers are also involved in identifying struggling students who come from diverse backgrounds and who are learning to speak English. School psychologists and speech-language pathologists administer formal evaluations to determine whether students qualify for SPED services.

Each of the ten participating educators mentioned feeling frustration within their various roles. Some expressed feeling unsure about the referral process for ELL students, while others experienced inconsistencies with the referral and assessment process throughout the school district. Each participating school psychologist and speech-language pathologist mentioned difficulties distinguishing between a learning disability and language difference. Tom stated in his interview, "Ruling out the language issue as the primary cause of their learning disability is sometimes very hard to do." Each general education teacher or an ELL teacher expressed a lack of confidence in knowing when a minority student needs interventions versus a referral for a special education assessment. When asked about experiences in the referral or assessment process of students considered for special education, Meagan stated, "Sometimes we're not sure if it's a language barrier, but there have been a couple of students where we know there is more going on."

Seven out of ten participants also mentioned teachers' varying expectations for students. Donna stated, "When it comes to understanding a child's learning process, general education teachers are often worried about a disability when the child is still on what we would consider a normal path." Renee shared in her focus group that she experiences general education teachers being unfamiliar with determining student eligibility. "I run into a lot of people who are unfamiliar with special education eligibility and the criteria that we are looking at." Donna, a school psychologist, expressed frustration with receiving referrals for students who do not need an evaluation. She explained, "Teachers are getting overwhelmed with the number of different needs they have to meet within one classroom." During her focus group, Renee shared similar experiences of teachers feeling pressure, often leading to more referrals. "Teachers see us as a way to take the pressure off them."

Delay of services

When asked to explain how they felt about minority student referrals versus non-minority student referrals, participants mentioned having experienced more of a delay in services for minority students. During her focus group, Katrina stated, "I know that some schools would use that as a reason to put them in SPED, but sometimes I also feel like we might be holding off a bit too long." Each general education and ELL teacher participant expressed frustration with the intervention and assessment procedures, especially for ELL students. During her focus group, Abby stated, "I have felt that some students should be assessed, but due to XYZ rules on how long they have to be in the system, they are not tested even though they are clearly not learning quickly, despite other interventions." Beth, who is an ELL teacher also stated, "having these hard and fast rules of needing to be exposed for X number of years before they can be tested is

difficult, especially if we're able to prove they are not picking up things as quickly as their peers who have been in ELL the same amount of time."

When asked about how comfortable she is with referring minority students for an assessment, Katrina shared, "I would say I feel comfortable with making a referral, but I just feel like that process takes so long, so it can be really frustrating." As part of her letter-writing prompt to her younger self, Cathy expressed the need to "research school district procedures for how and when to refer students for special education to avoid a lot of frustration." Beth, an ELL teacher, stated that her experience getting ELL students SPED services has been very difficult. "It is extremely difficult to get students that have another language listed on their home language survey into ESL or into SPED services."

Inconsistency

All ten participants expressed experiences with inconsistency regarding referral and assessment practices for minority students considered for special education. The most common experiences involved language barriers and the assessment tools for testing minority students. Abby stated that she has experienced extreme differences in how teachers refer minority students. "I would like to see more consistency within the county on how ELL students are treated. Some schools don't refer at all because they are ELL, and others think it's best to evaluate and see, so I wish it were more consistent."

Inconsistencies in understanding developmental differences among various cultures also emerged as a theme among participants. Most participants agreed that interventions were necessary before a formal assessment, but many expressed experiencing confusion about what interventions were appropriate for various cultures. All general education and ELL teachers expressed experiencing inconsistencies with incorporating developmental differences among

various cultures. When asked to describe her understanding of developmental differences among various cultures, Meagan stated, "I can't think of anything specific for that; the only thing I can think of is talking to their parents and getting an understanding of where they're coming from." Abby shared similar experiences with developmental differences, stating, "I'm not very good at it; I generally will Google it if I have a question." Beth shared that she did not think it was fair to assume there are developmental differences among various cultures. "I don't know that it's fair to say that there are developmental differences from one country to another; that sounds very racist. I think it would be circumstantial and cultural."

Lack of training

Most participants mentioned they have experienced professional development opportunities relating to the process of SPED eligibility and minority students. They each shared that their school district provides training on being culturally responsive through the Department of School Culture. Eight out of the ten participants expressed wanting more training on specific criteria regarding special education eligibility. Katrina said in her interview, "Professional development would be helpful, especially for those who work with Hispanic populations, for training on the signs or characteristics of an ESL learner with a developmental delay." Meagan, a kindergarten teacher, also shared that she would benefit from professional development focused on distinguishing between a learning deficit and a language barrier. She stated, "I would like training that would help us know where to draw the line and give us assistance in understanding what may be a language barrier or something we need to look at a little more."

Similarly, when asked what professional development she would most benefit from regarding referral and assessment of minority students, Kim stated, "I think maybe how do we identify a learning disability with a student who's still acquiring the English language; it would

be helpful to know key indicators for language acquisition." Only one participant shared that she was completely unaware of the protocol for referring students she may have concerns within her ELL class. Beth explained, "I don't really know what RTI is or how you qualify for SPED." The other nine participants wanted more training on best practices for their students in classroom instruction, interventions, and assessment. Renee, an SLP, stated, "I would like training on best practices, like what we do when we can't test in a student's native language, just having clear guidelines we can follow." Although specific training needs varied, all participants mentioned that more professional development on SPED services for minority students was needed.

Outlier Data and Findings

This study identified two outliers during the data collection and analysis phase. The first outlier finding represented important statements associated with Beth concerning negative communication experiences among educators when determining a need for a SPED referral. The second outlier finding identified a lack of acknowledgment regarding developmental differences among culturally diverse students, significantly impacting Abby's referral decisions.

Negative Communication Among Educators

While 9 of the ten participant educators reported having positive communication experiences discussing student concerns and the possible need for referral with other educators, Beth did not. Beth revealed that general education teachers do not listen to ESL teachers' concerns. She stated, "If a classroom teacher disagrees with us, then it dies there." Beth recounted when she attempted to discuss concerns about a student with his classroom teacher. She stated, "I've had at least one time where I really thought a kid needed some more stuff and had someone absolutely bite my head off. They did not refer the kid, and now he's in SPED two years later." Beth expressed how she feels that other educators do not trust the opinion of ESL

teachers, especially in the referral process. Beth said explicitly, "I don't really feel that for us ESL teachers, that's an area we're really trusted."

Lack of Acknowledgement Regarding Developmental Differences

Although ten of the eleven participants mentioned difficulty distinguishing developmental differences among students with various cultural backgrounds, they acknowledged that developmental expectations varied depending on culture. However, Abby revealed that she was unaware of developmental differences among diverse cultures and thought it was unfair to assume those differences existed. During her interview, when asked to describe her understanding of developmental differences among various cultures, Abby replied, "I don't know that it's fair to say that there are developmental differences from one country to another; that sounds very racist." During her focus group, participants discussed how developmental expectations are considered before making a referral to special education. Abby shared, "I feel like there are honestly situations where there is institutional racism. These kids should have services, and they're not getting them because it says they speak another language."

Research Question Responses

This study focused on educators' experiences in the referral and assessment process of minority students and answered the central research question and three sub-questions. The research questions sought to understand educators' experiences in identifying minority students for special education, the criteria used for eligibility determination, and considering cultural and language differences. This study used the themes developed in the previous section to answer each research question.

Central Research Question

The central research question of this study, "What are educators' experiences in

identifying minority students referred to special education in Tennessee Elementary Schools?" was designed to allow participating K-5 general education teachers, ELL teachers, school psychologists, and speech-language pathologists to explain their experiences with referral and assessment of students from diverse backgrounds. In her interview, Donna described her experience working with minority students as the same as working with other students. "I don't think about the student's race or culture, just their ability level and if they are struggling, I will refer and do all of the steps that are required for any student no matter what their race is." When asked about her comfort level referring minority students from her kindergarten classroom, Meagan stated, "I think I'm pretty comfortable. I think it depends on the relationship I have with the parents because that can be a hard topic to broach sometimes. I always try to see what we need to do that is best for the student and then present it to the parents that way." Similarly, Kim shared that she is also comfortable with the referral process for minority students, given her 12 years of experience. Kim explained, "I've had quite a bit of experience sitting in IEP meetings and being part of the process; I've had conversations about RTI, interventions, and the progress they are making."

Sub-Question One

The details surrounding the experiences of educators and assessment specialists in the referral and assessment process of minority students considered for special education are the basis of this research study. The first sub-question, "How do K-5 educators identify minority students for referral to special education?" focused on the participants' experiences and decisions to refer students from diverse backgrounds. The primary theme relative to this question was the use of data, and intervention data was the subtheme. In this study of K-5 educators who have

experienced the referral process for minority students to special education, consideration of data was a shared experience among the participants.

Every participant mentioned data as one of the most important factors before referring a student for SPED. Each of the ten participants discussed using data from either RTI, WIDA, or background information to influence referral decisions. Kim, an ESL teacher, shared, "I've been in this position now for 12 years, and I share WIDA scores or lack of progress I've seen with the WIDA access test with other educators." Participants involved in the assessment mentioned using student's background information to help determine the need for assessment. Tom stated, "I try to get a lot of information, sort of a pre-assessment evaluation to see if we should really evaluate the child or not."

While most participants' experiences making referrals were positive, all ten educators expressed frustration with the overall referral process, especially for ESL students. Katrina, a third-grade teacher, explained that she feels comfortable making decisions to refer students for SPED but feels frustrated at the length of time it takes to get them services after making a referral. She explained, "I feel comfortable making referrals, but I just feel that process takes so long, and it is frustrating." Katrina also shared, "When a student has been in ESL classes every day for two plus years, then at that point it should be easy to get a referral, but I feel like it is challenging because people jump to say, oh well, they're not SPED because they're ESL."

Sub-Question Two

The information K-5 educators consider when determining special education eligibility for minority students varied among participants. Sub question two, "What information do K-5 educators consider besides academic performance and standardized assessment scores when determining special education eligibility for minority students?" focused on the participants' use

of information. This question allowed the researcher to understand what sources of additional information influenced their decision to make a minority student eligible for SPED services. Each participant mentioned using academic performance and standardized assessment scores as part of the decision criteria. Background information and parent input were the primary sources of additional information used by participants.

The assessment specialist included parent input and background information as part of the assessment documentation collected. Often, this information is gathered from general education teachers and ESL teachers when applicable. Additionally, assessment specialists provide parents with paperwork to document requested information. Participants reported using this information alongside standardized scores and academic performance when determining eligibility for special education. Sarah, a school psychologist, stated, "I'm pretty comfortable assessing minority students for special education, but I try to be mindful of the student's background and where they're coming from and making sure we are not over or underidentifying different populations."

Sub-Question Three

Cultural differences among minority students are often used by educators when determining eligibility for SPED services. Sub-question three, "How do K-5 educators incorporate cultural and language differences in eligibility determination?" focused on how educators used culture and language differences in the assessment process and how those factors may influence their eligibility decisions. Sarah, a school psychologist, discussed how she approaches formal evaluations of students from diverse cultures. She explained, "I think we always try to be sensitive to cultural backgrounds, especially when we're talking about special education; that can be a really big thing in my role because that can look really different

depending on what background parents are coming from." Renee also discussed cultural differences impacting how she scores articulation assessments given to minority students. She shared, "I consider what their pattern of use, not just on the test, but in conversation is; that's how I determine if I score the answer as correct or incorrect if that makes sense. What we're trying to do is be very careful and take those things into consideration because you don't want to over-identify but also don't want to under-identify either."

Summary

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of educators and service providers in identifying minority students in special education in Tennessee elementary schools. This chapter describes the results of the analysis of ten K-5 participating educators. Collected data came from individual interviews, two focus group sessions, and written letter-writing prompt responses. Moustakas' (1994) transcendental phenomenological model served as a guide for data analysis. This study identified themes and sub-themes, along with descriptions for each theme that contributed to insight.

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION

Overview

The purpose of this phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of educators and service providers in identifying minority students in special education in Tennessee elementary schools. Chapter Five begins with interpreting the results discovered through data analysis and a summary of the thematic findings. The implications for policy and practice and the theoretical and methodological implications follow. The chapter concludes with the study's limitations, delimitations, and recommendations for future research and concludes with a summary of the study.

Discussion

The findings of this phenomenological study include the experiences of 10 educators who have experienced making referral and assessment decisions for minority students considered for special education. This section discusses the study's findings of the developed themes and subthemes through the supporting theoretical framework. First is the summary of thematic findings, followed by the theoretical and empirical implications for policy and practice. Limitations, delimitations, and recommendations for future research conclude this section.

Interpretation of Findings

Ten participating educators discussed their experiences in the referral and assessment process for minority students considered for special education. The study's findings involve themes and sub-themes developed through the lived experiences of the ten K-5 educators. The data were analyzed using codes created by highlighting significant quotes and common themes or clusters of meanings. The three major themes that I identified were: (a) use of data, (b) importance of communication, and (c) frustration among educators.

Summary of Thematic Findings

The study participants shared their personal experiences with the referral and assessment practices for minority students considered for special education. Each participant was eager to share their experience and raise awareness of the need to improve policy and practice in the special education identification process of students with diverse cultural backgrounds.

Participants' willingness to share their personal experiences resulted in data with thick and rich descriptions (Moustakas, 1994). The theme development process began after each interview and continued after each of the two focus groups and through analysis of each participant's letterwriting prompt response.

The first central theme of the use of data has three sub-themes: (a) intervention data, (b) standardized assessment, and (c) background information. The participating educators indicated that they primarily based their decisions to qualify minority students for special education services on collected data, supporting research that states sufficient data should be collected on students considered for special education referral. This includes understanding and applying appropriate developmental milestones of English language learning and applying multi-tiered interventions such as RTI (Hoover & deBettencourt, 2018). Each participant mentioned using intervention information, including RTI data and WIDA scores, as factors considered for referrals to special education. Additionally, participants involved in eligibility decisions also identified the use of background information as a critical component of their formal evaluations. The school district's policy decides to qualify students for special education using intervention data and standardized assessment scores. However, as mentioned by participants, it is essential to consider background information, including cultural background, parent input, and exposure to English, which could influence performance on standardized assessments.

The second major theme of the importance of communication has three sub-themes: (a) communication with parents, (b) communication with other educators, and (c) use of interpreters. Research shows that inconsistent practices among educators and failure to address students' home culture often result in special education referrals (Green & Stormont, 2018; Othman, 2018; Banse & Palacios, 2018). This study's participants emphasized parent communication during SPED referral and assessment, indicating educators consider the student's home culture. The second sub-theme mentioned communication with other educators as a benefit to gaining additional information about a student's performance before making a referral to special education. The use of interpreters was the third sub-theme identified as a valuable resource for communication with students and families. However, participants stated they are a minimal resource in their schools.

The third major theme of frustration among educators also has three sub-themes: (a) delay of services, (b) lack of training, and (c) inconsistency. Overall, the participants stated they had experienced frustration with understanding the special education process regarding students with diverse cultural backgrounds. The participants' experiences in this study support research that states teachers do not understand bilingual development. Previous studies show teachers feel they do not have adequate support to assist them with bilingual students (Prezas and Jo, 2017). Each participant stated they did not understand developmental differences among various cultures to the extent they would like to.

The interpretation of the data explained the experiences of educators with their involvement in the referral and assessment of minority students considered for special education based on their responses presented in Chapter Four. Highlighting the relationship between communication referral and assessment decisions was significant. This study chose the

transcendental phenomenological design, excluding the researcher's presuppositions or biases before researching educators' experiences (Moustakas, 1994). Bracketing out the researcher's personal bias was imperative to capture the participants' transcendental experiences outside their regular everyday experiences.

They wanted decisions to be unbiased. One intriguing aspect of the participating educators in this research study was that all expressed a desire for referral and assessment decisions of minority students for special education to be unbiased. Nine participants expressed concerns about misrepresentation among minorities in special education. Sarah stated, "We always have to be thoughtful of students' backgrounds and where they are coming from to make sure we are not over or under-identifying different populations." Participants expressed various experiences on best practices for avoiding misrepresentation, and most have attempted to be fair in their decisions. Through Vygotsky's (1936) sociocultural theory, I sought to understand how people link individuals to their culture (Alkhudiry, 2022; Panhwar et al., 2016). The participants dealt with trying to make decisions based on individual student needs.

The diversity in their schools created a need for educators to examine multiple aspects of a student's background and how their culture and language impact their learning. Previous researchers concluded that some teaching methods neglect to address cultural differences, and educators continue to refer students for special education (Park, 2020). The educators participating in this study explained having experience consulting other educators and parents to gain valuable information. The participants sought information about students from various individuals. General education teachers explained that they consulted with the student's ESL teacher to understand their language use better. At the same time, school psychologists and SLPs sought to understand the concerns of classroom teachers and parents. The desire to make

unbiased decisions motivated the participants to communicate with other educators and families on ways to meet the specific needs of students. It also made them more aware of their need for additional training to help make more informed decisions.

They expressed a need for more training. Although teacher preparation programs include special education and culturally diverse issues, there appears to be a need for more training in placing diverse students in special education (Hutchison, 2018). Participants stated that they would like to see a better way to distinguish if students need a referral to special education or just additional support in the classroom. Two of the educators specifically stated they would like a list of characteristics or signs to follow to help guide referral decisions.

Participants responsible for administering formal assessments also expressed the need for evaluation guidelines. Renee, a speech-language pathologist, stated, "I just think clear guidelines on how we know when to re-evaluate students in their native language, the initial assessment is kind of easy, but do we review them in their native language if they've been through one re-evaluation cycle?"

While some education programs address RTI for preservice teachers, there needs to be more consistency in classroom intervention strategies. Therefore, many new teachers need to prepare to implement the components of RTI in their classrooms (Vollmer et al., 2019; Hurlbut & Tunks, 2016). The most common response from participants, when asked what professional development they would most benefit from, was the need for additional training regarding ESL students and the possible need for special education. Katrina, a third-grade teacher, shared, "We've had training on signs and characteristics of dyslexia, but what are the characteristics of an ESL learner that prove developmental delay?" Similarly, Kim, a K-5 ESL teacher, explained, "How do we identify a learning disability with a student still acquiring the English language? It

would be helpful if we had key indicators on language acquisition to determine at what point we can make a true determination if this is or isn't a problem."

They Expressed the Need for More Consistency. Each participant stated they had experienced referrals and assessments of minority students for special education in various ways. Some participants explained that their schools were extremely reluctant to refer minority students, while others experienced schools being very liberal with their referrals. This supports previous research that shows inconsistent practices among general educators and the various factors contributing to the disproportionate representation of EL students in special education. Some educators hesitate to refer until they have tried to justify the referral. In contrast, other educators feel they should guide students when they notice the student struggling (Park, 2020). According to previous research, multiple factors contribute to inconsistencies, including teachers' lack of self-efficacy, personal biases, and lack of training (Othman, 2018).

Renee, a speech-language pathologist, stated, "I don't ever want to just assume that because a student is African American or speaks a different language and uses a dialectal difference, that it is a disorder." Inconsistency is not only an issue in referral, but also in intervention and assessment (Hoover et al., 2018). Unfortunately, most standardized assessment tools used in the determination of eligibility are not available in other languages other than English. This leads to a lack of understanding on how to administer and interpret cultural and linguistic differences among assessment specialists (Cormier et al., 2022; Stutzman & Lowenhaupt, 2022; Spinelli, 2008). Abby, a speech-language pathologist stated in her interview, "What do we do when we don't have a test in the native language? What are the best practices and what are the guidelines?" Sarah also mentioned having a need for more consistency with

referral and assessment, "I would just like to see more consistency on how ESL students are treated and if they consider a possible language delay for these students."

Implications for Policy or Practice

This transcendental phenomenological study revealed educator's experiences with the referral and assessment process of minority students to special education. Institutions, policymakers, school administrators, teachers, assessment specialists, and parents may use the results of this study. The implications revealed for policy and practice are listed below, as well as the interpretations of the study's findings using participants' quotations.

Implications for Policy

U.S. elementary schools continue to gain a more diverse community of students each year. These changes impact both general and special education teachers in how they refer and assess minority students for special education services (Sinclair et al., (2018). Educators' decisions regarding referral and assessment can result in disproportionality of minority students in special education. School districts should have clear guidelines for all educators regarding special education eligibility criteria. Professional development should equip educators with adequate training on appropriate eligibility decisions for students from diverse cultural backgrounds. Education programs do not always offer instruction on the principles of classroom interventions to preservice teachers, leaving the responsibility for providing professional development up to school districts. Educators should be proficient in delivering multi-tiered support utilizing evidence-based practices, progress monitoring, and data collection (Vollmer et al., 2019).

Each participant stated that they receive regular professional development on various topics through their school district. Most stated they have been offered professional development

in multicultural learning. Educators mentioned that although they have received training in the past, it has not been enough to feel comfortable with referral and assessment decisions for minority students. Renee shared, "I have had a couple of seminars on working with ESL students in the past, but that's been several years ago, so I haven't had anything current working with minority or ESL students." When asked about professional development experiences with referring minority students for special education, Meagan, a kindergarten teacher, responded, "I cannot think of anything off the top of my head. To be honest, I'm sure there may have been something in the last ten years, but I can't think of anything; that would probably be something good to have."

Implications for Practice

Each participant stated they needed more professional development training or had experienced inconsistencies with special education decisions regarding diverse students. In her interview, Renee stated, "I know all students are different, but I feel like we should have better guidelines to follow; it would be nice to know best practices for working with minority students." Participants shared that they want to do what is best for their students, but having more training would benefit them in distinguishing between a disability and a cultural difference. During the focus group, Donna explained, "I run into a lot of people who are not familiar with special education eligibility and the criteria we are looking at, so we run into situations where we are wanting to help kids, but it's difficult to know if it really is a disability."

According to IDEA (2004), ELL students should receive prompt assessment and identification. Participants in this study expressed concern about how long it takes for these students to receive services. Participants stated that it is often difficult to distinguish between a disability and a cultural or language difference, which could be the cause for the delay in

services. Beth stated during her focus group, "My experience is that ESL students generally have to wait longer, especially at this school because we have such a high number of diverse students that we're very cautious about referring, so I'm wondering if we might be holding off a bit too long."

Theoretical and Empirical Implications

This qualitative research study revealed theoretical and empirical implications.

Vygotsky's (1936) sociocultural theory provides the theoretical framework for this study. This theory emphasizes cultural tools and their functions in understanding a different culture and prevents the misinterpretation of a student's ability or disability based on their cultural background (Othman, 2018). Sociocultural theory guides educators in instructing, referring, and assessing diverse students by emphasizing their specific cultural interactions (Kim et al., 2015). Theoretical and empirical implications surfaced through the lived experiences of K-5 educators involved in the referral and assessment practices of minority students to special education. This study's findings corroborate Vygotsky's theory that utilizing various tools helps educators better understand cultural differences, which can prevent misguided interpretations of a student's ability level based on their diverse background.

Theoretical Implications

This research study contributed to Vygotsky's sociocultural theory. This theory's principles include utilizing tools that help identify cultural differences. These tools include identifying student strengths, considering student's ability level in instruction, and emphasizing cultural interactions in instruction, referral, and assessment decisions. This study highlighted multiple factors contributing to educators' attempts to distinguish learning disabilities from cultural and language differences. The principles of Vygotsky's sociocultural theory guided this

study in examining the lived experiences of K-5 educators involved in the referral and assessment of minority students.

Identifying Student Strengths. Identification of individual student strengths relates to this research study by highlighting how educators deliver instruction to students from diverse cultures and how they determine a need for special education referral. Participating educators shared their experiences with academic accommodations and modifications as two common ways they identify the strengths of students from diverse backgrounds. When asked to explain experiences with modifying instruction for minority students, Meagan shared, "I have a student who is SPED and ELL, and I love seeing how great he does in science and social studies when he has things read aloud to him. He gets the highest scores in the class and is really able to show his understanding when things are read aloud to him, so we do that and use a lot of pictures for him, even on tests."

When given modified assignments, ELL students performed better and demonstrated a higher understanding of the academic content. Meagan shared during her interview, "When I taught 4th grade, I made sure to give modified work for ELL students and give them shortened assignments." Katrina, a third-grade teacher, shared her experience working with a student from El Salvador. She explained it was difficult to assess his knowledge given his limited exposure to English, but recently, she has understood his academic strengths through assignment accommodations.

I had a boy who moved here from El Salvador, and you could tell he had had a regular, 5 day a week education there. It was very difficult to assess his reading skills. Then he asked to take a picture of our reading book and the benchmark books so that he could translate the story to Spanish, because he can read fluently in Spanish. For our assessment

piece, he has to write a paragraph about something from the story, so he asks to translate the question and then he is able to write a whole paragraph. I take the paragraph and translate it into English, and now I understand that he has really strong reading skills.

Identifying student strengths was also an experience shared by participants involved in assessing minority students. All educators involved in assessment expressed the need for alternative testing practices to understand a student's strengths better. The most common assessment practices for ELL students included interpreters, nonverbal assessments, and multilingual assessments. Renne shared her experiences assessing students for speech and language delays. As a speech-language pathologist, she explained the importance of identifying a student's strengths through assessments given in their native language. "We try to obtain an interpreter in a child's native language; it gives us an idea if there is a difference between how much the child performs in their home language and how they perform in English."

Sarah, a school psychologist, explained, "A lot of times, we will use nonverbal assessments, especially to look at cognitive skills, and provide Spanish versions of rating scales. There are also certainly times where we assess using interpreters to get better information." Similarly, Tom explained the importance of considering student exposure to English during formal evaluations. "We have to take those things into consideration; for instance, I would not give those kids typical IQ tests. I would give them what they call a culture-free, language-free IQ test."

Consideration of Student Ability Level for Instruction. A common experience shared among participants was using students' ability levels to guide their instruction and referral decisions. Kathy, an ESL teacher, explained how she believes each student is different and

should have individualized instruction based on their specific abilities. In her letter-writing prompt, she stated, "Not everyone fits into a box, and not everyone can be taught the same way." Two participants specifically mentioned collaboration between general education teachers and ELL teachers on ways to differentiate instruction for ELL students. Kim stated, "We also sometimes tell teachers about things we've seen in our classroom so that we can report to them things that may work in their classroom and whether something may need to be an accommodation."

Educators said they frequently consider how long a student has been in the country and what exposure they have had to the curriculum before making a SPED referral. Sarah shared, "We always want to be mindful of access and past experiences of students' time of exposure to the curriculum." Kathy explained that the ELL teachers she has worked with try to consider student progress and time spent in the country. She shared, "Most of my students are Hispanic, so if there is a student that I would anticipate to make more progress over a certain amount of time with the experience they've had with ESL and the years they've been in the country, and they're not, I would suggest an intervention."

Most participants shared how they try to make connections to the student's native language during instruction. Donna stated, "If there is a newcomer group and they need extra help, I will throw in some Spanish to the best of my ability, and that helps them to connect because if they're not understanding, how are they learning?" Other participants explained that a student's ability level is often the only factor they consider prior to differentiating instruction or making a SPED referral. Katrina stated during her interview, "I don't think about a student's race, just their ability level, and if they're struggling, then I would implement partner work, peer tutoring, teacher tutoring, and small groups."

Emphasis on Cultural Interactions. The sociocultural theory states that children learn through the connections between their culture and environment (Azadi et al., 2018; Subero et al., 2018). Most participants stated they typically consider environmental factors that may contribute to the academic achievement of minority students. In addition to identifying a student's strengths and ability level, they reported consideration of family history, cultural practices, and effects moving may have on a student. A common concern shared by participants was not always knowing how environmental factors may impact learning. During the letter writing prompt, Cathy wrote to her younger self, "Read more literature about immigration and how children are impacted by both voluntary immigration and transferring to a new country as refugees, learn about sub-cultures and the communities which support their members."

Among the participating educators, gender, social status, and economic status were barriers they have seen impact minority students' learning. Each participant mentioned the importance of understanding a student's cultural background as part of their instruction, referral decisions, and assessment practices. Nine out of the 10 participants stated they relied on parent communication to inform them about cultural differences. During the focus group, Sarah explained the steps she had taken during the assessment to learn more about the student's background. She explained, "I try to use as many different sources as I can and interview the parents to find out what their concerns for the child are; I try to do a more in-depth interview with them."

The general education teachers who participated in this study shared how they introduced new vocabulary to their ELL students by presenting it in English and their native language when possible. Megan, a kindergarten teacher, shared, "I do have a student this year who is learning English, and I try to translate as much as possible; I will say it in English, point to a picture, and

say it in English again, then say it in Spanish." When asked about experiences with providing learning opportunities in a student's native language, Kim explained, "As far as direct instruction, I do support their learning by making connections to their native language; if I can, I find words that translate directly when I'm teaching new vocabulary."

Although each participant mentioned how they attempt to incorporate cultural and language differences into instruction, they also mentioned that it is difficult to achieve.

Identifying student strengths, considering students' ability levels, and emphasizing cultural interactions were experienced by all participants in many ways. Renee stated during her interview, "The bottom line is we have to learn all we can, consult others, and use all available information to make the best decision possible for the student; treat families and students with respect and remember to not make assumptions."

Empirical Implications

Empirical implications were evident through the experiences of the participants in this study. Previous studies have consistently shown ambiguity in how educators accommodate minority students in their instruction, referral, and assessment methods for special education. Although literature documents minority overrepresentation in special education, there continues to be limited information regarding how educators address this issue (Chow et al., 2021; Cavendish et al., 2020; Hoover et al., 2018; Skiba et al., 2006; Coutinho & Oswald, 2000). Conducting empirical peer-reviewed research revealed no previous studies that explored the lived experiences of K-5 educators and assessment specialists in the referral and assessment process for minority students considered for special education. This research study supported existing literature that reports inconsistency in the referral and assessment practices for minority students considered for special education.

Among the inconsistencies in referring EL students for SPED, previous researchers identified two approaches educators typically follow. The research identified the "wait to be sure" and "the sooner, the better" approaches primarily followed by educators (Park, 2020, p.1). During her interview, Abby described her experiences in two separate elementary schools, "Each school had a vastly different view on whether these children could qualify for services, with the first, the ELL teachers thought that none of the students should have a SPED referral, and the other school has the philosophy of wanting to get everyone help and are much more likely to refer." Classroom teachers and ELL teachers participating in this study experienced more of the "wait to be sure" approach with their students. Katrina shared, "It is really frustrating because people jump to say they're not SPED because they're ESL." The school psychologists and SLPs experienced general education teachers taking "the sooner, the better" approach. Cathy stated, "teachers are worried about a disability when the child is still on what we would consider a normal path."

Participants in this study also confirmed previous research that shows a delay in special education services for minority students, especially ELL students. School referral policies created to avoid overrepresentation have resulted in either delayed or avoided referrals by teachers (Unmasky et al., 2017). During her focus group, Abby shared, "Having these hard and fast rules of how long they have to be exposed, or a number of years we have to wait before we can refer is frustrating when we feel like we can rule out ELL as the true learning deficit." In her letter writing prompt, Katrina wrote to her younger self, "There are two equally dangerous pitfalls you will encounter; one is the delay or denial of identification of children with disabilities because of language differences, and the other is identifying a learning disability that is actually due to a need for further language acquisition." Similarly, Beth shared her experiences with the

referral of ELL students to special education, "It is extremely difficult to get students that have another language listed on their home language survey into SPED services." This study extended previous research by providing the experiences of K-5 educators involved in the referral and assessment process of minority students considered for special education.

Limitations and Delimitations

Limitations are potential weaknesses of a study that are uncontrolled. There were two limitations in this research study. One limitation was the number of participants. Although there are no sample size restrictions in qualitative research, the sample size for qualitative studies should be small enough to manage data but large enough to provide an adequate understanding of the phenomenon (Sandelowski, 1995). This study aimed to use between 10 and 15 participants. However, the sample size only consisted of 10 participants. The recruitment process began by emailing recruitment letters to 149 K-5 general education teachers, school psychologists, SLPs, and ELL teachers within the school district. Responses were received from five educators stating they were willing to participate in the study. The ten-participant minimum was met by emailing individual educators asking for their participation. Although the study met the minimum participant requirement, having only ten educators for the study threatened the validity and generalizability of the study's results.

The second limitation was the diversity of participant demographics. 125 K-5 general education teachers, 10 school psychologists, 6 SLPs, and 8 ELL teachers received recruitment letters. This study aimed to collect equal participants from each educator group to ensure the findings represented each group. The study consisted of two general education teachers, two ESL teachers, two speech-language pathologists, and three school psychologists. Therefore, the small number in each participant group limits the representation of each educator population.

Limitations placed on a study by the researcher to limit its scope are known as Delimitations. This qualitative research study contained three delimitations. The first delimitation required participants to have at least three years of experience working in a public school system. This requirement aimed to ensure that each participating educator had experience with either the referral or assessment of minority students for special education. The second delimitation required each participant to be either a K-5 general education teacher, an ESL teacher, a speech-language pathologist, or a school psychologist. This requirement ensured that each educator participating in the study had a specific role in special education eligibility decisions. The final delimitation required participants to currently work in one of the three elementary schools chosen for this research study. This study chose elementary schools based on student demographics. The cultural diversity represented in these schools provided more experiences for participants to share.

Recommendations for Future Research

This study has contributed to the understanding of the lived experiences of educators in the referral and assessment process for minority students considered for special education.

Throughout this study's findings, limitations, and delimitations, two areas surfaced as suggested areas for future studies. The first recommendation for future research studies relates to this study's sample size limitation. More studies using the same qualitative phenomenological approach could use a larger sample size to better understand educators' experiences with minority students and special education. Future researchers may want to conduct studies using a broader demographic of participants to gain a more profound representation of each educator population. Previous literature has revealed the issue of disproportionality among minority students in special education (Park, 2020). There is still an evident gap in the literature

explaining why the issue of overrepresentation continues to occur among minority students in special education. It may benefit future researchers to conduct a case study to compare various experiences among specific educator groups with ways they have addressed the issue of disproportionality of minority students represented in special education.

Conclusion

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to describe the experiences of educators in the identification process of minority students to special education in Tennessee elementary schools. This study examined educators' experiences providing differentiated instruction and accommodations for minority students in the classroom, special education referral decisions, and assessment practices. Additionally, this study sought to understand the experiences of four separate groups of educators, including K-5 general education teachers, ELL teachers, school psychologists, and speech-language pathologists. This research study focused on the following research questions:

What are educators' experiences in identifying minority students referred to special education in Tennessee Elementary Schools? How do K-5 educators identify minority students for referral to special education? What information do K-5 educators consider besides academic performance and standardized assessment scores when determining special education eligibility for minority students? How do K-5 educators incorporate cultural and language differences in eligibility determination?

Research data collected from the ten educator participants representing three elementary schools in an East Tennessee school district supported each research question. Data collection included individual interviews, focus group sessions, and letter-writing prompts. A review of collected data revealed three major themes, including the use of data, the importance of

communication, and frustration among educators. The use of data as a theme described the various sources of data educators used when determining the need for a referral or assessment of minority students for special education, including intervention data, standardized assessments, and the use of background information. The importance of communication was the second central theme that emerged from the collected data. This theme referred to how participants described the importance of communication with parents, other educators, and interpreters during referral and assessment decisions for minority students. Frustration was the third central theme expressed by participants in this research study. This theme referred to participants expressing frustration with delays or denial of services for ESL students, inconsistency with the overall assessment process, and feeling they lacked training on guidelines for referring minority students.

The theory that guided this research study was Vygotsky's sociocultural theory. The principles of this theory guided this study in examining the lived experiences of K-5 educators involved in the referral and assessment of minority students. The two primary findings of this study revealed that educators want special education referrals, assessments, and eligibility decisions to be unbiased, and they desire additional training on making special education decisions for minority students. Participants in this research study described their experiences with making appropriate special education decisions and expressed concern for misrepresentation among minorities in special education.

References

- Abedi, J., Zhang, Y., Rowe, S. E., & Lee, H. (2020). Examining effectiveness and validity of accommodations for English language learners in mathematics: An evidence-based computer accommodation decision system. Educational Measurement: Issues and Practice, 39(4), 41–52.
- Abbot-Smith, K., Morawska-Patera, P., Luniewska, M., Spruce, M., & Haman, E. (2018). Using parental questionnaires to investigate the heritage language proficiency of bilingual children. Child Language Teaching and Therapy, 34(2), 155–170.
- Aceves, T. C. (2014). Supporting Latino families in special education through community agency-school partnerships. Multicultural Education, 21(3–4), 45–50.
- Adiguzel, O. C., & Karagol, I. (2020). A study on the primary education curricula in the context of socialization, multiculturalism and democratic values. *Journal of Theoretical Educational Science*, 13(1), 1–24.
- Adler RH. Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Human Lactation*. 2022;38(4):598-602. doi:10.1177/08903344221116620
- AERA, APA, & NCME. (1999). Standards for educational and psychological testing. Washington, DC: Author.
- Aguilar, J. M., Plante, E., & Sandoval, M. (2018). Exemplar variability facilitates retention of word learning by children with specific language impairment. Language, Speech & Hearing Services in Schools, 49(1), 72–84. https://doi.org/10.1044/2017_LSHSS-17-0031

- Ali, Z., & Masroor, F. (2017). Determining teacher's role in influencing learners' emotional attitude towards learning of English language. Journal of Social Sciences & Humanities (1994-7046), 25(1), 1–20.
- Alkhudiry, R. (2022). The contribution of Vygotsky's sociocultural theory in mediating L2 knowledge co-construction. Theory & Practice in Language Studies, 12(10), 2117–2123. https://doi.org/10.17507/tpls.1210.19
- Anderson, J. (2017). Commentary: The history of education for the next America. *American Educational Research Journal*, 54(1).
- Anderson, D. L., Watt, S. E., Noble, W., & Shanley, D. C. (2012). Knowledge of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and attitudes toward teaching children with ADHD: The role of teaching experience. Psychology in the Schools, 49(6), 511–525.
- Anderson, G. (1990). Fundamentals of educational research. London: The Falmer Press.
- Anyon, Y., Jenson, J., Altschul, I., Farrar, J., McQueen, J., Greer, E., Downing, B., & Simmons, J. (2014). The persistent effect of race and the promise of alternatives to suspension in school discipline outcomes. Children and Youth Services Review, 44, 379–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2014.06.025
- Arias, G., & Friberg, J. (2017). Bilingual language assessment: Contemporary versus recommended practice in American schools. Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 48(1), 1–15.
- Artiles, A. J., Kozleski, E. B., Trent, S. C., Osher, D., & Ortiz, A. (2010). Justifying and explaining disproportionality, 1968-2008: A critique of underlying views of culture. Exceptional Children, 76(3), 279–299.

- Artiles, A.J., & Ortiz, A.A. (Eds.). (2002). English language learners with special education needs: Identification, placement, and instruction. Washington, DC: Center for Applied Linguistics.
- Artiles, A. J., Rueda, R., Salazar, J. J., & Higareda, I. (2005). Within-group diversity in minority disproportionate representation: English language learners in urban school districts. *Exceptional Children*, 71(3), 283–300. https://doi.org/10.1177/001440290507100305
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2004). Knowledge and skills needed by speech-language pathologists and audiologists to provide culturally and linguistically appropriate services [Knowledge and Skills]. Retrieved from http://www.asha.org/policy/KS2004-00215.htm
- Aston, C., Smith, L., & Woods, I. (2022). Examining the importance of rooting out bias through culturally responsive clinical judgement when assessing Black children. School Psychology International, 43(6), 568–583. https://doi.org/10.1177/01430343221075352
- August, D., Uccelli, P., Artzi, L., Barr, C., & Francis, D. J. (2021). English learners' acquisition of academic vocabulary: Instruction matters, but so do word characteristics. Reading Research Quarterly, 56(3), 559–582.
- Azadi, G., Biria, R., & Nasri, M. (2018). Operationalising the concept of mediation in L2 teacher education. Journal of Language Teaching and Research, 9(1), 132-140
- Baker, B., & Chenery-Morris, S. (2020). 8. Methods of data collection in qualitative methodologies: Observation, interviews, and focus groups. Practicing Midwife, 23(11), 21–25. https://doi.org/10.55975/mnrq8297

- Balmer, D. F., & Richards, B. F. (2022). Conducting qualitative research through time: how might theory be useful in longitudinal qualitative research? Advances in Health Sciences Education: Theory and Practice, 27(1), 277–288. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-021-10068-5
- Banse, H., & Palacios, N. (2018). Supportive classrooms for Latino English language learners:

 Grit, ELL status, and the classroom context. Journal of Educational Research, 111(6),
 645–656. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2017.1389682
- Barrio, B. L. (2017). Special education policy change: Addressing the disproportionality of English language learners in special education programs in rural communities. Rural Special Education Quarterly, 36(2), 64–72.
- Barrio, B. L. (2021). Understanding culturally responsive practices in teacher preparation: An avenue to address disproportionality in special education. Teaching Education, 32(4), 437–456
- Bedore, L. M., & Peña, E. D. (2008). Assessment of bilingual children for identification of language impairment: Current findings and implications for practice. International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism, 11(1), 1–29.
- Behring, S. T., Cabello, B., Kushida, D., & Murguia, A. (2000). Cultural modifications to current school-based consultation approaches reported by culturally diverse beginning consultants. School Psychology Review, 29(3), 354–367.
- Beverly, D. & Michele, S. (2015). Applying Dale's Cone of Experience to increase learning and retention: A study of student learning in a foundational leadership course. QScience Proceedings: Engineering Leaders Conferen- ce, 2014, 6. Retrieved from: http://www.qscience.com/ doi/10.5339/qproc.2015.elc2014.6

- Beyer, T., & Hudson Kam, C. (2011). First and second graders' interpretation of Standard American English morphology across varieties of English. First Language, 32, 365–384.
- Bingham, A. J., & Witkowsky, P. (2021). Deductive and inductive approaches to qualitative data analysis. Analyzing and interpreting qualitative data: After the interview, 133-146.
- Birks M, Chapman Y, Francis K. Memoing in qualitative research: Probing data and processes. Journal of Research in Nursing. 2008;13(1):68-75.

 doi:10.1177/1744987107081254
- Blachowicz, C. L. Z., & Fisher, P. (2000). Vocabulary instruction. In M. L. Kamil, P. B.

 Mosenthal, P. D. Pearson, & R. Barr (Eds.), Handbook of reading research (Vol. 3, pp. 503–523). Erlbaum.

 http://www.academia.edu/download/54232267/_Michael_L._Kamil__Peter_B._Mosental

 __P._David_PeBookFi. Pdf
- Blanchett, W. J. (2010). Telling it like it is: The role of race, class, and culture in the perpetuation of learning disability as a privileged category for the White middle class.

 Disability Studies Quarterly, 30. doi:10.18061/dsq.v30i2.1233
- Blanchette, W. J., Klingner, J. K., & Harry, B. (2009). The intersection of race, culture, language, and disability: Implications for urban education. Urban Education, 44(4), 389-409
- Bocian, K. M., Beebe, M. E., MacMillan, D. L., & Gresham, F. M. (1999). Competing paradigms in learning disabilities classification by schools and the variations in the meaning of discrepant achievement. Learning Disabilities Research and Practice, 14(1), 1–14.

- Bodrova, E. (2003). Vygotsky and Montessori: One dream, two visions. *Montessori Life*, 15(1), 30–33. Brown, C. S., & Chu, H. (2012). Discrimination, ethnic identity, and academic outcomes of Mexican immigrant children: The importance of school context. *Child Development*, 83(5), 1477–1485.
- Bodvin, K., Verschueren, K., De Haene, L., & Struyf, E. (2018). Social inequality in education and the use of extramural support services: Access and parental experiences in disadvantaged families. European Journal of Psychology of Education, 33(2), 215–233.
- Bolderston. (2012). Conducting a research interview. Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Sciences. 43. 66–76. 10.1016/j.jmir.2011.12.002.
- Bradshaw, C. P., Mitchell, M. M., O'Brennan, L. M., & Leaf, P. J. (2010). Multilevel exploration of factors contributing to the overrepresentation of Black students in office disciplinary referrals. Journal of Educational Psychology, 102(2), 508–520.
- Brazill, S., & Ruff, B. (2022). Using transformational leadership to create brave space in teaching multicultural education. International Journal of Multicultural Education, 24(2), 114–132. https://doi.org/10.18251/ijme.v24i2.2847
- Brown, C. S., & Chu, H. (2012). Discrimination, ethnic identity, and academic outcomes of Mexican immigrant children: the importance of school context. *Child*development, 83(5), 1477–1485. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2012.01786.x
- Buren, M. K., Maggin, D. M., & Brown, C. (2020). Meta-synthesis on the experiences of families from nondominant communities and special education collaboration. Exceptionality, 28(4), 259–278.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09362835.2018.1480953

- Burke, M. M., Rossetti, Z., Aleman Tovar, J., Rios, K., Lee, J. D., Schraml-Block, K., & Rivera, J. I. (2021). Comparing special education experiences among Spanish- and English-speaking parents of children with disabilities. Online Submission.
- Caesar, L. G., & Kohler, P. D. (2007). The state of school-based bilingual assessment: Actual practice versus recommended guidelines. Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 38(3), 190–200.
- Candela, A. G. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. The Qualitative Report, 24(3), 619-628. http://dx.doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3726
- Carta, J., Greenwood, C. R., Atwater, J., McConnell, S. R., Goldstein, H., & Kaminski, R.

 <u>A.(</u>2015). Identifying preschool children for higher tiers of language and early literacy instruction within a response to intervention framework. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 36(4), 281–291. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815115579937. [Google Scholar]
- Carter, N. (1969). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. Number 5/September 2014, 41(5), 545-547.
- Castilla-Earls, A., Bedore, L., Rojas, R., Fabiano-Smith, L., Pruitt-Lord, S., Restrepo, M. A., & Peña, E. (2020). Beyond scores: Using converging evidence to determine speech and language services eligibility for dual language learners. American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology, 29(3), 1116–1132. https://doi.org/10.1044/2020_AJSLP-19-00179
- Castrillón, L. J. V. (2017). The effects of Vygotsky's sociocultural theory on second language acquisition and language Input. ESPIRAL: Revista de Docencia e Investigación, 7(1), 91–102. https://doi.org/10.15332/erdi.v7i1.1780

- Cavendish, W., Connor, D., Gonzalez, T., Jean-Pierre, P., & Card, K. (2020). Troubling "The problem" of racial overrepresentation in special education: A commentary and call to rethink research. Educational Review, 72(5), 567–582.
- Cavendish, W., & Connor, D. (2018). Toward authentic IEPs and transition plans: student, parent, and teacher perspectives. Learning Disability Quarterly, 41(1), 32–43. https://doi.org/10.1177/0731948716684680.
- Centeno, J. G. (2003). Evaluating communication skills in bilingual students: Important considerations on the role of the speech-language pathologist. In E. Atkins (Ed.), The ELL companion to reducing bias in special education (pp. 171–178). Minneapolis, MN: Department of Education.
- Centeno, J. G. (2005). Bilingual development and communication: Dynamics and implications in clinical language studies. Manuscript submitted for publication.
- Centeno, J. G., & Eng, N. (2006). Bilingual speech-language pathology consultants in culturally diverse schools: Considerations on theoretically-based consultee engagement. Journal of Educational & Psychological Consultation, 16(4), 333–347.
- Chang, Y.-C., Avila, M., & Rodriguez, H. (2022). Beyond the dotted line: Empowering parents from culturally and linguistically diverse families to participate. Teaching Exceptional Children, 55(2), 132–140. https://doi.org/10.1177/00400599221099868
- Charity, A. H., Scarborough, H. S., & Griffin, D. M. (2004). Familiarity with school English in African American children and its relation to early reading achievement. Child Development, 75, 1340–1356.
- Charmaz, K., 2006, Constructing Grounded Theory. A practical guide through qualitative analysis, Sage, London.

- Chow, J. C., Frey, J. R., & Naples, L. H. (2021). Associations between teacher ratings and direct assessment of elementary students' speech and language skills. Assessment for effective intervention, 46(4), 310–315.
- Chu, S.-Y. (2011). Teacher perceptions of their efficacy for special education referral of students from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds. Education, 132(1), 3–14.
- Christo, C., & Ponzuric, J. (2017). CASP Position paper: Specific learning disabilities and patterns of strengths and weaknesses. Contemporary School Psychology, 21(1), 7–9.
- Cioè-Peña, M. (2020). Planning inclusion: The need to formalize parental participation in individual education plans (and Meetings). Educational Forum, 84(4), 377–390.
- Clandinin, D. J., & Connelly F. M., (1998). Personal experience methods. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), Collecting and interpreting qualitative materials. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Clark, S. K., & Andreasen, L. (2021). Exploring elementary teacher self-efficacy and teacher beliefs: Are we preparing teachers to teach culturally diverse students? Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education, 49(1), 128–142.
- Cormier, D. C., Bulut, O., McGrew, K. S., & Kennedy, K. (2022). Linguistic influences on cognitive test performance: Examinee characteristics are more important than test characteristics. Journal of Intelligence, 10.
- Costa, A., & Cramer, E. D. (2022). Diversity, disability, and decision-making: Examining the perceptions of educational decision-makers. Multiple Voices: Disability, Race, and Language Intersections in Special Education, 22(1), 39–54.

- Costley, T., Gkonou, C., Myles, F., Roehr-Brackin, K., & Tellier, A. (2020). Multilingual and monolingual children in the primary-level language classroom: Individual differences and perceptions of foreign language learning. Language Learning Journal, 48(5), 643–655.
- Coutinho, M.J., Oswald, D.P. (2000). Disproportionate representation in special education: A synthesis and recommendations. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 9, 135–156. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1009462820157
- Cowan, T., Paroby, C., Leibold, L. J., Buss, E., Rodriguez, B., & Calandruccio, L. (2022).

 Masked-speech recognition for linguistically diverse populations: A focused review and suggestions for the future. Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research:

 JSLHR, 65(8), 3195–3216. https://doi.org/10.1044/2022_JSLHR-22-00011
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approach. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell J. (2016). 30 Essential skills for the qualitative researcher. SAGE publications, Inc.
- Creswell, J.W. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: choosing among the five approaches*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Creswell, J. W., Klassen, A. C., Plano Clark, V. L., & Smith, K. C. (2011). Best practices for mixed methods research in the health sciences. *Bethesda (Maryland): National Institutes of Health*, 2013, 541-545.
- Creswell J., & Poth C. (2018). Qualitative inquiry: Research design, choosing among five approaches, 4th Edition. SAGE publications, Inc.
- Creswell, J. W., & Guetterman, T. C. (2019). Educational Research: Planning, Conducting, and Evaluating Quantitative and Qualitative Research, 6th Edition. In Pearson. Pearson.

- Cummings, K. P., & Hardin, B. J. (2017). Navigating disability and related services: Stories of immigrant families. Early Child Development and Care, 187(1), 115–127.
- Dallas, B. K., Sprong, M. E., & Kluesner, B. K. (2016). Multiuniversity comparison of faculty attitudes and use of universal design instructional techniques. Rehabilitation Research, Policy, and Education, 30(2), 148–160.
- Daub, O., Cunningham, B. J., Bagatto, M. P., Johnson, A. M., Kwok, E. Y., Smyth, R. E., & Cardy, J. O. (2021). Adopting a conceptual validity framework for testing in speech-language pathology. American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology, 30(4), 1894–1908. https://doi.org/10.1044/2021_AJSLP-20-00032
- Donovan, M. S., Cross, C. T., & National Academy of Sciences National Research Council, W. D. (2002). Minority Students in Special and Gifted Education.
- Daniel Przymus, S., & Alvarado, M. (2019). Advancing bilingual special education:

 Translanguaging in content-based story retells for distinguishing language difference
 from disability. Multiple Voices for Ethnically Diverse Exceptional Learners, 19(1), 23–
 43.
- de Brey, C., Musu, L., McFarland, J., Wilkinson-Flicker, S., Diliberti, M., Zhang, A.,

 Branstetter, C., and Wang, X. (2019). Status and Trends in the Education of Racial and

 Ethnic Groups 2018 (NCES 2019-038). U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC:

 National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved [date] from https://nces.ed.gov/

 pubsearch/.
- Denman, D., Cordier, R., Jae-Hyun Kim, Munro, N., & Speyer, R. (2021). What influences speech-language pathologists' use of different types of language assessments for

- elementary school-age children? *Language, Speech & Hearing Services in Schools*, *52*(3), 776–793. https://doi.org/10.1044/2021_LSHSS-20-00053
- Dilshad, R. M., & Latif, M. I. (2013). Focus group interview as a tool for qualitative research:

 An analysis. Pakistan Journal of Social Sciences (PJSS), 33(1), 191–198.
- Dubasik, V. L., & Valdivia, D. S. (2021). School-based speech-language pathologists' adherence to practice guidelines for assessment of English Learners. *Language, Speech & Hearing Services in Schools*, 52, 485–496. https://doi.org/10.1044/2020_LSHSS-20-00037
- Edwards, J. (2003). The importance of being bilingual. In J. M. Dewaele, A. House, & L. Wei (Eds.), Bilingualism: Basic principles and beyond (pp. 28–42). Multilingual Matters
- Elder, T. E., Figlio, D. N., Imberman, S. A., & Persico, C. L. (2021). School segregation and racial gaps in special education identification. Journal of Labor Economics, 39, S151–S197. https://doi.org/10.1086/711421
- Ellis, R. 2004. "Individual differences in second language learning." In *The Handbook of Applied Linguistics*, edited by A. Davies and C. Elder, 525–551. Oxford:

 Blackwell. Crossref.
- Ellis, E. (2006). Monolingualism: The unmarked case. Estudios de Sociolingüística, 7, 173–196. Farangi, M. R., & Kheradmand Saadi, Z. (2017). Dynamic assessment or schema theory: The case of listening comprehension. *Cogent Education*, *4*(1), 1-13.
- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014). Qualitative Content Analysis: A Focus on Trustworthiness. *SAGE Open*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014522633

- Eun, B. (2019). Adopting a stance: Bandura and Vygotsky on professional development. Research in Education, 105(1), 74–88. https://doi.org/10.1177/0034523718793431
- Farkas, G., Morgan, P. L., Hillemeier, M. M., Mitchell, C., & Woods, A. D. (2020). District-level achievement gaps explain Black and Hispanic overrepresentation in special education. *Exceptional Children*, 86(4), 374–392.
- Fish, R. E. (2017). The racialized construction of exceptionality: Experimental evidence of race/ethnicity effects on teachers' interventions. Social Science Research, 62, 317–334. doi: 10.1016/j.ssresearch.2016.08.007
- Fish, R. E. (2019). Teacher race and racial disparities in special education. Remedial and Special Education, 40(4), 213–224.
- Forero, R., Nahidi, S., De Costa, J., Mohsin, M., Fitzgerald, G., Gibson, N., McCarthy, S., & Aboagye-Sarfo, P. (2018). Application of four-dimension criteria to assess rigor of qualitative research in emergency medicine. *BMC health services research*, *18*(1), 120. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-2915-2
- Frances, Ryan & Coughlan, Michael & Cronin, Patricia. (2009). Interviewing in qualitative research. International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation. 16. 309-314. 10.12968/ijtr.2009.16.6.42433.
- Francis, G. L., Gross, J. M. S., Lavín, C. E., Velazquez, L. A. C., & Sheets, N. (2018). Hispanic caregiver experiences supporting positive postschool outcomes for young adults with disabilities. Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities, 56(5), 337–353. https://doi.org/10.1352/1934-9556-56.5.337.

- Friberg, J. C. (2010). Considerations for test selection: How do validity and reliability impact diagnostic decisions? Child Language Teaching & Therapy, 26(1), 77–92. doi:10.1177/02656590093499
- Gage, N. A., Katsiyannis, A., Carrero, K. M., Miller, R., & Pico, D. (2021). Exploring disproportionate discipline for Latinx students with and without disabilities: A national analysis. Behavioral Disorders, 47(1), 3–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/0198742920961356
- Gamble, B. E. (2021). Parents of Black children and their perspectives on school psychology and mental health services in schools. Taboo: The Journal of Culture & Education, 20(2), 28–57.
- García, O. (2008). Multilingual language awareness and teacher education. In J. Cenoz & N. H. Hornberger (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Language and Education: Vol. 6. Knowledge about language (2nd ed., pp. 385-400). Berlin: Springer
- Genesee, F., Lindholm-Leary, K., Saunders, W., & Christian, D. (2005). English language learners in U.S. schools: An overview of research findings. Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk, 10(4), 363–385. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1207/s15327671espr1004_2
- Gerzel-Short, L., Kiru, E. W., Hsiao, Y.-J., Hovey, K. A., Wei, Y., & Miller, R. D. (2019). Engaging culturally and linguistically diverse families of children with disabilities. Intervention in School and Clinic, 55(2), 120–126.
- Girolamo, T., Ghali, S., Campos, I., & Ford, A. (2022). Interpretation and use of standardized language assessments for diverse school-age individuals. Perspectives of the ASHA Special Interest Groups, 18(7), 981–994. https://doi.org/10.1044/2022_PERSP-21-00322

- Glaser, B.G., 1978, Theoretical sensitivity. Advances in the methodology of Grounded Theory, Sociology Press, Mill Valley, CA.
- Glesne, C. (2006). Becoming qualitative researchers: An introduction (3rd ed.). Boston, MA:

 Pearson Education
- Gliner, J. A. (1994). Reviewing qualitative research: Proposed criteria for fairness and rigor. *Occupational Therapy Journal of Research*, *14*(2), 78–90.
- Glock, S., Kovacs, C., & Pit-ten Cate, I. (2019). Teachers' attitudes towards ethnic minority students: Effects of schools' cultural diversity. British Journal of Educational Psychology, 89(4), 616–634.
- Göktas, E., & Kaya, M. (2023). The effects of teacher relationships on student academic achievement: A second order meta-analysis. Participatory Educational Research, 10(1), 275–289.
- Golden, T., Wendel, M.L., 2020. Public health's next step in advancing equity: Re-evaluating epistemological assumptions to move social determinants from theory to practice.

 Frontiers in Public Health. 8, 131–131.
- Goodwin, A. L. (2017). Who is in the classroom now? Teacher preparation and the education of immigrant children. *Educational Studies: Journal of the American Educational Studies*Association, 53(5), 433–449.
- Graves S. L., Smith L. V., Nichols K. D. (2020). Is the WISC-V a fair test for Black children: factor structure in an urban public school sample. *Contemporary School Psychology*, 25(2), 157–169. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40688-020-00306-9

- Green, A. L., Lewis, T. J., & Olsen, A. A. (2020). General education teachers' use of evidence-based practices: Examining the role of student race and risk status. Behavioral Disorders, 45(3), 183–192. https://doi.org/10.1177/0198742919883570
- Green, A. L., and Stormont, M. (2018). Creating culturally responsive and evidence-based lessons for diverse learners with disabilities. Intervention in School & Clinic, 53(3), 138–145. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451217702114
- Grosjean, F. (1989). Neurolinguists, beware! The bilingual is not two monolinguals in one person. Brain and Language, 36(1), 3–15.
- Guler, N. (2020). Preparing to teach English language learners: Effect of online courses in changing mainstream teachers' perceptions of English language learners. Innovation in Language Learning and Teaching, 14(1), 83–96.
- Guler, N. (2022). Teaching culturally and linguistically diverse students: Exploring the challenges and perceptions of nursing faculty. Nursing Education Perspectives (Wolters Kluwer Health), 43(1), 11–13. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NEP.0000000000000861
- Guiberson, M. (2009). Hispanic representation in special education: Patterns and implications. *Preventing School Failure*, *53*(3), 167–176.
- Guiberson, M., & Atkins, J. (2010). Speech-language pathologists' preparation, practices, and perspectives on serving culturally and linguistically diverse children. Communications Disorders Quarterly, 20, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525740110384132
- Guiberson, M., & Rodriguez, B. L. (2013). Classification accuracy of nonword repetition when used with preschool-age Spanish speaking children. Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 44(2), 121–132.

- Gutierrez-Clellen, V. F., Restrepo, M. A., Bedore, L., Peña, E., & Anderson, R. (2000, January).

 Language sample analysis in Spanish-speaking children. Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 31, 88–98.
- Gutiérrez-Clellen, V. F., & Simon-Cereijido, G. (2010). Using nonword repetition tasks for the identification of language impairment in Spanish-English speaking children: Does the language of assessment matter? Learning Disabilities Research & Practice, 25(1), 48–58. doi:10.1111/j.1540-5826.2009.00300.x
- Hagood, M. C., & Skinner, E. N. (2015). Moving beyond data transcription: Rigor as issue in representation of digital literacies. *Literacy Research: Theory, Method, and Practice*, 64(1), 429–442.
- Hall, E. T. (1981). Beyond culture. Anchor Press.
- Hammer, C. S., Detwiler, J. S., Detwiler, J., Blood, G. W., & Qualls, C. D. (2004). Speech-language pathologists' training and confidence in serving Spanish–English bilingual children. Journal of Communication Disorders, 37(2), 91–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcomdis.2003.07.002
- Harris, B., Sullivan, A. L., Oades-Sese, G. V., & Sotelo-Dynega, M. (2015). Culturally and linguistically responsive practices in psychoeducational reports for English language learners. Journal of Applied School Psychology, 31(2), 141–166. https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/15377903.2014.1002144
- Harry, B. (1992). Cultural diversity families and special education system: Communication and empowerment. New York: Columbia University Press.

- Harry, B., & Anderson, M. (1994). The disproportionate placement of African American males in special education programs: A critique of the process. Journal of Negro Education, 63, 602–619. doi:10.2307/2967298
- Harry, B., & Fenton, P. (2016). Risk in schooling: The contribution of qualitative research to our understanding of the overrepresentation of minorities in special education. Multiple Voices for Ethnically Diverse Exceptional Learners, 16(1), 17–28.
- Harry, B., & Klingner, J. (2007). Why are so many minority students in special education?

 Understanding race & disability in schools. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Hart, J. E., Cheatham, G., & Jimenez-Silva, M. (2012). Facilitating quality language interpretation for families of diverse students with special needs. Preventing School Failure, 56(4), 207–213.
- Hendricks, A. E., & Adlof, S. M. (2017). Language assessment with children who speak nonmainstream dialects: Examining the effects of scoring modifications in norm-referenced assessment. Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 48, 168–182. https://doi.org/10.1044/2017_LSHSS-16-0060
- Hendy, E., & Cuevas, J. (2020). The effects on instructional conversations on English language learners. Georgia Educational Researcher, 17(2).
- Hoang, T., & Dalimonte, M. (2007). A Meta-analytic review: Teachers' attitudes toward students with disabilities. *Journal of the American Academy of Special Education Professionals*, 5–22.
- Hoffman, M. C. (2018). Culturally responsive teaching--Part 1: Acknowledging culture and self-cultivation. Communique, 47(2), 1–23.

- Höijer, B. (2008). Ontological assumptions and generalizations in qualitative (Audience)

 Research. European Journal of Communication, 23(3), 275–

 294. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267323108092536
- Hoover, J. J., & deBettencourt, L. U. (2018). Educating culturally and linguistically diverse exceptional learners: The need for continued advocacy. Exceptionality, 26(3), 176–189.
- Hoover, J. J., Erickson, J. R., Herron, S. R., & Smith, C. E. (2018). Implementing culturally and linguistically responsive special education eligibility assessment in rural county elementary schools: Pilot Project. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, *37*(2), 90–102
- Hoover, J. J., & Soltero-González, L. (2018). Educator preparation for developing culturally and linguistically responsive MTSS in rural community elementary schools. Teacher Education & Special Education, 41(3), 188–202. https://doi.org/10.1177/0888406417753689
- Hoover, J. J., & Barletta, L. M. (2016). Special education assessment of ELs. In J. J. Hoover, L.
 M. Baca, & J. K. Klingner (Eds.), Why do English learners struggle with reading?
 Distinguishing language acquisition from learning disabilities (2nd ed., pp. 117–139).
 Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin
- Horton-Ikard, R. (2010). Language sample analysis with children who speak non-mainstream dialects of English. Perspectives on Language Learning and Education, 17, 16–23. https://doi.org/10.1044/lle17.1.16
- Horton, R., & Munoz, M. L. (2021). Teaching culturally responsive evidence-based practice in speech language pathology. Teaching and Learning in Communication Sciences & Disorders, 5(3).

- Hosp, J.L., & Madyun, N. (2007). Addressing disproportionality with response to intervention.
 In S. Jimerson, M. Burns & A. VanDerHeyden (Eds.), Handbook of Response to
 Intervention: The science & Practice of Assessment and Interention (pp. 10-24) New
 York: Springer
- Huang, R., Hopkins, J., & Nippold, M. A. (1997). Satisfaction with standardized language testing: A survey of speech-language pathologists. Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 28(1), 12–29.
- Hudry, K., Smith, J., Pillar, S., Varcin, K. J., Bent, C. A., Boutrus, M., Chetcuti, L., Clark, A.,
 Dissanayake, C., Iacono, T., Kennedy, L., Lant, A., Robinson Lake, J., Segal, L.,
 Slonims, V., Taylor, C., Wan, M. W., Green, J., & Whitehouse, A. J. O. (2023). The
 utility of natural language samples for assessing communication and language in infants
 referred with early signs of Autism. Research on Child & Adolescent
 Psychopathology, 51(4), 529–539. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-022-01010-3
- Hurlbut, A. R., & Tunks, J. (2016). Elementary preservice teachers' experiences with response to intervention. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 43(3), 25–48. [Google Scholar]
- Hussain, S., & Woods, K. (2019). The use of dynamic assessment by educational psychologists in the early years foundation stage. *Educational Psychology in Practice*, *35*(4), 424–439. https://doi.org/10.1080/02667363.2019.1643293
- Hutchison, C. B. (2018). Re-thinking disproportionality in special education as a self-fulfilling prophecy. *Insights into Learning Disabilities*, *15*(2), 113–116.
- I, J. Y., & de Araujo, Z. (2019). An examination of monolingual preservice teachers' set-up of cognitively demanding mathematics tasks with emergent multilingual students. Research in Mathematics Education, 21(2), 208–228.

- Ingraham, C. L. (2000). Consultation through a multicultural lens: Multicultural and cross-cultural consultation in schools. School Psychology Review, 29(3), 320–343.
- Ingraham, C. L. (2003). Multicultural consultee-centered consultation: When novice consultants explore cultural hypotheses with experienced teacher consultees. Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation, 14(3–4), 329–362. doi:10.1080/
- Isenberg, E., Max, J., Gleason, P., & Deutsch, J. (2022). Estimating the "Effective Teaching Gap:" Students experience unequal outcomes, but mostly equal access to high-quality instruction. Education Next, 22(4), 60–65.
- Jacobs, H. (2013). Phenomenology as a way of life? Husserl on phenomenological reflection and self-transformation. Continental Philosophy Review, 46(3), 349–369. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11007-013-9267-8
- Jaffe-Walter, R., & Miranda, C. P. (2020). Segregation or sanctuary? Examining the educational possibilities of counter publics for immigrant English learners. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 19(1), 104–122.
- James, N. (2016). Using email interviews in qualitative educational research: Creating space to think and time to talk. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 29:2, 150-163, DOI: 10.1080/09518398.2015.1017848
- Janis, I. (2022). Strategies for establishing dependability between two qualitative intrinsic case studies: A reflexive thematic analysis. *Field Methods*, *34*(3), 240–255. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X211069636
- Jarvis, H., & Krashen, S. (2014). Is CALL obsolete? Language acquisition and language learning revisited in a digital age. The Electronic Journal for English as a Second Language,

- 17(4), 1-6. Retrieved from http://www.tesl-ej.org/wordpress/issues/volume17/ej68/ej68a1/
- Jung, A. W. (2011). Individualized education programs (IEPs) and barriers for parents from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds. Multicultural Education, 19(3), 21–25.
- Kalyananpur, M., Harry, B., & Skrtic, T. (2000). Equity and advocacy expectations of culturally diverse families' participant- Education, 47(2), 120-133.
- Kan, P. F., & Windsor, J. (2010). Word learning in children with primary language impairment: A meta-analysis. Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research, 53(3), 739–756. https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2009/08-0248)
- Karimi, M. N., & Nazari, M. (2021). Growth in language teachers' understanding of differentiated instruction: A sociocultural theory perspective. Journal of Education for Teaching: International Research and Pedagogy, 47(3), 322–336.
- Kiramba, L. K., Kumi-Yeboah, A., Smith, P., & Sallar, A. M. (2021). Cultural and linguistic experiences of immigrant youth: Voices of African immigrant youth in United States urban schools. Multicultural Education Review, 13(1), 43–63.
- Kim, Y., Turner, J. D., & Mason, P. A. (2015). Getting into the zone: Cases of student-centered multicultural literacy teacher education. *Action in Teacher Education*, *37*(2), 102–119.
- Kirksey, J. J. (2022). Preparedness and experiences of novice teachers in the sociopolitical context of heightened immigration enforcement: Evidence from a survey of California teachers. Journal of Teacher Education, 73(1), 37–51.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/00224871211045980
- Klingner, J. K., Artiles, A. J., Kozleski, E., Harry, B., Zion, S., Tate, W., Duran, G. Z., & Riley, D. (2005). Addressing the disproportionate representation of culturally and linguistically

- diverse students in special education through culturally responsive educational systems. Education Policy Analysis Archives, 13(38).
- Koran, J., & Kopriva, R. J. (2017). Framing appropriate accommodations in terms of individual need: Examining the fit of four approaches to selecting test accommodations of English language learners. Applied Measurement in Education, 30(2), 71–81.
- Kozulin, A. (2018). Mediation and internalization: Conceptual analysis and practical applications. In The Routledge handbook of sociocultural theory and second language development (pp. 23-41). Routledge
- Kramarczuk Voulgarides, C., Fergus, E., & King Thorius, K. A. (2017). Pursuing equity: Disproportionality in special education and the reframing of technical solutions to address systemic inequities. *Review of Research in Education*, 41(1), 61–87.
- Kramarczuk Voulgarides, C., Aylward, A., Tefera, A., Artiles, A. J., Alvarado, S. L., & Noguera, P. (2021). Unpacking the logic of compliance in special education: Contextual influences on discipline racial disparities in suburban schools. Sociology of Education, 94(3), 208–226. https://doi.org/10.1177/00380407211013322
- Kumar, R., & Hamer, L. (2013). Preservice teachers' attitudes and beliefs toward student diversity and proposed instructional practices: A sequential design study. Journal of Teacher Education, 64(2), 162–177.
- Landmark, L. J., Ju, S., Greene, G., & Lai, M. H. C. (2020). Evaluating special educator and transition personnel knowledge and skills for working with diverse families and students during the transition process: Preliminary development and validation of an assessment instrument. Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation, 52(3), 317–331.

 https://doi.org/10.3233/JVR-201080

- Lan, S.-W., & de Oliveira, L. C. (2019). English language learners' participation in the discourse of a multilingual science classroom. International Journal of Science Education, 41(9), 1246–1270.
- Lantolf, J. P., Xi, J., & Minakova, V. (2021). Sociocultural theory and concept-based language instruction. Language Teaching, 54(3), 327–342.
- Li S. (2022). On the role of English as a foreign language learners' individual differences in their use of grammar learning strategies. *Frontiers in psychology*, *13*, 853158. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.853158
- Lim, S., & Cheatham, G. A. (2021). A sociocognitive discourse analysis of monolingual ideology and bias in special education partnerships. Remedial and Special Education, 42(5), 304–316.
- Liping Wei. (2021). Teaching academic vocabulary to English language learners (ELLs). Theory & Practice in Language Studies, 11(12), 1507–1514. https://doi.org/10.17507/tpls.1112.01
- Liu, K., & Barrera, M. (2013). Providing leadership to meet the needs of English language learners with disabilities. Journal of Special Education Administration, 26, 31-42.
- Liu, K. K., Ward, J. M., Thurlow, M. L., & Christensen, L. L. (2017). Large-scale assessment and English language learners with disabilities. Educational Policy, 31(5), 551–583.
- Longobardi, C., Settanni, M., Lin, S., & Fabris, M. A. (2021). Student-teacher relationship quality and prosocial behaviour: The mediating role of academic achievement and a positive attitude towards school. The British Journal of Educational Psychology, 91(2), 547–562. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12378

- Macaulay, R. K. (1997). Standards and variation in urban speech: Examples from Lowland Scots (Vol. 20). John Benjamins Publishing.
- McFarland, J., Hussar, B., Wang, X., Zhang, J., Wang, K., Rathbun, A., ... Bullock

 Mann, F. (2018). *The condition of education 2018* (NCES 2018-144). Washington,

 DC: National Center for Education Statistics. U.S. Department of Education. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2018144 [Google Scholar]
- McKinley, J. (2015). Critical argument and writer identity: Social constructivism as a theoretical framework for EFL academic writing. Critical Inquiry in Language Studies, 12(3), 184–207. https://doi.org/10.1080/15427587.2015.1060558
- McNeilly, L. G. (2019). Strategies utilized by speech-language pathologists to effectively address the communication needs of migrant school-age children. Folia Phoniatrica et Logopaedica, 71(2/3), 127–134. https://doi.org/10.1159/000496969
- McNicholas, P. J., Floyd, R. G., Woods, I. L., Singh, L. J., Manguno, M. S., & Maki, K. E.
 (2018). State special education criteria for identifying intellectual disability: A review following revised diagnostic criteria and Rosa's law. School Psychology
 Quarterly, 33(1), 75–82.
- Mellom, P. J., Portes, P. R., Straubhaar, R., Balderas, C., & Ariail, M. (2018). "They come with nothing:" How professional development in a culturally responsive pedagogy shapes teacher attitudes towards Latino/a English language learners. Teaching & Teacher Education, 71, 98–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.12.013
- Metzner, F., Adedeji, A., Wichmann, M. L., Zaheer, Z., Schneider, L., Schlachzig, L., Richters, J., Heumann, S., & Mays, D. (2022). Experiences of discrimination and everyday racism among children and adolescents with an immigrant background Results of a systematic

- literature review on the impact of discrimination on the developmental outcomes of minors Worldwide. *Frontiers in psychology*, *13*, 805941. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.805941
- Miller, J. F., Andriacchi, K., & Nockerts, A. (Eds.). (2015). Assessing language production using SALT software: A clinician's guide to language sample analysis. Middleton, WI: SALT Software LLC.
- Miller, J., & Iglesias, A. (2016). Systematic analysis of language transcripts (SALT), Student Version 2016 [Computer software]. Middleton, WI: SALT Software, LLC.
- Mitchell, G., & Demir, I. (2021). Translating risk: how social workers' epistemological assumptions shape the way they share knowledge. Health, Risk & Society, 23(1/2), 17–33. https://doi.org/10.1080/13698575.2021.1888892
- Morgan, P. L., Woods, A. D., Wang, Y., & Gloski, C. A. (2023). Texas special education cap's associations with disability identification disparities of racial and language minority students. Exceptional Children, 89(2), 125–141.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/00144029221109849
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Nagy, W. E., & Townsend, D. (2012). Words as tools: Learning academic vocabulary as language acquisition. Reading Research Quarterly, 47(1), 91–108.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/RRQ.011
- National Advisory Commission on Civil Disorders. (1968). Report of the National Advisory

 Commission on Civil Disorders. Retrieved

 from https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/Digitization/8073NCJRS.pdf

- National Association of School Psychologists. (2010). Model for comprehensive and integrated school psychological services. Bethesda. MD: Author
- National Clearinghouse for Professions in Special Education (NCPSE). (2000, Spring).

 Educational diagnostician: Making a difference in the lives of students with special needs. Retrieved March 9, 2008, from

 http://www.cec.sped.org/AM/Template.cfm?Section=Job_Profiles&

 Template=/CM/ContentDisplay .cfm&ContentID=1667
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2016). Condition of education: Children and youth with disabilities. https://nces. ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator_cgg.asp
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2021). Condition of education: Children and youth with disabilities. https://nces. ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator_cgg.asp
- National Education Association. (2007). Truth in labeling: Disproportionality in special education. Washington, DC: Author
- Newkirk-Turner, B. L., & Green, L. (2021). Language use and development in third-person singular contexts: Assessment implications. Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 52(1), 16–30.
- Nieuwenhuis, J., 2007, 'Introducing qualitative research', in K. Maree (ed.), First steps in research, pp. 47–122, Van Schaik Publishers, Pretoria.
- Núñez, G., Buren, M., Diaz-Vazquez, L., & Bailey, T. (2021). Bilingual supports for clinicians: Where do we go from here? Language, speech, and hearing services in schools, 52(4), 993–1006.
- O'Bryon, E. C., & Rogers, M. R. (2010). Bilingual school psychologists' assessment practices with English language learners. Psychology in the Schools, 47(10), 1018–1034.

- O'Bryon, E. C., & Rogers, M. R. (2016). Using consultation to support English learners: The experiences of bilingual school psychologists. Psychology in the Schools, 53(3), 225–239. doi:10.1002/pits.21904
- Oetting, J. B., Berry, J. R., Gregory, K. D., Rivière, A. M., & McDonald, J. (2019). Specific language impairment in African American English and southern white English: Measures of tense and agreement with dialect-informed probes and strategic scoring. Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research, 62(9), 3443–3461.
- Ogle, D., Blachowicz, C., Fisher, P., & Lang, L. (2016). Academic vocabulary in middle and high school: Effective practices across the disciplines. Guilford.

 https://www.guilford.com/books/ Academic-Vocabulary-in-Middle-and-HighSchool/OgleBlachowicz-Fisher-Lang/9781462522583
- O'Hara, S., Bookmyer, J., Pritchard, R., & Martin, R. (2020). Mentoring secondary novice teachers to develop the academic language of English language learners. Journal of Educational Research & Practice, 10(1), 26–40.

 https://doi.org/10.5590/JERAP.2020.10.1.02
- Ong-Dean, C. (2009). Distinguishing disability: Parents, privilege, and special education.

 Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Orellana, C. I., Wada, R., & Gillam, R. B. (2019). The use of dynamic assessment for the diagnosis of language disorders in bilingual children: A meta-analysis. American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology, 28(3), 1298–1317. https://doi.org/10.1044/2019_AJSLP-18-0202

- Ortega, L. (2014). Ways forward for a bi/multilingual turn for SLA. In S. May (Ed.), The multilingual turn: Implications for SLA, TESOL, and bilingual education (pp. 32–52). Routledge
- Ortiz, A. A., Robertson, P. M., Wilkinson, C. Y., Liu, Y. J., McGhee, B. D., & Kushner, M. I. (2011). The role of bilingual education teachers in preventing inappropriate referrals of ELLs to special education: Implications for response to intervention. Bilingual Research Journal, 34, 316–333.
- Ortiz, A. A., Robertson, P. M., & Wilkinson, C. Y. (2018). Language and literacy assessment record for English learners in bilingual education: A framework for instructional planning and decision-making. Preventing School Failure, 62(4), 250–265.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988X.2018.1443423
- Ortiz, Samuel O. 2019. On the Measurement of Cognitive Abilities in English Learners.

 Contemporary School Psychology 23: 68–86.
- Othman, L. B. (2018). The problem of disproportional representation of students from minority races in special education. International Journal of Special Education, 33(1), 171–183.
- Overton, C., Baron, T., Pearson, B. Z., & Ratner, N. B. (2021). Using free computer-assisted language sample analysis to evaluate and set treatment goals for children who speak African American English. Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 52(1), 31–50.
- Overton, T., Fielding, C., & Simonsson, M. (2004). Decision making in determining eligibility of culturally and linguistically diverse learners: Reasons given by assessment personnel. Journal of Learning Disabilities, 37(4), 319–330.

- Padilla, A. (2007). Handbook of multicultural assessment: Clinical, psychological, and educational applications. Hoboken, NJ: Jossey-Bass.
- Palinkas, L., Horwitz, S., Green, C., Wisdom, J., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation Research. Administration & Policy in Mental Health & Mental Health Services

 Research, 42(5), 533–544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Panhwar, A. H., Ansari, S., & Ansari, K. (2016). Sociocultural theory and its role in the development of language pedagogy. Advances in Language and Literary Studies, 7(6), 183–188.
- Papworth, Mark A, Derek Milne, and George Boak. An exploratory content analysis of situational leadership. The journal of management development. 28.7 (2009): 593–606. Web.
- Park, S. (2020). Demystifying disproportionality: Exploring educator beliefs about special education referrals for English learners. Teachers College Record, 122(5).
- Park, J., Turnbull, A. P., & Park, H. S. (2001). Quality of partnerships in service provision for Korean America parents of children with disabilities: a qualitative inquiry. JASH, 26(3), 158-170.
- Parker, J. S., Castillo, J. M., Sabnis, S., Daye, J., & Hanson, P. (2020). Culturally responsive consultation among practicing school psychologists. Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation, 30(2), 119–155.
- Parveen, S., & Santhanam, S. Priya. (2021). Speech-language pathologists' perceived competence in working with culturally and linguistically diverse clients in the United

- States. Communication Disorders Quarterly, 42(3), 166–176. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525740120915205
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). Qualitative research and evaluation methods (4th ed.). Sage.
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). Qualitative research and evaluation methods (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Patton, M.Q. (1999). Enhancing the quality and credibility of qualitative analysis. Health Sciences Research, 34, 1189–1208.
- Pavelko, S. L., & Owens, R. E., Jr. (2017). Sampling utterances and grammatical analysis revised (SUGAR): New normative values for language sample analysis measures. Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 48(3), 197–215.
- Petersen, D. B., Tonn, P., Spencer, T. D., & Foster, M. E. (2020). The classification accuracy of a dynamic assessment of inferential word learning for bilingual English/Spanish-speaking school-age children. Language, Speech & Hearing Services in Schools, 51(1), 144–164. https://doi.org/10.1044/2019_LSHSS-18-0129
- Petersen, D. B., Chanthongthip, H., Ukrainetz, T. A., Spencer, T. D., & Steeve, R. W. (2017).

 Dynamic assessment of narratives: Efficient, accurate identification of language impairment in bilingual students. Journal of Speech, Language & Hearing

 Research, 60(4), 983–998. https://doi.org/10.1044/2016_JSLHR-L-15-0426
- Pieterse, H. J. C. (2020). The grounded theory methodology to conduct content analysis of sermons and interviews: Critique and response. HTS Theological Studies, 76(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.4102/hts.v76i1.5851

- Pezalla, A. E., Pettigrew, J., & Miller-Day, M. (2012). Researching the research-as-instrument:

 An exercise in interview self-reflexivity. *Qualitative Research*, *12*(2), 165-185.

 doi:10.1177/1487941111422107
- Phelps, J. L. (2021). The transformative paradigm: Equipping technical communication researchers for socially just work. Technical Communication Quarterly, 30(2), 204–215. https://doi.org/10.1080/10572252.2020.1803412
- Pichardo, B. (2014). Issues and concerns of assessment for English language learners with learning disabilities. Journal of the American Academy of Special Education Professionals, 128–131.
- Poehner, M. E., & Wang, Z. (2021). Dynamic assessment and second language development. Language Teaching, 54(4), 472–490.
- Polkinghorne, D. E. (2005). Language and meaning: Data collection in qualitative research. Journal of counseling psychology, 52(2), 137.
- Polit, D.F., & Beck, C.T. (2012). Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins
- Portes, P. R., González Canché, M., Boada, D., & Whatley, M. E. (2018). Early evaluation findings from the instructional conversation study: Culturally responsive teaching outcomes for diverse Learners in elementary school. American Educational Research Journal, 55(3), 488–531.
- Prezas, Raul F. PhD, CCC-SLP and Jo, Ahyea A. PhD (2017) "Differentiating language difference and language disorder: Information for teachers working with English language learners in the schools," Journal of Human Services: Training, Research, and Practice: Vol. 2: Iss. 1, Article 2. https://scholarworks.sfasu.edu/jhstrp/vol2/iss1/2

- Ramirez, S. Z., & Smith, K. A. (2007). Case vignettes of school psychologists' consultations involving Hispanic youth. Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation, 17(1), 79–93. doi:10.1080/10474410709336591Ramu, K. (2017). Maryland's role in bridging language disparities: Accommodating new waves of Ell students. University of Maryland Law Journal of Race, Religion, Gender & Class, 17(2), 394–413.
- Rhodes, R. L., Ochoa, S. H., & Ortiz, S. O. (2005). Assessing culturally and linguistically diverse students: A practical guide. New York: Guilford Press.
- Robinson, G. C., & Norton, P. C. (2019). A decade of disproportionality: A state-level analysis of African American students enrolled in the primary disability category of speech or language impairment. Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 50(2), 267–282. https://doi.org/10.1044/2018_LSHSS-17-0149
- Rodgers, B. L., & Cowles, K. V. (1993). The qualitative research audit trail: A complex collection of documentation. Research in nursing & health, 16(3), 219–226. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.4770160309
- Roseberry-McKibbin, C. (2001). Serving children from the culture of poverty: Practical strategies for speech-language pathologists. ASHA Leader, 6, 4–16.
- Roseberry-McKibbin, C. (2021). Utilizing comprehensive preassessment procedures for differentiating language difference from language impairment in English learners. Communication Disorders Quarterly, 42(2), 93–99. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525740119890314
- Rossetti, Z., Sauer, J. S., Bui, O., & Ou, S. (2017). Developing collaborative partnerships with culturally and linguistically diverse families during the IEP Process. TEACHING Exceptional Children, 49(5), 328–338.

- Rossetti, Z., Redash, A., Sauer, J. S., Bui, O., Wen, Y., & Regensburger, D. (2020). Access, accountability, and advocacy: Culturally and linguistically diverse families' participation in IEP meetings. Exceptionality, 28(4), 243–258.
- Rowe, L. W. (2022). Disrupting monolingual ideologies: Constructing biliterate composing practices in a second-grade classroom. Reading Research Quarterly, 57(4), 1149–1166.
- Russo-Campisi, J. (2017). Evidence-based practices in special education: Current assumptions and future considerations. Child & Youth Care Forum, 46(2), 193–205
- Sagoe, D. (2012). Precincts and prospects in the use of focus groups in social and behavioral science research. *Qualitative Report*, 17.
- Sandelowski, M. (1995). Sample size in qualitative research. Research in Nursing & Health, 18(1), 179–183. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.4770180211
- Santhanam, S. priya, Gilbert, C. L., & Parveen, S. (2019). Speech-language pathologists' use of language interpreters with linguistically diverse clients: A nationwide survey study. Communication Disorders Quarterly, 40(3), 131–141. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525740118779975
- Selin, C. M., Rice, M. L., Girolamo, T., & Wang, C. J. (2019). Speech-language pathologists' clinical decision making for children with specific language impairment. Language, Speech & Hearing Services in Schools, 50(2), 283–307.
 https://doi.org/10.1044/2018_LSHSS-18-0017
- Sepúlveda-Miranda, P. M., Otero, T., & Moreno-Torres, M. A. (2018). Moving toward social justice for Hispanic children using a neurocognitive method for the assessment of Sld. Puerto Rican Journal of Psychology / Revista Puertorriqueña de Psicología, 29(2), 270–286.

- Sharma, S. (2019). Using observation as method of data collection to enhance empathy and critical reflection amongst students of social work. Hong Kong Journal of Social Work, 53(1/2), 35–45. https://doi.org/10.1142/S0219246219000068
- Sharpe, M. N., & Minnesota State Dept. of Children, F. and L. S. P. O. of S. E.

 (1998). Disproportionate representation of minorities in special education: A focus group study of professional and parent perspectives. Final Report III: Asian American.
- Shifrer, D., Muller, C., & Callahan, R. (2011). Disproportionality and learning disabilities:

 Parsing apart race, socioeconomic status, and language. Journal of Learning

 Disabilities, 44(3), 246–257.
- Skiba, R. J., Michael, R. S., Nardo, A. C., & Peterson, R. L. (2002). The color of discipline: Sources of racial and gender disproportionality in school punishment. *Urban Review*, *34*(4), 317–342.
- Skiba, R., Simmons, A., Ritter, S., Kohler, K., Henderson, M., & Wu, T. (2006). The Context of Minority Disproportionality: Practitioner Perspectives on Special Education Referral. *Teachers College Record*, 108(7), 1424–1459. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9620.2006.00699.x
- Skiba, R. J., Horner, R. H., Chung, C., Rausch, M. K., May, S., & Tobin, T. (2011). Race is not neutral: A national investigation of African American and Latino disproportionality in school discipline. School Psychology Review, 40, 85–107.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/02796015.2011 .12087730
- Sinclair, J., Hansen, S. G., Machalicek, W., Knowles, C., Hirano, K. A., Dolata, J. K., Blakely, A. W., Seeley, J., & Murray, C. (2018). A 16-year review of participant diversity in

- intervention research across a selection of 12 special education journals. *Exceptional Children*, 84(3), 312–329.
- Sobel, D. M., Iceman-Sands, D., & Basile, C. (2007). Merging general and special education teacher preparation programs to create an inclusive program for diverse learners. New Educator, 3(3), 241–262. https://doi.org/10.1080/15476880701484113
- Song, L., Luo, R., & Zhan, Q. (2022). Toward the role of teacher caring and teacher-student rapport in predicting English as a foreign language learners' willingness to communicate in second language. Frontiers in Psychology, 13, 874522.

 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.874522
- Song Ju, Dalun Zhang, & Landmark, L. J. (2018). Culturally and linguistically diverse family involvement in transition planning: A research synthesis. Journal of Special Education Leadership, 31(1), 16–26.
- Spann, S. J., Kohler, F. W., & Soenksen, D. (2003). Examining parents' involvement in and perceptions of special education services: an interview with families in a parent support group. Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities, 18(4), 228-232.
- Spinelli, C. G. (2008). Addressing the issue of cultural and linguistic diversity and assessment: Informal evaluation measures for English language learners. Reading & Writing Quarterly, 24(1), 101–118.
- Steele, S. C., & Watkins, R. V. (2010). Learning word meanings during reading by children with language learning disability and typically developing peers. Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics, 24(7), 520–539. https://doi.org/10.3109/02699200903532474
- Stutzman, B., & Lowenhaupt, R. (2022). At the intersection: Examining teacher and administrator perceptions of ELs and special education. International Journal of

- Disability, Development & Education, 69(3), 1047–1064. https://doi.org/10.1080/1034912X.2020.1749240
- Subedi, Khim. (2021). Determining the sample in qualitative research. Scholars' Journal. 1-13. 10.3126/scholars.v4i1.42457.
- Subero, D., Llopart, M., Siqués, C., & Esteban-Guitart, M. (2018). The mediation of teaching and learning processes through identity artefacts. A Vygotskian perspective. Oxford Review of Education, 44(2), 156-170
- Sukying, A. (2021). Choices of language learning strategies and English proficiency of EFL university learners. LEARN Journal: Language Education and Acquisition Research Network, 14(2), 59–87.
- Sullivan, A. L., Sadeh, S., & Houri, A. K. (2019). Are school psychologists' special education eligibility decisions reliable and unbiased?: A multi-study experimental investigation. Journal of School Psychology, 77, 90–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2019.10.006
- Summers, C., Bohman, T. M., Gillam, R. B., Peña, E., & Bedore, L. M. (2010). Bilingual performance on nonword repetition in Spanish and English. International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders, 45(4), 480–493. doi:10.3109/
- Swain, K. D., Nordness, P. D., & Leader-Janssen, E. M. (2012). Changes in preservice teacher attitudes toward inclusion. Preventing School Failure, 56(2), 75–81.
- Terry, J. M., Jackson, S. C., Evangelou, E., & Smith, R. L. (2010). Expressive and receptive language effects of African American English on a sentence imitation task. Topics in Language Disorders, 30, 119–134

- Thomas, G. (2016). After the gold rush: Questioning the "gold standard" and reappraising the status of experiment and randomized controlled trials in education. Harvard Educational Review, 86, 390–410.
- Tomlinson, C. A., C. Brighton, H. Hertberg, C. M. Callahan, T. M. Moon, K. Brimijoin, L. A. Conover, et al. 2002. Differentiating instruction in response to student readiness, interest and learning profile in academically diverse classrooms: A Review of Literature. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted* 27: 119–145.
- Toribio, A. J. (2000). Language variation and the linguistic enactment of identity among Dominicans. Linguistics, 38(5), 1133–1159
- Townsend, D., Filippini, A., Collins, P., & Biancarosa, G. (2012). Evidence for the importance of academic word knowledge for the academic achievement of diverse middle school students. The Elementary School Journal, 112(3), 497–518. https://doi.org/10.1086/663301
- Tufford & Newman (2010). Bracketing in Qualitative Research. Qualitative Social Work. 11. 80-96. 10.1177/1473325010368316.
- Umansky, I. M., Thompson, K. D., & Díaz, G. (2017). Using an ever-English learner framework to examine disproportionality in special education. Exceptional Children, 84(1), 76–96.
- Unal, Z., & Unal, A. (2009). Comparing beginning and experienced teachers' perceptions of classroom management beliefs and practices in elementary schools in Turkey. Educational Forum, 73(3), 256–270.
- US Census Bureau (2011). United States Census 2011. Table language spoken at home:

 American community survey 2011.

- http://factfinder2.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=ACS_ 11_1YR_S1601&prodType=table
- U.S. Department of Education. (2016). Racial and ethnic disparities in special education: A multi-year disproportionality analysis by state, analysis category, and race/ethnicity.Washington, DC: Author.
- U.S. Department of Education, Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services, Office of Special Education Programs. 2020. "41st annual report to congress on the implementation of the individuals with disabilities education act, 2019." https://www2.ed.gov/about/reports/annual/osep/2019/parts-b-c/41st-arc-for-idea.pdf.
- Urtubey, L. J. (2020). Supporting Latinx families in special education decisions. Educational Leadership, 77(4), 40–45.
- van Manen, M., & van Manen, M. (2021). Doing phenomenological research and writing. *Qualitative Health Research*, *31*(6), 1069–1082. https://doi.org/10.1177/10497323211003058
- Van Manen, M. (1990). Researching lived experience: Human science for an action sensitive pedagogy. State University of New York Press.
- Vollmer, L. E., Gettinger, M., & Begeny, J. C. (2019). Training preservice general education teachers in response to intervention: A survey of teacher educators throughout the United States. Journal of Applied School Psychology, 35(2), 122–145.
- Voulgarides, C. K., & Barrio, B. L. (2021). The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) and the equity imperative: Examining early childhood transitions to special

- education. Multiple Voices: Disability, Race, and Language Intersections in Special Education, 21(1), 40–54.
- Walker, A., Shafer, J., & Liams, M. (2004). Not in my classroom: Teacher attitudes towards English Language Learners in the mainstream classroom. Journal of Research and Practice, 2, 130-160
- Walker, G. (2008). Overrepresented minorities in special education in the United States and Romania: Comparison between African-American and Roma populations in disability studies. Research in Comparative and International Education, 3(4), 394–403.
- Watkins, E., & Liu, K. L. (2013). Who are English language learners with disabilities? Impact: Feature Issue on Educating K-12 English Language Learners with Disabilities, 26(1), 2.
- Webb, G., & Williams, C. (2019). Interactions between children and their early childhood educators: The effect of cultural match on communication. Australasian Journal of Early Childhood, 44(1), 48–62.
- White, C. D., & Jin, L. (2011). Evaluation of speech and language assessment approaches with bilingual children. International Journal of Communication Disorders, 46(6), 613–627.
- Wilkinson, C. Y., Ortiz, A. A., Robertson, P. M., & Kushner, M. I. (2006). English language learners with reading-related LD: Linking data from multiple sources to make eligibility determinations. Journal of Learning Disabilities, 39(2), 129–141
- Williams, C. J., & McLeod, S. (2012). Speech-language pathologists' assessment and intervention practices with multilingual children. International Journal of Speech-Language Pathology, 14(3), 292–305. https://doi.org/10.3109/17549507.2011. 636071

- Williams, H. (2021). The meaning of "Phenomenology": Qualitative and philosophical phenomenological research. Qualitative Report, 26(2), 366–385. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2021.4587
- Williams-Duncan, O. M. (2020). Cross-cultural community building: Strategies for improving interactions in diverse educational settings. Multicultural Education, 27(2), 18–23.
- Wissink, B., & Starks, S. (2019). Elementary teachers' perceptions of preparedness to teach English language learners. Educational Research and Reviews, 14(10), 349–357.
- Wolfe, K., & Durán, L. K. (2013). Culturally and linguistically diverse parents' perceptions of the IEP process. Multiple Voices for Ethnically Diverse Exceptional Learners, 13(2), 4–18.
- Wood, C., Wofford, M. C., & Hassinger, A. (2018). Acknowledging Challenges and Embracing Innovative Instructional Practices in Response to Cultural and Linguistic Diversity. SAGE Open, 8(2).
- Wood, C. L., Schatschneider, C., & VelDink, A. (2021). The Relation between academic word use and reading comprehension for students from diverse backgrounds. Language,

 Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 52(1), 273–287.
- Woodson, L., & Harris, S. M. (2018). Teacher and student demographic variables which predict teacher referrals of males for special education evaluation. Journal of At-Risk Issues, 21(1), 32–43.
- Yamasaki, B. L., & Luk, G. (2018). Eligibility for special education in elementary school: The role of diverse language experiences. Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 49(4), 889–901.

- Yammine, J. K., & Lowenhaupt, R. (2021). Educators' perceptions of immigration policy implications on their schools: A mixed-methods exploration. Teachers College Record, 123(12), 97–124. https://doi.org/10.1177/01614681211070872
- Ysseldyke, J. E., Algozzine, R., & Thurlow, M. L. (2000). Critical issues in special education. Houghton Mifflin College Div.
- Zakszeski, B., Rutherford, L., Heidelburg, K., & Thomas, L. (2021). In pursuit of equity:

 Discipline disproportionality and SWPBIS implementation in urban schools. School

 Psychology, 36(2), 122–130.
- Zane Robinson Wolf. (2003). Exploring the audit trail for qualitative investigations. Nurse Educator, 28(4), 175–178. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006223-200307000-00008
- Zeitlin, V. M., & Curcic, S. (2014). Parental voices on individualized education programs: 'Oh, IEP meeting tomorrow? Rum tonight!'. Disability & Society, 29, 373–387
- Zhang, Y. (2023). Promoting young EFL learners' listening potential: A model of mediation in the framework of dynamic assessment. Modern Language Journal, 107, 113–136.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/modl.12824
- Zionts, T., Zionts, P., Harrison, K., & Bellinger, A. (2003). African American perceptions of special Education services. Focus on Autism and other Developmental Disabilities, 18(2) 1, 10-36

Appendices

Appendix A: IRB Application

IRB #: IRB-FY23-24-29

Title: A Transcendental Phenomenological Study of the Lived Experiences of Educators and Service Providers in the Identification Process of Minority Students for Special Education in East

Tennessee Elementary Schools Creation Date: 7-8-2023

End Date:

Status: Approved

Principal Investigator: Paula Jones Review Board: Research Ethics Office

Sponsor:

Study History Submission Type Initial

Key Study Contacts

Review Type

Limited

Decision

Contact Contact

Exempt - Limited IRB

Member:

Member:

Role Co-Principal Investigator

Role Principal Investigator

Role Primary Contact

Appendix B: Permission Request Letter

May 21, 2023

Dear School Superintendent,

As a graduate student in the School of Education at Liberty University, I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a doctoral degree. The title of my research project is "A Phenomenological Study of the Lived Experiences of Educators in the Identification Process of Minority Students for Special Education in East Tennessee Elementary Schools", and the purpose of my research is to describe the experiences of educators in the referral and assessment processes of minority students to special education in Tennessee elementary schools.

I am writing to request your permission to conduct my research in elementary schools within the school district.

Participants will be asked to contact me to schedule an individual, in-person interview, focus group interview, and letter writing. The data will be used to synthesize for the purpose of exploring the lived experiences of educators working with minority students. Participants will be presented with informed consent information prior to participating. Taking part in this study is completely voluntary, and participants are welcome to discontinue participation at any time.

Thank you for considering my request. If you choose to grant permission, please provide a signed statement on official letterhead indicating your approval. A permission letter document is attached for your convenience.

Sincerely,

Paula Jones Doctoral Candidate

Appendix C: Response Template

Date
Paula Jones
Dear Paula Jones,
After a careful review of your research proposal entitled, "A Phenomenological Study of the Lived Experiences of Educators in the Identification Process of Minority Students for Special Education in East Tennessee Elementary Schools", I have decided to grant you permission to contact our faculty and invite them to participate in your study and to conduct your study in elementary schools within the school district.
Check the following boxes, as applicable:
I grant permission for Paula Jones to contact County educators to invite them to participate in her research study.
☐ I will not provide potential participant information to Paula Jones, but I agree to provide her study information to educators on her behalf.
☐ I am requesting a copy of the results upon study completion and/or completion.
Sincerely,
School superintendent

Appendix D: Recruitment Letter

Sept 25, 2023

Dear Educators:

As a graduate student in the School of Education, at Liberty University, I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a doctoral degree. The purpose of my research is to describe the experiences of educators (general education teachers, school psychologists, speech-language pathologists, and ELL teachers) in the referral and assessment process of minority students referred to special education in grades k-5 in East Tennessee Elementary Schools, and I am writing to invite eligible participants to join my study.

Participants must be full-time employees within the school district in one of the following positions: K-5 general education teacher, School Psychologist, Speech-Language Pathologist, or ELL teacher. Additionally, you must have at least one student in your classroom or whom you are assessing that is considered a minority student. Participants, if willing, will be asked to participate in an in-person, one-on-one interview with the researcher which will take approximately 30 minutes to complete. Next, you will be asked to participate in an in-person, focus group interview. Participants will be broken into three groups consisting of general education teachers, ELL teachers, and school psychologists/SLPs who have completed an individual interview. Each group interview will consist of 5 total questions and will be conducted in a small group discussion format. Focus group interviews will take approximately 30-45 minutes to complete and will be audio recorded. Finally, you will be asked to participate in letter writing where you will write a letter addressed to your younger self using the writing prompt provided by the researcher. Names and other identifying information will be requested as part of this study, but the information will remain confidential.

To participate, please contact me at _____ for more information.

A consent document is attached to this email. The consent document contains additional information about my research. If you choose to participate, you will need to sign the consent document and return it to me at the time of the interview.

Sincerely,

Paula Jones Doctoral Candidate

Appendix E

Information Sheet

Title of the Project: A Phenomenological Study of the Lived Experiences of Educators in the Identification Process of Minority Students for Special Education in East Tennessee Elementary Schools"

Principal Investigator: Paula Lovegrove-Jones, Doctoral Candidate, School of Education, Liberty University.

Invitation to be Part of a Research Study

You are invited to participate in a research study. To participate, you must be a full-time employee in one of the following positions: K-5 general education teacher, School Psychologist, Speech-Language Pathologist, or ELL teacher. Additionally, you must have at least one student in your classroom or whom you are assessing that is considered a minority student. Taking part in this research project is voluntary.

Please take time to read this entire form and ask questions before deciding whether to take part in this research.

What is the study about and why is it being done?

The purpose of the study is to describe the personal experiences of educators and the roles they play in the special education referral and assessment process, particularly pertaining to minority students.

What will happen if you take part in this study?

If you agree to be in this study, I will ask you to do the following:

- 1. Participate in an in-person, one-on-one interview with the researcher. A list of 17 questions will be asked and will take approximately 30 minutes to complete. The interview will be audio recorded. Interviews will be held at an agreed-upon time and location that is convenient for the participant.
- 2. Participate in an in-person, focus group interview. The focus group interviews will consist of 3 groups of educators divided by general education teachers, ELL teachers, and school psychologists/SLPs who have completed an individual interview. The group interview will consist of 5 total questions and will be conducted in a small group discussion format. Focus group interviews will take approximately 30 minutes to complete and will be audio recorded. Focus group interviews will be held at an agreed-upon time and location that is convenient for participants.
- 3. Participate in letter writing where you will write a letter addressed to your younger self using the writing prompt provided by the researcher.
- 4. Finally, once all individual interviews, focus group interviews, and self-addressed letters have been completed, you will contribute to the study's credibility through member-checking. Member checking is a method used to ensure the data collected accurately represents the participant's perspective by sharing conclusions with participants and

allowing them to confirm or deny the accuracy of data interpretation. Conclusions will be shared with participants via email.

How could you or others benefit from this study?

Participants should not expect to receive a direct benefit from taking part in this study.

Benefits to society include identifying potential factors leading to the disproportionality of minority students receiving special education services and potentially decreasing the overrepresentation of these groups in special education.

What risks might you experience from being in this study?

The expected risks from participating in this study are minimal, which means they are equal to the risks you would encounter in everyday life.

I am a mandatory reporter. During this study, if I receive information about child abuse, child neglect, elder abuse, or intent to harm self or others, I will be required to report it to the appropriate authorities.

How will personal information be protected?

The records of this study will be kept private. Published reports will not include any information that will make it possible to identify a subject. Research records will be stored securely, and only the researcher will have access to the records.

- Participant responses will be kept confidential by replacing names with pseudonyms.
- Interviews will be conducted in a location where others will not easily overhear the conversation.
- Confidentiality cannot be guaranteed in focus group settings. While discouraged, other
 members of the focus group may share what was discussed with persons outside of the
 group.
- Data will be stored on a password-locked computer. After three years, all electronic records will be deleted.
- Recordings will be stored on a password-locked computer for three years and then
 deleted. The researcher and members of her doctoral committee will have access to these
 recordings.

How will you be compensated for being part of the study?

Participants will not be compensated for participating in this study.

Is study participation voluntary?

Participation in this study is voluntary. Your decision on whether to participate will not affect your current or future relations with Liberty University or participate, you are free to not answer any question or withdraw at any time

What should you do if you decide to withdraw from the study?

If you choose to withdraw from the study, please contact the researcher at the email address/phone number included in the next paragraph. Should you choose to withdraw, data collected from you, apart from focus group data, will be destroyed immediately and will not be included in this study. Focus group data will not be destroyed, but your contributions to the focus group will not be included in the study if you choose to withdraw.

Whom do you contact if you have questions or concerns about the study?
The researcher conducting this study is Paula Jones. You may ask any questions you have now.
If you have questions later, you are encouraged to contact her at
You may also contact the researcher's faculty sponsor, Dr. Vonda
Beavers, at
,
Whom do you contact if you have questions about your rights as a research participant?
If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study and would like to talk to someone
other than the researcher, you are encouraged to contact the IRB. Our physical address is
Institutional Review Board, 1971 University Blvd., Green Hall Ste. 2845, Lynchburg, VA,
24515; our phone number is 434-592-5530, and our email address is irb@liberty.edu.
Disclaimer: The Institutional Review Board (IRB) is tasked with ensuring that human subjects
research will be conducted in an ethical manner as defined and required by federal regulations.
The topics covered and viewpoints expressed or alluded to by student and faculty researchers
are those of the researchers and do not necessarily reflect the official policies or positions of
Liberty University.
Your Consent
By signing this document, you are agreeing to be in this study. Make sure you understand what the study is about before you sign. You will be given a copy of this document for your records. The researcher will keep a copy with the study records. If you have any questions about the study after you sign this document, you can contact the study team using the information provided above.
I have read and understood the above information. I have asked questions and have received answers. I consent to participate in the study.
☐ The researcher has my permission to audio-record me as part of my participation in this study.
Printed Subject Name
Signature & Date

Printed Subject Name		

Appendix F: Individual Interview Questions

- 1. How did you become interested in working in the educational field? CRQ
- 2. What is your educational background? CRQ
- 3. What is your current position, including your title and your responsibilities? CRQ
- 4. What are your experiences in the referral/assessment/identification process of EL students considered for special education in grades k-5 in East Tennessee Elementary Schools? SQ1
- 5. What is your experience in the referral/assessment/identification process working with racial minorities considered for special education in grades k-5 in East Tennessee Elementary Schools? SQ1
- 6. What is your role in assessing students for special education (SPED) services? SQ2
- 7. How would you describe your comfort level with referring/assessing minority students for special education services? SQ1
- 8. How do language differences affect your special education referral/assessment/identification process? SQ3
- How do racial differences affect your special education referral/assessment/identification process? SQ3
- 10. How do cultural differences affect your special education referral/assessment/identification process? SQ3
- 11. What experiences have you had with providing learning opportunities in students' native language? SQ2
- 12. How do you describe your understanding of developmental differences among various cultures? SQ3

- 13. What experiences have you had working with students in grades K-12 from diverse cultural backgrounds? SQ2
- 14. What experiences have you had with accommodating students from diverse cultures in grades K-12? SQ2
- 15. What professional development experiences have you had related to accommodating minority students in grades K-12? SQ2
- 16. What experiences have you had distinguishing between academic underachievement and cultural/linguistic differences in K-12 students? SQ3
- 17. What professional development would you benefit most regarding distinguishing between academic underachievement and cultural/linguistic differences in K-12 students? SQ1
- 18. What professional development would you benefit most regarding referring and assessing minority students in grades K-12 for special education? SQ1

Appendix G: Focus Group Questions

- In what ways have you ever disagreed with minority students being referred for a special education assessment? SQ1
- How do you feel about the appropriateness of the special education referral process for minority students? SQ1
- 3. How do you feel about the appropriateness of the special education assessment process for minority students? SQ1
- 4. How would you describe your communication between other educators during the referral and assessment process for minority students? SQ1
- 5. How do you feel about minority students who have a referral to special education being equal to non-minority students with referrals for special education? SQ2
- 6. How have you modified classroom instruction or assessment practices for students from diverse backgrounds? SQ3

Appendix H: Letter Writing Prompt

Formulate a letter addressed to your younger self using the following prompt:

As an elementary educator, what would you tell your younger self to be better prepared for referring and assessing minority students from different cultural backgrounds to special education?"

Appendix I: Audit Trail Form

Textural Material (Raw Data)

Thematic Analysis

<u>Codes & Selections from Raw Data</u> <u>Thematic Structure</u>

Phenomenological Description Textural Material **Other**